
 

 

 

 

 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL 

CHILDREN'S PARTNERSHIP BOARD 
 
Date: Wednesday, 10 December 2014 
 
Time:  4.00 pm 
 
Place: Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, 

NG2 3NG 
 
Councillors and Board Members are requested to attend the above meeting to 
transact the following business 
 

 
 
Acting Corporate Director for Resources 
 
Constitutional Services Officer: Catherine Ziane-Pryor   Direct Dial: 0115 8764298 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

 Pages 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 

3  MINUTES  
Of meeting held on 15 September 2014 (for confirmation). 
 

3 - 10 

4  PERFORMANCE REVIEW - QUARTER 2 2014/15  
Report of Director of Commissioning, Policy and Insight 
 

11 - 20 

5  REDUCING SUBSTANCE MISUSE  
Report of Strategy and Commissioning Manager, Crime and Drugs 
Partnership 
 

21 - 26 

6  CHILDREN'S PARTNERSHIP BOARD UPDATE  
Interactive activity hosted by Early Intervention Partnerships Programme 
Manager 
 

 

7  PARTNER'S UPDATE: SECONDARY EDUCATION  
Barriers Faced by Secondary Schools (Top Valley Academy 
Perspective) S. Kelly - Principal of Top Valley Academy 

27 - 60 

Public Document Pack



 
 

8  SAFEGUARDING UPDATE  
Report of the Independent Chair of the Nottingham City Safeguarding 
Children Board (NCSCB) 
 

61 - 210 

9  KEY MESSAGES AND ITEMS FOR INFORMATION  
 

 

10  FORWARD PLAN  
Any requests for the Board to consider further topics, should be 
forwarded to Dot Veitch, Partnership Support Officer at 
dot.veitch@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  
 

211 - 212 

IF YOU NEED ANY ADVICE ON DECLARING AN INTEREST IN ANY ITEM ON THE 
AGENDA, PLEASE CONTACT THE CONSTITUTIONAL SERVICES OFFICER SHOWN 
ABOVE, IF POSSIBLE BEFORE THE DAY OF THE MEETING  
 

CITIZENS ATTENDING MEETINGS ARE ASKED TO ARRIVE AT LEAST 15 MINUTES 
BEFORE THE START OF THE MEETING TO BE ISSUED WITH VISITOR BADGES 
 

CITIZENS ARE ADVISED THAT THIS MEETING MAY BE RECORDED BY MEMBERS 
OF THE PUBLIC.  ANY RECORDING OR REPORTING ON THIS MEETING SHOULD 
TAKE PLACE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COUNCIL’S POLICY ON RECORDING AND 
REPORTING ON PUBLIC MEETINGS, WHICH IS AVAILABLE AT 
WWW.NOTTINGHAMCITY.GOV.UK.  INDIVIDUALS INTENDING TO RECORD THE 
MEETING ARE ASKED TO NOTIFY THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE IN 
ADVANCE. 

mailto:dot.veitch@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/


 

 

 

 
NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL  
CHILDREN'S PARTNERSHIP BOARD 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at LB41 - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, NG2 
3NG on 15 October 2014 from 4.34pm – 6.24pm 
 

 Councillor David Mellen - 
Chair of the Board and Portfolio Holder 
for Children’s Services 

) 
) 

Nottingham City Council 

 Chris Wallbanks - 
Programme Manager Early Intervention 
and Partnerships 

)
) 

 Councillor Sam Webster  Executive Assistant for Schools ) 

 Jon Rea - 
Engagement and Participation Lead 
Officer 

) 
) 

 Alison Michalska - 
Corporate Director  Children and 
Families 

)
) 

 
 

Sally Seeley - 
Director of Quality and Delivery, NHS 
Nottingham City Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

- 
NHS Nottingham City 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

 Angela Horsley - Clinical Lead - 
Nottingham Children’s 
Hospital 

 Phyllis Brackenbury - 
Children, Young People, Families and 
Health Improvement 

- 
Nottingham CityCare 
Partnership 

 
Andrew Goodall 
(substitute for Paul 
Burrows) 

- Inspector - Nottinghamshire Police  

 
Clare Fox (substitute 
for Christine Oliver)  

- Strategy and Commissioning Manager - 
Crime and Drugs 
Partnership 

 James Strawbridge - 
CONGA (City of Nottingham Governors’ 
Association) Representative 

) 
) 
) 

Nottingham Schools 

 Andy Sloan - 
Head Teacher, Rosehill School (Special 
School representation) 

)
) 

 Jill Robey - 
Head Teacher, Nottingham Nursery 
School and Training Centre 

)
) 

 Karen Slack - 
Head Teacher, Rise Park Primary 
School 

)
) 

 Sean Kelly  - 
Principal Valley Academy  (Secondary 
School) 

) 
) 

 Paul Burnett - Independent Chair  - 
Local Safeguarding 
Children Board 

 Jean Sharpe - Senior Customer Services Manager - JobCentre Plus 

 Stephen McLaren - Literacy Volunteers - 
Community and Voluntary 
Sector 

 Malcolm Cowgill - Principal, Central  Nottingham College - Further Education 

 John Yarham - Chief Executive - 
Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire Futures 

 Sue Smith -  - 
Nottinghamshire 
Probation Trust 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Children's Partnership Board - 15.10.14 

 

 Charlotte Croft  - Youth Cabinet Member ) Youth Council  

 
 Indicates present at meeting 
 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
 
Michelle Wright   Futures Advice Skills and Employment  
Lynne McNiven Consultant in Public Health 
Marie Cann-Livingstone Teenage Pregnancy and Early Intervention Specialist 
Sean Kelly Top Valley Academy 
Debbie Barton-Moran Nott’s Police 
Viv McCrossen Head of Family Community Teams Central 
Sara Jane Brighouse Project Manager Family Community Teams 
Dot Veitch Partnership Support Officer 
Cath Ziane-Pryor Governance Officer 
 
 

13  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Karen Slack 
Alison Michalska 
Dawn Smith 
Stephen McLaren 

Clare Fox 
Robert Ghahremani 
Uzair Hashimi 
Malcolm Cowgill 

 
14  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
Councillor Sam Webster informed the committee that he is employed by Futures but as the 
item to be presented is for information, he would not speak and did not intend to leave the 
room. 
 
15  MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 2 July 2014 were confirmed and signed by the Chair. 
 
16  PARTNER UPDATE: FUTURES 

 
To accompany the report, John Yarham and Michelle Wright of ‘Futures Advice Skills and 
Employment’, delivered a presentation which was included on the online agenda following the 
meeting. 
 
The following points were highlighted: 
 
(a) Futures is an independent and ‘not for profit’ organisation providing services to the City 

and County Councils; 
(b) the primary purpose is to prepare and support young people for employment and 

through all major transitions; 
(c) Futures aims to ensure that the levels of young people ‘not in education, employment or 

training’ (NEET) or ‘not known’ remains as low as possible; 
(d) highly qualified advisors work with young people from aged 14/15 to help them decide 

their long term aspirations and provide advice and support; 

Page 4



Children's Partnership Board - 15.10.14 

 

(e) a data base of all young people in the City aged 13 to 19 years of age is maintained but 
only those most in need of support, meeting specific criteria, are prioritised to receive 
that support; 

(f) dedicated support is provided to the Youth Outreach Team and Leaving Care Teams to 
ensure support is available for those young people in most need; 

(g) every child in the City reaching the age of 16 is accounted for and their designation, ie 
training, is recorded; 

(h) Futures fulfils the City Council’s responsibilities for the ‘September Guarantee’ of every 
young person being offered a place in learning as well as ‘raising of the participation 
age’; 

(i) to counter the funding cuts which are experienced nationally, Futures has diversified by 
offering a careers service, providing an apprenticeship agency and selling services to 
schools and colleges, and winning work through the European Social Fund. 

 
Questions from the Board were responded to as follows: 
 
(j) a transitions team has been established to engage with emerging communities. In 

addition the Arts Award project has brought people and communities together whose 
first language is not English; 

(k) it is a concern that Ofsted do not recognise the activity of schools preparing their pupils 
for education and employment or training. However the new Secretary of State has 
explicitly referred to this area of work and some schools have seen recent Ofsted 
inspections scrutinise careers activity were it has been inadequate. 

 
Sean Kelly, Principal of Top Valley Academy, informed the Board that the National Enterprise 
Programme was provided to year 8 pupils and has proved highly productive. Year 10 pupils do 
an ‘employability and entrepreneur programme’ for the last 2 weeks of the summer term. With 
an initial ‘start up grant’ of £250, pupils can be very creative and successful in developing 
business models. This leads to a ‘European Driving Licence’ qualification, contributes to 
GCSEs and has resulted in pupils leaving school with high esteem and improved confidence.  
The Academy now plans to arrange work experience during the first 2 weeks of the summer for 
pupils who complete the programme to take advantage of the high personal esteem which 
many pupils benefit from as a result of taking part in the programme. 
 
The Chair informed the Board that in regard to NEET and ‘not known’, Nottingham City 
achieves the best results among all of the Core Cities.   
 
A short film on how ‘Futures’ has impacted on young people’s lives can be viewed at: 
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VWsAwLopTNo&feature=youtu.be 
 
RESOLVED to note the presentation and the achievements of Futures in supporting the 
City’s young people. 
 
17  TEENAGE PREGNANCY IN NOTTINGHAM 

 
Lynne McNiven, Consultant in Public Health, and Marie Cann-Livingstone, Teenage Pregnancy 
and Early Intervention Specialist, presented the report and highlighted the following points: 
 
(a) Teenage pregnancy is a complex issue and remains a key driver for poor health and 

social outcomes for both mother and child, including: 
 

(i) 15% of NEETs are teenage parents; 

Page 5

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VWsAwLopTNo&feature=youtu.be


Children's Partnership Board - 15.10.14 

 

(ii) teenage parents are 20% more likely to not to have qualifications by the time they 
are 30 years old; 

(iii) teenage mothers are 22% more likely to be living in poverty by the age of 30 and 
much less likely to be employed or living with a partner; 

(iv) children of teenage mothers have a 63% increased risk of being born into poverty 
and are more likely to have accidents and behavioural problems; 

(v) teenage mothers have 3 times the rate of postnatal depression and a higher risk 
of poor mental health up to 3 years after the birth; 

(vi) the infant mortality rate of babies born to teenagers is 60% higher than those born 
to older parents; 

(vii) teenage mothers are 3 times more likely to smoke through their pregnancy and 
50% less likely to breastfeed, both of which have negative health consequences; 

 
(b) in 1998 there were 74.7 pregnancies per 1,000, by 2012, the figure had dropped to 37.6 

per thousand; 
(c) the Teenage Pregnancy Plan has 8 key work streams: 
 

(i) improve health outcomes; 
(ii) improve teenage pregnancy prevention and support services; 
(iii) improve communication, marketing and social networking; 
(iv) improve contraception services and sexual health advance; 
(v) improve contraceptive and sex and relationships education services in schools, 

colleges and learning centres; 
(vi) increase the percentage of pregnant teenagers and teenage parents in education, 

employment or training; 
(vii) improve the evidence base through data collection and intelligence; 
(viii) improve the confidence and skills of the teenage pregnancy workforce to support 

young people with making decisions; 
 

(d) all agencies and partners need to work together and to ensure that the subject remains 
high on the agenda. 

(e) Comments from the Board included: 
 

(i)  it was pointed out that the teenage pregnancy rates from 1998 remained high  until 
2008, since then there has been rapid reduction of teenage pregnancy in the City; 

(ii)  one single pregnancy can impact on the figures so vigilance must be maintained; 
(iii)  sex and relationship education in schools, including involving school nurses, is 

vital; 
(iv)  in response to a question, Andy Sloan, Headteacher of Rose Hill School, 

responded that for young people with learning disabilities such as pupils attending 
Rose Hill School, a specific and detailed Sexual and Relationship Education Policy 
has been developed. Most young people are rarely on their own and are always 
supported. The Sexual and Relationship Education programme also tackles 
inappropriate behaviour. Teenage pregnancy is not a major issue within this 
vulnerable group of young people; 

 
(f) young people who are in work are less likely to become pregnant; 
(g) the long-term outcomes of the teenage pregnancy plan may not be apparent until 10 or 

20 years’ time. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

Page 6



Children's Partnership Board - 15.10.14 

 

(1) to note that teenage pregnancy annual update; 
 
(2) to agree the contents of the Teenage Pregnancy Plan Executive Summary 2014-

15. 
 
18  CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S PLAN PRIORITY HEALTHY LIVING: 

SCHOOL NURSING 
 

Lynne McNiven, Consultant in Public Health, presented the report updating the Board on the 
current position of School Nursing following a recent review and restructure when the service 
became the responsibility of Public Health. 
 
The following points were highlighted: 
 
(a) there are 57,000 young people aged 5-19 years old in the City; 
(b) universal services are available to children from the time they enter Reception Year at 

school and can include support for complex conditions, mental and emotional health, 
and sexual health; 

(c) Public Health are working with CityCare to develop a demand led model, having 
considered the differing needs in each area of the City; 

(d) across the City, 16 school groupings have been identified through health and social care 
profiles. These groupings are not in line school organisations; 

(e) the review found that some school nurses were well valued by schools but they needed 
to be more approachable and clearly accessible to pupils and parents; 

(f) it was clear that some schools and pupils were not accessing full range of support 
available; 

(g) CityCare divided the School Nurses into teams to target school areas, with senior nurses 
as team leaders for each area. This ensures that there is a continuity of care for children 
starting school in Reception Year, until they leave secondary school; 

(h) leaflets were distributed to pupils and parents to ensure it is understood what School 
Nurses can do and offer; 

(i) the 3 areas on which nurses will focus on are healthy weight, sexual and relationship 
education and support, and emotional health and well-being. However, school nurses 
will also offer support with highly complex issues and circumstances, liaising with the 
Domestic Abuse Referral Team (DART), Child and Adult Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS) and contributing to, Common Assessment Frameworks (CAFS); 

(j) the new model was launched in September 2014 and to date it appears to be working 
well; 

(k) some schools feel they have lost their school nurse as they are not necessarily based at 
a specific school but it is not possible to provide a nurse for each school. Instead there 
are between 30 and 33 whole-time school nurses, within band 6, working across the City 
to provide equitable services for each school. There has also been an issue of staff 
retention due to other areas of nursing undertaking large scale recruitment; 

(l) it is predicted that there will be a period of transition for pupils, parents and school staff 
to adjust to the new model. However once the Lead Nurse of each team becomes 
known, relationships will improve. 

 
Sean Kelly, Principal of Top Valley Academy, informed the Board that school nurses are highly 
valued and that parents and young people did not like the referral based service that is now in 
place, added to which, this current model complicates the role of the Child Protection Officers 
in schools. Previously school nurses were part of the school team and were able to establish 

Page 7



Children's Partnership Board - 15.10.14 

 

relationships with pupils which then made them more approachable when pupils had issues or 
concerns.  
 
Academy staff are concerned that although Headteacher groups may have been involved 
during the development of the new model, Academy staff were not consulted and had not been 
informed of the new structure prior to its implementation. Now that the structure has been 
explained, and with the Academy’s emphasis on ‘improving health to improve education 
attainment’   the opportunity to consider a co-funded school nurse position would have been 
preferable to meet the needs of the pupils on roll at the Academy. 
 
The questions and comments of the Board were responded to as follows: 
 
(m) it is proposed to consult those pupils and parents/carers who do not access school 

nurse services, to find out whether there is a lack of understanding for what is available, 
or if services have not yet been required; 

(n) school nurses will be available at each school at least once or twice a  week; 
(o) a ‘whole school approach’ is to be developed to engage all school staff and ensure that 

pupils and parents/carers can be directed to access services and support via school 
nurse; 

(p) some schools already buy-in services such as counsellors and peer supporters but this 
needs to be tracked to enable need to be gauged and successful practices to be shared. 

 
The Chair of the Board considered that dual funding for posts is worth pursuing as this has 
worked in other areas and enabled services to expand. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
(1) to note the key findings of the review and recognise the value of School nursing 

in improving health and educational outcomes; 
 
(2) to support the development of the new needs led model of delivery; 
 
(3) for a future reports on the progress of implementing the school nursing 

development action plan to be brought to the Children’s Partnership Board. 
 
19  BIANNUAL COMMON ASSESSMENT FRAMEWORK (CAF) 

PARTNERSHIP RETURN 
 

Viv McCrossen, Head of Family Community Teams Central, presented the report which details 
the Partnership CAF Performance for the first quarter of 2014/15, comparing performance 
against 2013/14 and 2012/13. 
 
A Common Assessment Framework is a framework to help practitioners working with children, 
young people and families to assess children and young people’s additional needs earlier, 
provide more effective services, and develop a common understanding of  needs and how 
partners can work together to meet them. 
 
Since an information cleansing programme during 2013, a new set of measures were 
introduced to better measure need, analyse outcomes and prevent duplication. This included 
specifically recording initiation by agency, reason by outcome, age, outcome by agency, 
ethnicity and age. 
 

Page 8



Children's Partnership Board - 15.10.14 

 

The following points were highlighted at the meeting: 
 
(a) during 2013/14 1180 CAFs were initiated across the partnership, this was an increase of 

36.1% on 2012/13 which is the highest number ever in the City; 
(b) during the first quarter of 2014/15 299 CAFs were initiated, the highest number during 

the first quarter ever; 
(c) from 2012/13 to 2013/14 initiations by Family Community Teams have increased by 

71% with Primary Schools increasing initiations by 19.7%, Health Visitors by 31.9% and 
secondary schools decreasing initiations by 13.2%; 

(d) 62.3% of CAFs were closed when needs were met but there was an increase of cases 
closed due to increased risk where cases were escalated to specialist services; 

(e) 30% of cases escalated to social care already had a CAF, so investigation needs to take 
place to find out why 70% of cases had not had a CAF and what support if any had been 
received prior to Social Care involvement as this may identify a gap in identifying 
children with need at an early stage; 

(f) the cleansing exercise had highlighted that better discipline is required in closing of 
CAFs on the shared system but also that the system needed ask more questions, 
including identifying the a lead person for each initiation. 

 
It is noted that referrals to Social Care were perceived to be much easier than initiating a CAF 
so this needed to be investigated along with who and how appropriate it had been for each 
referral to be made directly to Social Care before a CAF had been considered. 
 
Impact tracking will take place to find out which organisations prove most successful in meeting 
the child’s needs. 
 
On behalf of the Partnership and in light of her leaving the Local Authority, the Chair thanked 
Viv McCrossen for her regular contributions to the work of the Children’s Partnership Board. 
 
RESOLVED  
 
(1) to note performance measures presented and agree to their continued usage in 

future reporting; 
 
(2)  to agree for the additional performance reporting on “tracking” of closed CAFs to 

measure sustained impact; 
 
(4) to agree that each agency is responsible for consistently updating the accuracy of 

information for CAF records initiated and open on CAF Central Records system 
for each quarter of the financial year; 

 
(5) to agree to the Communications Plan, timeline and launch of the refresh to CAF 

Central Records system and processes. 
 
20  PARTICIPATION IN GOVERNANCE PROGRAMME AND YOUTH COUNCIL 

UPDATE 
 

Jon Rea, Engagement and Participation Lead Officer, and Charlotte Croft, Youth Cabinet 
Member, presented the report on the involvement of Nottingham’s young people in the 2014/15 
Participation in Governance Programme and gave a brief summary of the recent work of the 
Youth Cabinet. 
 

Page 9



Children's Partnership Board - 15.10.14 

 

The following points were highlighted: 
 
(a) the participation in governance programme is refreshed every year and aims to 

empower young people by enabling them by equipping and enabling them to contribute 
to the design, development and delivery of strategies and plans for improvement; 

(b) Youth Cabinet members contribute to several governance programmes and boards 
including: 

 
(i) Children’s Partnership Board; 
(ii) Nottingham Growth Board; 
(iii) One Nottingham Forum; 
(iv) Equality and Fairness Commission; 
(v) STAC Education and Training Group; 
(vi) Creative Industries Award;  

 
(c) the two members of the Youth Cabinet who were elected to the UK Youth Parliament 

were Charlotte Croft and Rachel To; 
(d) the Children in Care Council are a key partner in the annual ‘Have Your Say’ survey of 

children in care and care leavers with resulting recommendations considered tin the 
annual Corporate Parenting Action Plan; 

(e) the Special People Group engages young people with special educational needs and 
disabilities, currently acting as the principal young people’s co-production forum for the 
Children and Families SEN Act reforms; 

(f) Youth Council is a large general meeting of young people from across the City, sharing 
findings with relevant partners; 

(g) the Primary Parliament is organised in conjunction with the  Nottingham Learning Trust 
for young people in Year 5 and 6 at school, following the same thematic content as the 
Youth Council but presented in age appropriate formats; 

(h) the Youth Council meeting programme for 2014/15 will include: 
 

(i) Education, Work and Training for the Knowledge Economy; 
(ii) Safe Lives, Positive Communities; 
(iii) Happy, Healthy, Creative You. 

 
RESOLVED  
 
(1) to note that Board partners are invited to work with Youth Cabinet and utilise 

opportunities to engage with children and young people around the Participation 
in Governance programme; 

 
(2)  to agree to use the findings of participation work to inform plans and strategies 

for service improvement for children and young people across the Children’s 
Partnership; 

 
(3)  to acknowledge the work of the Youth Cabinet as the principal youth leadership 

group for participation in the Children’s Partnership agenda. 
 
 
21  FORWARD PLAN 

 
It is noted that any requests for the Board to consider further topics, should be forwarded to Dot 
Veitch, Partnership Support Officer at dot.veitch@nottinghamcity.gov.uk    

Page 10

mailto:dot.veitch@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


  

 
 
Title of paper: CYPP Performance Review (2014/15 Q2) 
Report to: Children’s Partnership Board 
Date: 10th December 2014 
Relevant Director: Alison Michalska Wards affected:  All 
Contact Officer(s) 
and contact details: 

Colin Monckton (Director of Commissioning, Policy & Insight) 
t. 0115 (87) 64832  

Other officers who 
have provided input: 

Andy Shone (Performance Review Officer – Commissioning & Insight) 
t. 0115 (87) 64843 

 
Relevant Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) ob jectives(s): 
Stronger safeguarding – With a key focus on ensuring that there are high standards of 
safeguarding across all agencies and that the Partnership takes a pro-active approach to 
the elimination of domestic violence. 

Yes 

Healthy living – With a key focus on increasing the proportion of children and young people 
who have a healthy weight. 

Yes 

Reducing substance misuse – Partnership work to lessen the impact on children of 
parental drug and alcohol misuse and to reduce drug and alcohol misuse amongst children 
and young people. 

Yes 

Raising attainment – Raising the attainment levels and increasing engagement in 
employment, education and training. 

Yes 

Improving attendance – Improving rates of attendance at both Primary and Secondary as 
a key foundation of improving outcomes. 

Yes 

 
Summary of issues (including benefits to customers/ service users): 
The review identifies key headlines, challenges and an overview of all performance measures 
linked to the CYPP strategic and operational objectives for the 2014/15 reporting year to Q2 
 
 
Recommendations: 
1 Children’s Partnership Board to note performance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS  
(Explanatory detail and background to the recommend ations) 
 

The review provides an update of the CYPP performance framework.  
 

2. RISKS                                                                                                                                           
(Risk to the CYPP, risk involved in undertaking the  activity and risk involved in not 
undertaking the activity) 
 
None 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



  

 
3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
      None 
 

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
      None 
 

5. CLIENT GROUP                                                                                                                       
(Groups of children, young people or carers who are  being discussed in the report) 

 
All relevant CYP within the City 
 
6. IMPACT ON EQUALITIES ISSUES                                                                                                 

 
N/A 

 
7. OUTCOMES AND PRIORITIES AFFECTED                                                                             

 
All  

 
8. CONTACT DETAILS 
 
Andy Shone 
Performance Review Officer 
Quality & Commissioning 
Commissioning & Insight 
Loxley House 
 
Andy.shone@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
0115 87 64843 

 

Page 12



 Report Produced for: CPB 

Period Reported to: 30th September 2014 

 Report Produced by: Commissioning & Insight

 Author:  Andy Shone (ext. 64843)

 Report Reference: CPB0914

Children's Partnership 
Board

2014/15 Q2 
Performance Report 

Page 13



����

����

↔

N/A

~

Guide to the report

The report is ordered by each CYPP Strategic Objective (1 to 5) then each Operational Objective (1 to 15).  We 
continue to identify new and meaningful indicators to report
  
Within each Objective, performance indicators are ordered by reference number and identifies who the 
responsible officer/agency is.

Where applicable, the report shows data against performance indicators starting with the 2011/12 outturn figure 
through to Q2 2014/15.

Non-reportable - usually linked to another measure that captures rates per 100, 1,000 etc.

Better than previous year(s)

Worse than previous year(s)

Performance is marginally below the previous year(s)

Measure is either new or reporting methodology has changed resulting in inability to measure 
against previous year(s)

Page 14



No. 14/15 PIs

No. 14/15 PIs 
Measurable 

Against Previous 
Year(s)

No. Better Than / 
Equal to Previous 

Available Year

Percentage 
Better/Equal to 

Previous Available 
Year

1. Safeguarding and Early Intervention
Young people and families will benefit from early and effective support and protection 
to empower them to overcome difficulties

22 21 14 66.7%

1.  Stronger Safeguarding
Improving safeguarding across all agencies, to keep children and young people safe from 
physical, emotional and sexual abuse, neglect, and accidental injury

16 15 9 60.0%

2.  Shifting resources to early intervention and prevention
Achieving a growing shift of mainstream resources towards early intervention and 
prevention to ensure that families in challenging circumstances are identified early

1 1 1 100.0%

3.  Reducing infant mortality 5 5 4 80.0%

2. Strong families
Young people and families will benefit from early and effective support and protection 
to empower them to overcome difficulties

19 13 10 76.9%

4.  Improving parenting support
Improving support for parents and carers, particularly younger ones

0 0 0 ~

5.  Supporting children with learning difficulties and disabilities
Providing better co-ordinated care for children and young people with learning difficulties 
and disabilities, emotional and behavioural difficulties 

5 5 3 60.0%

6.  Improving corporate parenting
Improving the quality of life and outcomes for children living in care and preparing for 
independent living

14 8 7 87.5%

3. Healthy and positive children and young people
Children and young people will be healthier, fitter, more emotionally resilient and 
better able to make mature decisions

29 28 21 75.0%

7.  Promoting healthy living
Tackling childhood obesity, improving diets, improving oral health, cutting smoking rates

5 5 3 60.0%

8.  Reducing teenage conceptions
Reducing the rate of teenage conceptions

4 4 3 75.0%

9.  Reducing substance misuse
Reducing substance misuse and its impact on children and young people

5 5 2 40.0%

10.  Strengthening positive behaviour
Diverting children and young people from anti-social and offending behaviour (including 
homophobic and other forms of bullying) and promoting socially responsible behaviour)

15 14 13 92.9%

4. Achievement
All children and young people will leave school with the best skills and qualifications 
they can achieve and will be ready for work or further learning

22 16 7 43.8%

11.  Engaging learners better
Improving school attendance and improving engagement and progression from age 16 in 
education, emplyoment and training

8 6 3 50.0%

12.  Improving attainment
Improving educational attainment and skills

10 6 1 16.7%

13.  Closing the gap
Closing the gap in attainment and skills between disadvantaged groups and their peers

0 0 0 ~

14.  14-19 reform
Preparing for significant changes for this age group, with a new 14-19 strategy and the 
raising of school leaving age

4 4 3 75.0%

5. Economic well-being
Child poverty will be significantly reduced

5 5 5 100.0%

15.  Tackling child poverty
Tackling worklessness and supporting adults to gain Level 2 skills or higher so they are 
able to progress in work and earn more

5 5 5 100.0%

Overall 97 83 57 68.7%

CYPP Strategic and Operation Objectives Summary of Performance Measures

Page 15



Description Good Performance
Outturn 
2011/12

Outturn
2012/13

Outturn
2013/14

Q1
2014/15

Q2
2014/15

Statistical 
Neighbour

England

Better than / 
Equal to 
Previous 
Year(s)

NI 032 - Repeat incidents of 
domestic violence (MARAC)
(Paula Bishop - CDP)

Lower percentages 18.3% 13.2% 21.6% 14.7% 14.7% ~ ~ ����

CIN-8 - The percentage of 
Children's Assessments 
authorised within 45 days of the 
referral
(Tracey Nurse)

Higher percentages ~ ~ ~ 89.2% 89.1% 91.5% ~ N/A

CP-8 - Child protection plans 
closing that lasted longer than two 
years
(Helen Blackman)

Lower percentages 7.7% 4.9% 2.8% 8.0% 4.5% 5.2% ~ ����

CP-7 - The percentage of children 
becoming the subject of Child 
Protection Plan for a second or 
subsequent time within two years 
of the previous plans ending 
(Helen Blackman)

Lower percentages ~ ~ 7.8% 6.1% 6.9% ~ ~ ����

CP-10 - Child protection cases 
which were reviewed within the 
appropriate timescale
(Helen Blackman)

Higher percentages 100% 99.4% 96.0% 99.0% 99.0% 91.4% 97.1% ����

~ 806 988 1119 269 552 1063 ~ ~
Lower numbers (129) (158) (178) (171) (175) (129) (101) ����

Lower numbers
296 440 479 460 476 ~ 408 ~

(Per 10,000) (47) (70) (76) (73) (76) ~ (50) ↔

Lower numbers
5318 4261 5007 1188 2455 5607

~ ~
(Per 10,000) (851) (682) (795) (754) (779) (681) (557) ����

CIN-4 - The percentage of 
Referrals that are made within 12 
months of a child previously being 
discharged from Children's Social 
Care
(Tracey Nurse)

Lower percentages ~ ~ 19.1% 25.8% 26.1% ~ ~ ����

All current Child Protection 
Activities - 
(No. of offenders where a child 
who is living with/has contact with 
the offender is subject to a Child 
Protection Plan)
(Probation)

Higher numbers 136 131 117 93 117 ~ ~ ����

All current Risk to Children 
Activities - 
(No. of offenders who present a 
current risk to children.)
(Probation)

Higher numbers 482 439 348 339 382 ~ ~ ����

Number of Families with Children 
in Temporary Accommodation
(Housing)

Lower numbers 53 60 66 68 65 ~ ~ ����

Number of Children in Temporary 
Accommodation
(Housing)

Lower numbers 107 85 109 123 88 ~ ~ ����

C&F062 - Number of CAFs 
initiated
(Helen Blackman)

Higher numbers
(cumulative totals)

1071 801 987 287 480 ~ ~ ����

1. Strategic Objective - Safeguarding and Early Intervention
Young people and families will benefit from early and effective support and protection to empower them to 
overcome difficulties

CIN-13 - Number of Section 47 
Enquiries 
(per 10,000 per annum)
(Tracey Nurse)

CP-4 - 
Number of children subject to a 
Child Protection Plan at the end 
of the month
(per 10,000)
(Helen Blackman)

CIN-2 - Number of Referrals
(per 10,000)
(Tracey Nurse)

2. Operational Objective - Shifting resources to early intervention and prevention
Achieving a growing shift of mainstream resources towards early intervention and prevention to ensure that families in 
challenging circumstances are identified early

1. Operational Objective - Stronger Safeguarding
Improving safeguarding across all agencies, to keep children and young people safe from physical, emotional and sexual 
abuse, neglect, and accidental injury

4 of 8

Page 16



Description Good Performance
Outturn 
2011/12

Outturn
2012/13

Outturn
2013/14

Q1
2014/15

Q2
2014/15

Statistical 
Neighbour

England

Better than / 
Equal to 
Previous 
Year(s)

NI 053a - Percentage of infants 
being breastfed at 6-8 weeks 
(breastfeeding prevalence)
(Lynne McNiven)

Higher percentages 46.2% 45.5% 48.4% 49.5% ~ 35.1% 47.2%
(2012/13) ����

NI 053b - 
Percentage of infants for whom 
breastfeeding status is recorded 
(breastfeeding coverage)
(Lynne McNiven)

Higher percentages 99.4% ~ 99.9% 99.8% ~ ~ 89.6%
(2013/14) ↔

NI 126 - Early access for women 
to maternity services
(Lynne McNiven)

Higher percentages 88.5% ~ 89.4%
(Q2)

~ ~ ~ ~ ����

Infant mortality per 1000 live 
births
(Lynne McNiven)

Lower numbers (3 year average) 5.6 
(08-10)

~ 5.0
(2010-12)

~ ~
4.3

(09-11)
East Midlands

4.3
(2010-12) ����

Low birth weight (< 2500 grams)
(Lynne McNiven)

Lower percentages 9.1% 
(2010)

~ 8.7
(2012)

~ ~
7.7%
(09-11)

East Midlands

7.3
(2012) ����

CS141a - The percentage of KS4 
pupils who have access to full 
time alternative education 
provision (Yr 10 =24 Hrs+; Yr 11 
= 25 Hrs+)
(Mirth Parker)

Higher percentages 98.0% 87.0% 93.0% 93.0% ~ ~ ~ ����

CS141b - The percentage of KS3 
pupils who have access to full 
time alternative education 
provision (KS3 = 24 Hrs+)
(Mirth Parker)

Higher percentages 100% 100% 100% 100% ~ ~ ~ ����

CS141c - The percentage of KS2 
pupils who have access to  full 
time alternative education 
provision (KS2 =23.5 Hrs+)
(Mirth Parker)

Higher percentages 100% 100% 100% 94.0% ~ ~ ~ ����

Number of Direct Payments 
(Disabled Children) 
(Helen Blackman)

Higher numbers
(cumulative total)

144 163 199 204 208 ~ ~ ����

Number of Referrals to MALT 
CAMHS
(Helen Blackman)

Higher numbers
(cumulative total)

1372 1361 1540 344 659 ~ ~ ����

CC-8 - The percentage of 
Children in Care that have had 
three or more placement moves 
in the previous 12 months
(Ann Partington)

Higher percentages 11.5% 11.2% 12.9% 13.9% 12.7% 11.1% ~ ↔

CC-9 - The percentage of 
Children in Care who have lived 
in the same placement for at least 
2 years
(Ann Partington)

Higher percentages 73.1% 68.0% 63.2% 63.7% 63.6% 65.9% ~ ����

CC-10 - The percentage of CiC 
reviewed within the appropriate 
timescale (Helen Blackman)

Higher percentages ~ ~ 97.6% 97.7% 97.5% ~ ~ ↔

NI 100 - Children in Care 
reaching level 4 in Maths at KS2
(Mirth Parker)

Higher percentages 50.0% 45.0% ~ ~
67%

(provisional)
55.3%

(2011/12 - LAIT)
56.0%

(2011/12 - SFR) ����

NI 101 - Children in Care 
achieving 5 A*-C GCSEs (or 
equivalent) at KS4 (including 
English and Maths)
(Mirth Parker)

Higher percentages 7.1% 0.0% ~ ~
7.0%

(provisional)
18.4%

(2011/12 - LAIT)
14.6%

(2011/12 - SFR) ����

CL-4 - The percentage of care 
leavers in employment, education 
or training at 19 years (Helen 
Blackman)

Higher percentages ~ ~ 45.5% 28.6% 45.8% 55.1% ~ ����

Lower numbers 541 561 584 584 597 765 ~ ~
(Per 10,000) (87) (89) (93) (93) (95) (93) (59) ����

CC-25 - Percentage of Looked 
After Children with a completed 
Personal Education Plan
(Helen Blackman)

Higher percentages 98.0% 92.0% 93.0% 93.0% 95.0% ~ ~ ����

3. Operational Objective - Reducing infant mortality

4. Operational Objective - Improving parenting support
Improving support for parents and carers, particularly younger ones

2. Strategic Objective - Strong families
Young people and families will benefit from early and effective support and protection to empower them to 
overcome difficulties

6. Operational Objective - Improving corporate parenting
Improving the quality of life and outcomes for children living in care and preparing for independent living

CC-1 - Number of looked after 
children 
(per 10,000)
(Helen Blackman)

5. Operational Objective - Supporting children with learning difficulties and disabilities
Providing better co-ordinated care for children and young people with learning difficulties and disabilities, emotional and 
behavioural difficulties 

5 of 8

Page 17



Description Good Performance
Outturn 
2011/12

Outturn
2012/13

Outturn
2013/14

Q1
2014/15

Q2
2014/15

Statistical 
Neighbour

England

Better than / 
Equal to 
Previous 
Year(s)

CC-12 - The percentage of CiC 
with an up-to-date health 
assessment
(Helen Blackman)

Higher percentages 77.6% 79.6% 71.8% 77.5% 83.2% ~

91.0% 
(CiC 12 month)

(Different 
cohort)

����

CC-13 - The percentage of CiC 
with up-to-date dental checks
(Helen Blackman)

Higher percentages 82.7% 82.7% 82.5% 80.8% 90.0% ~

90.0% 
(CiC 12 month)

(Different 
cohort)

����

Percentage of LAC NEET
(Michelle Wright)

Lower percentages 25.3% 11.7% 23.5% Awaiting data ~ ~

Percentage of LAC Not Known
(Michelle Wright)

Lower percentages 7.2% 4.6% 1.1% Awaiting data ~ ~

Percentage of Care Leavers 
NEET
(Michelle Wright)

Lower percentages 27.8% 43.8% 42.4% Awaiting data ~ ~

Percentage of Care Leavers Not 
Known
(Michelle Wright)

Lower percentages 10.6% 8.1% 1.0% Awaiting data ~ ~

NI 055a - Obesity among primary 
school age children in Reception 
Year (% of children with height 
and weight recorded who are 
obese)
(Lynne McNiven)

Lower percentages 10.9% 10.9% ~ ~ ~ 11.1%
(2011/12)

9.3%
(2012/13) ����

NI 055b - Obesity among primary 
school age children in Reception 
Year (% of children with height 
and weight recorded)
(Lynne McNiven)

Higher percentages 90.9% 90.0%
(2011/12)

87.5%
(2012/13)

~ ~ ~ 94.0%
(2012/13) ����

NI 056a - Obesity among primary 
school age children in Year 6 (% 
of children with height and weight 
recorded who are obese)
(Lynne McNiven)

Lower percentages 22.0% 22.9%
(2011/12)

21.7%
(2012/13)

~ ~ 20.5%
(2011/12)

18.9%
(2012/13) ����

NI 056b - Obesity among primary 
school age children in Year 6 (% 
of children with height and weight 
recorded)
(Lynne McNiven)

Higher percentages 92.7% 91.7%
(2011/12)

88.4%
(2012/13)

~ ~ ~ 92.4%
(2011/12) ����

CS23c - Percentage of schools 
engaged in the Healthy Schools 
'Health & Wellbeing Improvement' 
model
(Chris Wallbanks)

Higher percentages 41.3% 52.0% 54.0% 56.0% 56.0% ~ ~ ����

NI 112 - Under 18 conception rate 
(per 1,000)
(Chris Wallbanks)

Lower numbers 54.3 49.7 37.6 34.3 35.1 36.0 25.7 ����

Chlamydia diagnosis rate per 
100,000 population aged 15-24 
years (measured through the 
Public Health Outcomes 
Framework)
(Lynne McNiven)

Lower numbers ~ 2,813 2,893 827 985 2,120 2,016 ����

Percentage of 15-24 year olds 
testing positive for Chlamydia
(Lynne McNiven)

Lower percentages 7.8% 8.5%
9.1%
(2013)

~ ~ ~ 8.1%
(2013) ����

Percentage of Nottingham City 
residents aged 15-24 in contact 
with Nottingham University 
Hospitals Contraception & Sexual 
Health (CASH) services who take 
up the offer of a Chlamydia 
screen
(Lynne McNiven)

Higher percentages ~ 34.3% 44.0% ~ ~ ~ ~ ����

Drugs offences committed by 
under 18's
(Police)

Lower numbers 
(cumulative total)

142 129 104 32 57 ~ ~ ����

Number of new presentations to 
young people's specialist drug 
and alcohol treatment
(CDP)

Higher numbers
(cumulative total)

211 ~ 165 32 ~ ~ ~ ����

Percentage of clients in treatment 
to cite alcohol as a problem 
substance
(CDP / Lynne McNiven)

Higher percentages 17.2% ~ 56.0% 56.0% ~ ~ 54.0% ����

9. Operational Objective - Reducing substance misuse
Reducing substance misuse and its impact on children and young people

8. Operational Objective - Reducing teenage conceptions
Reducing the rate of teenage conceptions

7. Operational Objective - Promoting healthy living
Tackling childhood obesity, improving diets, improving oral health, cutting smoking rates

3. Strategic Objective - Healthy and positive children and young people
Children and young people will be healthier, fitter, more emotionally resilient and better able to make mature 
decisions

6 of 8

Page 18



Description Good Performance
Outturn 
2011/12

Outturn
2012/13

Outturn
2013/14

Q1
2014/15

Q2
2014/15

Statistical 
Neighbour

England

Better than / 
Equal to 
Previous 
Year(s)

Percentage of referrals from 
Children & Family Services
(CDP / Lynne McNiven)

Higher percentages 43.0% 14.0% 13.0% 10.0% ~ ~ 18.0% ����

CSS162 - Percentage of young 
people leaving treatment in an 
agreed and planned way
(CDP / Lynne McNiven)

Higher percentages 75.0% 76.0% 63.0% 68.0% ~ ~ 82.0% ����

Rate of proven re-offending by 
young offenders
(Shelley Nichols)

Lower numbers

(Comparable frequency of re-
offending over 12 months in 
previous years)

1.00 1.00 0.96 0.88 0.84
1.15

(Apr11 - Mar12) 
(PNC data)

1.02
(Jan-Dec 2011)

(PNC data)
����

Percentage of 10-17 year olds 
who are sentenced to custody
(Shelley Nichols)

Lower percentages ~ 8.9% 7.5% 0.0% 6.5% ~ ~ ����

Increase the number of young 
people supervised by YOT in full-
time education, training or 
employment
(Shelley Nichols)

Higher percentages 71.5% 68.8% 69.5% 75.9% 77.9% 67.9%
(Q3 2011/12)

72.2%
(Q3 2011/12) ����

Percentage of School Age young 
people supervised by the YOT in 
full-time ETE
(relates to NI 045)
(Shelley Nichols)

Higher percentages 86.0% 85.7% 77.0% 89.3% 92.6% 72.3%
(Q2 2011-12)           

69.7%
(Q2 2011/12) ����

Percentage of Above School Age 
young people supervised by the 
YOT in full-time ETE
(relates to NI 045)
(Shelley Nichols)

Higher percentages 59.5% 58.6% 65.0% 61.5% 70.0% 61.1%
(Q2 2011-12)

58.4% 
(Q2 2011/12) ����

394 239 239 46 102 ~ ~ ~

(1753) (926) (926) (181) (402) (642)
Apr 13 - Mar 14

(431)
Apr 13 - Mar 14 ����

Burglary offences committed by 
under 18's
(Police)

Lower numbers 
(cumulative total)

224 66 45 14 21 ~ ~ ����

Criminal Damage offences 
committed by under 18's
(Police)

Lower numbers 
(cumulative total)

228 262 163 39 78 ~ ~ ����

Fraud & Forgery offences 
committed by under 18's
(Police)

Lower numbers 
(cumulative total)

7 11 0 0 0 ~ ~ ����

Other offences committed by 
under 18's
(Police)

Lower numbers 
(cumulative total)

38 193 150 28 69 ~ ~ ����

Robbery offences committed by 
under 18's
(Police)

Lower numbers 
(cumulative total)

101 59 55 15 26 ~ ~ ����

Sexual offences committed by 
under 18's
(Police)

Lower numbers 
(cumulative total)

24 11 8 1 2 ~ ~ ����

Theft offences committed by 
under 18's
(Police)

Lower numbers 
(cumulative total)

689 451 392 72 162 ~ ~ ����

Violence offences committed by 
under 18's
(Police)

Lower numbers 
(cumulative total)

512 630 354 112 178 ~ ~ ↔

Lower percentages 5.2% 6.2% 6.5% 6.5% 7.6% ~ ~ ����

Lower numbers 387 622 509 446 475 ~ ~ ~

Lower percentages 6.6% 5.4% 2.2% 2.5% 2.3% ~ ~ ↔

Lower numbers 532 411 177 173 147 ~ ~ ~

C&F134 - Persistent absence 
(Secondary)
(Mark Andrews)

Lower percentages 6.7% 9.9%
(Full Year 11/12)

7.17% 7.48% ~ 8.3%
(Full Year 11/12)

6.5%
(Autumn & Spring 

12/13)
����

C&F133 - Overall absence 
(Secondary)
(Mark Andrews)

Lower percentages 8.0% 6.91%
(Full Year 11/12)

6.7%
(3 terms to 

Autumn 2012)

6.3%
(3 terms to 

Autumn 2013)
~ 5.9%

(Autumn 12/13)

5.8%
(Autumn & Spring 

12/13)
����

C&F132 - Persistent absence 
(Primary)
(Mark Andrews)

Lower percentages 4.5% 5.27%
(Full Year 11/12)

4.71% 3.59% ~ 4.0%
(Full Year 11/12)

3.6%
(Autumn & Spring 

12/13)
����

NI 111 First time entrants to the 
Youth Justice System 
(per 100,000 10-17 year olds)
(Shelley Nichols)

10. Operational Objective - Strengthening positive behaviour
Diverting children and young people from anti-social and offending behaviour (including homophobic and other forms of 
bullying) and promoting socially responsible behaviour)

11. Operational Objective - Engaging learners better
Improving school attendance and improving engagement and progression from age 16 in education, emplyoment and training

4. Strategic Objective - Achievement
All children and young people will leave school with the best skills and qualifications they can achieve and will 
be ready for work or further learning

Lower numbers 
(cumulative total)

Percentage/Number of NEET - 
Not Knowns
(Michelle Wright)

NI 117 - 16-18 years old City 
resident young people who are 
NEET
(Michelle Wright)

7 of 8

Page 19



Description Good Performance
Outturn 
2011/12

Outturn
2012/13

Outturn
2013/14

Q1
2014/15

Q2
2014/15

Statistical 
Neighbour

England

Better than / 
Equal to 
Previous 
Year(s)

C&F052 - Overall absence 
(Primary)
(Mark Andrews)

Lower percentages 6.4% 5.0%
(Full Year 11/12)

4.8%
(3 terms to 

Autumn 2013)

4.5%
(3 terms to 

Spring 2013)
~ 5.1%

(Autumn 12/13)

4.8%
(Autumn & Spring 

12/13)
����

Achievement at level 4+ in all of 
Reading, Writing and Maths at 
KS2 
(Nick Lee)

Higher percentages ~ ~ ~ ~
73.0%

(provisional)
~

78.0%
(provisional) ~

NI 075 - Achievement of 5 or 
more A*-C grades at GCSE or 
equivalent including English and 
Maths
(Nick Lee)

Higher percentages

2014/15 data cannot be 
measured against previous 
years due to new counting 
methodology

46.7% 49.6% ~ ~
43.3%

(provisional)
58.3%

(provisional)
52.6%

(provisional) N/A

NI 089 - Number of schools 
judged as requiring special 
measures
(Nick Lee)

Lower numbers 3 1 9 ~ 8 ~ ~ ����

Pupils making expected progress 
in Reading from KS1 to KS2
(Nick Lee)

Higher percentages ~ ~ ~ ~
90.0%

(provisional)
~

91.0%
(provisional) ~

Pupils making expected progress 
in Writing from KS1 to KS2
(Nick Lee)

Higher percentages ~ ~ ~ ~
92.0%

(provisional)
~

93.0%
(provisional) ~

NI 094 - Progression by 2 levels 
in Maths between KS1 and KS2
(Nick Lee)

Higher percentages 84.0% 85.0% ~ ~
90.0%

(provisional)
~

89.0%
(provisional) ����

CS 015 - % of eligible pupils in LA 
maintained schools who attain at 
least one qualification at GCSE or 
equivalent
(Nick Lee)

Higher percentages 98.2% 98.7% ~ ~
96.0%

(provisional)
~

99.6%
(provisional) ����

Percentage 'Good or Better' 68.0% 69.0% 69.8% 68.0% 66.7% ~
69.2%

June 12 ����
Percentage 'Requiring 
Improvement'

27.0% 25.0% 17.7% 18.0% 19.4% ~
28.1%

June 12 ����

Percentage 'Inadequate' 4.0% 6.0% 12.5% 10.0% 13.9% ~
2.6%

June 12 ����

NI 079 - Achievement of a Level 2 
qualification by the age of 19
(Development)

Higher percentages 71.7% 74.3%
(2011/12)

75.4%
(2012/13)

~ ~ ~ 86.2%
(2012/13) ����

NI 080 - Achievement of a Level 3 
qualification by the age of 19
(Development)

Higher percentages 43.2% 43.3%
(2011/12)

45.8%
(2012/13)

~ ~ ~ 59.1%
(2012/13) ����

NI 081 - Inequality gap in the 
achievement of a Level 3 
qualification by the age of 19
(Attainment figure shown) 
(Development)

Lower percentages 24.0% 25.0%
(2011/12)

27.0%
(2012/13)

~ ~ ~ 35.0%
(2012/13) ����

NI 082 - Inequality gap in the 
achievement of a Level 2 
qualification by the age of 19 
(Attainment figure shown) 
(Development)

Higher percentages

(This measures the % who were 
on FSM)

57.0% 58%
(2011/12)

62%
(2012/13)

~ ~ ~ 71.0%
(2012/13) ����

NI 151 - Overall employment rate 
(working age)
(Development)

Higher percentages 56.8% 61.3% 58.4% 60.3% 61.9% ~ 70.7% ����

NI 163 - Working age population 
qualified to Level 2 or higher
(Development)

Higher percentages 61.4% 66.7% 70.7% ~ ~ ~ 69.5% ����

18 to 24 year old JSA claimants
(Job Centre Plus)

Lower numbers 4550 3960 2915 ~ 2385 ~ ~ ����

Lone Parent Income Support 
claimants
(Job Centre Plus)

Lower numbers 5215 4970 4460 ~ 4415 ~ ~ ����

All JSA claimants
(Job Centre Plus)

Lower numbers 14677 14331 11308 ~ 9383 ~ ~ ����

15. Operational Objective - Tackling child poverty
Tackling worklessness and supporting adults to gain Level 2 skills or higher so they are able to progress in work and earn more

5. Strategic Objective - Economic well-being
Child poverty will be significantly reduced

14. Operational Objective - 14-19 reform
Preparing for significant changes for this age group, with a new 14-19 strategy and the raising of school leaving age

13. Operational Objective - Closing the gap
Closing the gap in attainment and skills between disadvantaged groups and their peers

Educational settings inspected by 
Ofsted based on latest inspection 
reports
(Nick Lee) 

12. Operational Objective - Improving attainment
Improving educational attainment and skills

8 of 8

Page 20



 
 
Title of paper: Reducing Substance Misuse 
Report to: Children’s Partnership Board 
Date: 10th December 2014 
Relevant Director:  Wards affected:  All 
Contact Officer(s) 
and contact details: 

Clare Fox: Strategy and Commissioning Manager 
Tel: 0115 8765711 
clare.fox@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

Other officers who 
have provided input: 

Christine Oliver – Head of Service, Crime and Drugs Partnership 
Dionne Screaton – Solicitor 
 

 
Relevant Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) ob jectives(s): 
Stronger safeguarding – With a key focus on ensuring that there are high standards of 
safeguarding across all agencies and that the Partnership takes a pro-active approach to 
the elimination of domestic violence. 

 

Healthy living – With a key focus on increasing the proportion of children and young people 
who have a healthy weight. 

 

Reducing substance misuse – Partnership work to lessen the impact on children of 
parental drug and alcohol misuse and to reduce drug and alcohol misuse amongst children 
and young people. 

 
X 

Raising attainment – Raising the attainment levels and increasing engagement in 
employment, education and training. 

 

Improving attendance – Improving rates of attendance at both Primary and Secondary as 
a key foundation of improving outcomes. 

 

 
Summary of issues (including benefits to customers/ service users): 
The Children and Young People’s Plan includes an objective to reduce substance misuse and its 
impact on children and young people.   Responsibility of young people’s substance misuse sits 
with the Crime and Drugs Partnership in conjunction with partners.  A full review has been 
undertaken and a new specialist service has been commissioned. 
This report will update the Board on:  
1. the Review of the Young People’s Substance Misuse system 
2. the implementation of the new Young People’s Specialist Substance Misuse service 
3. Young People’s Substance Misuse Treatment Services Performance 
4. Implications of budget proposals for young people’s substance misuse 

 
 
 
 
Recommendations: 
1 Board members to note the content of the report 

 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



 
 

1. BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS  
Drug and alcohol use by under 18s and its impact has been managed within the Crime and Drugs 
Partnership since April 2012, alongside the wider children and family context. 
 
Nationally, there are two strategies that outline the Government’s response to tackling drug and 
alcohol misuse; The 2010 Drug Strategy: Reducing Demand, Restricting Supply and Building 
Recovery, and the 2012 Government Alcohol Strategy. 
 
The partnership continues to work on the Drug and Alcohol Strategy ‘Nottingham Drug Strategy: 
Prevention, Treatment and Restricting Supply’ (2012-2015) and Nottingham Alcohol Strategy: Safe, 
Responsible, Healthy both of which address young people’s drug and alcohol consumption within the 
themes of Prevention and Treatment. 
 
There is a  lack of local prevalence data in relation to children and young people’s substance misuse 
with  the most recent local needs assessment highlighting a need to undertake a full review to ensure 
that the development of services continue to meet changing need. 

 
 

1.1 Review of Young People’s Substance Misuse Syste m 
 

A comprehensive review of the young people’ substance misuse system was completed by the Crime 
and Drugs Partnership in consultation with other partners. The objectives of the review were to: 
 
• Explore the effectiveness of the young people’s substance misuse provision. This included 

pathways, accessibility to services, and efficiency and intended outcomes for the service users. 
• Determine value for money, best use of public funds, scope to enhance cost effectiveness and 

better integrated services. 
• Provide an understanding of the benefits, blockages, cross cutting themes, interdependencies and 

gaps in the system. 
• Map the existing system against the changing landscape of the wider Children and Families 

Service to ensure best use of resources, sharing information, avoid duplication and ensure the 
systems linked in seamlessly with any other changes. Thus ensuring it remains a robust system. 

• Measure and compare performance to see its effectiveness and any scope to optimise 
performance. 

• Identify whether the system was fit for purpose against the need and evidence base and whether it 
had capacity and ability to adapt to potential emerging needs e.g. new psychoactive substances 
also known as legal highs. 

• Assess its compliance with national guidance and best practice and how continuous improvement 
occurred. 

• Offer recommendations and options to ensuring the model continued to meet existing and 
emerging needs of service users. 

• Ensure recommendations for consideration of change to the existing model had been explored. 
• Attempt to identify any potential positive and negative risks and how these could be managed or 

minimised whether by remodelling the existing system or considering a new model. 
• Link to the other reviews, projects, programmes and work streams that were underway or would be 

taking place across the partnership. This would provide the opportunity to share findings and best 
practice thereby contributing to any recommendations, and enable better understanding of any 
impacts each of these may potentially have.   

 
Review Outcomes 

 
The review found that whilst there were key strengths in both the current young people’s substance 
misuse system and the wider universal systems and services, both systems were fragmented 
resulting in potential missed opportunities for early interventions. Key strengths include: 

 
• The City has a specialist substance misuse system established for young people 
• There are a range of good tailored interventions offered 

Page 22



• Parents and carers are involved where possible to ensure a family and person centred 
approach 

• Services have an holistic approach to care plans and work and involve other relevant agencies 
• There are some strong foundations in place to help shape a future model.  

 
There is evidence of the following areas for improvement: 
 
• Potential confusion around services and what they provide 
• Accessibility to information about services  
• Potential gaps in the current system 
• The need to more fully consult with young people to drive the service planning and delivery 
• Enhance partnership working under the wider health and wellbeing and early intervention and 

prevention programmes 
• Improved links to the safeguarding agenda through contract management. 
• Opportunities to utilise existing assets within the City and additional external funding. 

 
The review findings, recommendations and actions present a good opportunity to link the 
substance misuse system and wider young peoples’ provision, working  towards  a more efficient 
and effective system. All of the actions and recommendations identified are achievable through 
good partnership working and a lead driver for the changes to continue to take place. 

 
The review addressed a lack of local prevalence data as identified in the Children and Young 
People’s Plan priorities for years two and three of tackling the negative impacts of substance 
misuse. 
 
The review utilised national data as well as looking demographics both locally and nationally 
including: 

• looked after children and children in care,  
• exclusions,  
• ethnicity,  
• truancy and absenteeism,  
• young offenders,  
• NEETs 
• Homelessness. 

 
The review used data from the national Smoking, Drinking and Drug Use Survey (2012) to develop 
a local population estimates proxy measure for drug use by age. From the national data it is 
estimated that: 

• 2706 young people in Nottingham aged 11-15 have ever taken drugs  
• 955 had taken drugs in the last month 

 
Estimating the level of drug use amongst 16 and 17 year old is more problematic as the British 
Crime Survey: Drug Misuse Declared survey looks at 16-24 year olds. However, utilising an 
adjusted proxy measure, the review estimates that: 

• 4389 16 and 17 year olds had taken drugs in the last year. 
 
The review also undertook consultations with young people to validate prevalence estimates 
including the Youth Council, an online survey, focus groups and the DVibe online survey used as 
part of the DrugAware programme in schools. The findings of the consultations offered a similar 
picture to that nationally. It also highlighted that young people in Nottingham know how to access 
services, they have a good understanding of the harms of substances. 
 
Recommendations from the prevalence section of the review include: 

• Continue to develop and implement a partnership consultation programme 
• Share data and findings across services to help better inform delivery, planning, monitoring 

and workforce development. 
• Increase partnership working 
• Explore better use of technology 

 
 Page 23



1.2 Re-commissioned Specialist Young Peoples’ Subst ance Misuse Service 
 
As part of the review, a number of options were considered for the future model of young peoples’ 
substance misuse. These included the option to make some changes to the existing model to 
increase the focus on early intervention and prevention then to tender the specialist service. 
 
To fulfil the recommendations of the review the service specification included the need to support 
to the wider children and young peoples’ workforce, to increase knowledge and skills in identifying 
substance use and misuse and in delivering lower threshold interventions. This has the longer 
term aim of freeing up the service to deliver specialist treatment only to those that need it, thus 
reducing the cost of a service over the time. 
 
A competitive tender process took place over the summer of 2014. The successful bidder was 
Lifeline. Their new service, Lifeline Journey, commenced November 3rd 2014. Lifeline also delivers 
Explore Family in the city, a support service for carers, children and families affected by another’s 
substance misuse. 
 
Lifeline Journey is based at Russell Place but will also operate satellite delivery at locations that 
best meet the needs of young people, with flexible times. They will continue to work in schools and 
with the YOT, utilising a lead worker approach with single points of contact for partners.  

 
 

1.3 Young Peoples’ Substance Misuse Performance 
 
Young people’s substance misuse treatment performance is reported locally and collated 
nationally by the National Drug Treatment Monitoring System (NDTMS). This data is useful for 
contract and performance management of individual services, helps inform needs assessments 
and also contributes to measuring how we are meeting the objectives within the Children and 
Young People’s Plan. 

 
Performance for Quarter 1 2014/15: 
 
Objective Indicators Performance 

• The number in treatment 
• The number of new 

presentations to specialist 
young people drug and alcohol 
services 

216 young people in specialist treatment, 
of which 32 were new presentations in the 
quarter. 
Locally numbers in treatment are down by 
9% compared to 2% nationally. Estimated 
penetration rates (proportion of those in 
treatment that require treatment) in 
Nottingham are higher than nationally. 

 
Reducing young 
people’s substance 
misuse 

• % of all clients for whom 
alcohol is the 1st, 2nd or 3rd 
substance 

56% of young people in treatment cited 
alcohol as a problem. This reflects the 
national picture and has remained fairly 
consistent since 2012/13.  

• The percentage of referrals into 
specialist young people drug 
and alcohol services 

Referrals from both children and family 
services and education services have 
decreased by 7%/13% respectively over 
the last year whereas they have remained 
constant nationally.  
Half (49%) of all referrals come from youth 
justice. This has increased over the last 
year by 17%. This has remained at approx. 
32% nationally.  
There has been a slight increase in 
referrals from health and mental health 
services and now reflects national referrals 
at 8%. 
Work will continue to increase referrals 
from children and family service and 
education in the city.  

 
 
 
Reducing the impact of 
young people's 
substance misuse 
 

The number of young people who 
exit treatment in a planned way 

68% of young people left treatment in a 
planned way, 8% less than Q1 13/14. 
Nationally planned exits have remained at Page 24



80%.  
Achieve at least 80% on all 
outcome records 

Over 80% of outcome records have been 
completed at start of treatment and exit 
(see below for a summary of young 
people’s outcomes) 

The number of youth drug and 
alcohol ASB markers recorded by 
the police 

There were 50 ASB calls in 13/14 with 
youth and alcohol markers, down from 63 
in 12/13. 
There were 39 drug incidents with a youth 
tag markers, up from 33 in 12/13. This is 
police data and not available for Q1. Work 
is underway with Nottinghamshire Police to 
consider this data.  

Harm Reduction 100% of young people were offered a Hep 
B vaccination and a Hep C test. 0% of 
young people accept the offer which is 
lower than the national of 2%, however risk 
is deemed low as there are no injecting 
under 18 year old drug users in treatment 
in Nottingham. 
Furthermore, 100% of young people were 
offered sexual health screening at 
assessment. 

 
In 2013/14 almost half of young people in specialist treatment remained in treatment for up to 12 
weeks (45% in Nottingham, 42% nationally). Just over a third (37%) had previously been in 
structured treatment (23% nationally). Cannabis and alcohol remain the most prevalent substances 
for those presenting to treatment. Approximately a third of those in treatment are female, which is 
similar to the national picture. 59% are in mainstream or alternative education provision and 22% 
are NEET, which is 8% higher than nationally.  
 
The Young People’s Outcome Record looks at improvements in health and wellbeing across 5 
areas: 
• Life satisfaction 
• Feeling worthwhile 
• Anxiety 
• Happiness  
• Getting on well with family/friends 
 
Of those exiting treatment in quarter 1 2014/15 100% demonstrated an improved rating across all 
5 areas with exiting ratings either the same or better than national ratings. 
 
The new treatment service will continue to improve performance and address areas of 
underperformance.  
 
 

2. RISKS                                                                                                                                          
(Risk to the CYPP, risk involved in undertaking the  activity and risk involved in not 
undertaking the activity) 
 
Key risks are mainly related to the recommendations of the review not being delivered. For 
example, if we don’t improve and utilise data we will not get an accurate reflection of this cohort 
and their wider vulnerabilities, resulting in being unable to fully meet their needs. Similar if we don’t 
continue and build on our partnership working across the wider young people’s agenda we will not 
be able to reduce vulnerability collectively. Furthermore, if we don’t continue to implement a wider 
consultation programme with young people we will not be meeting our obligations under Article 12 
of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child which states that children and young 
people have a basic right to have a say and be taken seriously in all matters which affect them and 
requires government organisations to actively engage them in decision making. 
 
Another key risk is the financial risk of reducing funding which may result in young people’s 
substance misuse needs not being met fully. 

 Page 25



 
3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Young People’s Substance Misuse system is jointly funded by Public Health, Police and 
Crime Commissioner and Nottingham City Council (Children and Families). 
 
 This funding pays for specialist substance misuse treatment, a prevention programme and a 
contribution to a young peoples’ dual diagnosis service. 

 
Savings from the public health budget have been identified for three years ending 2016/2017. The 
tendering has enabled saving to contribute to the medium term financial plan. Partnership working 
will need to continue to enable the specialist service to focus on specialist treatment only over the 
next 12 months. 

 
 

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
This report provides an update on the Young People’s Substance Misuse System, the content of 
which raises no legal implications at this time. 
 
Continued development and understanding of the system with a partnership consultation 
programme, will assist in assuring that young people’s substance misuse needs are addressed 
more effectively within the City. 

 
 

5. CLIENT GROUP                                                                                                                       
(Groups of children, young people or carers who are  being discussed in the report) 

 
All children aged under 18 years.  

 
 
6. IMPACT ON EQUALITIES ISSUES                                                                                                

(A brief description on how many minority groups ar e being engaged in the 
proposal and how their needs are being met: This se ction includes traveller and 
refugee families. The themes of the Shadow Boards –  children and young people; 
parents and carers; equalities issues and the volun tary and community sector 
should be considered here. 
 
Equalities were a focus within the review, including particular vulnerable groups and their specific 
needs. An Equality Impact Assessment was completed as part of the tendering of young people’s 
substance misuse.  

 
 

7. OUTCOMES AND PRIORITIES AFFECTED                                                                            
(Briefly state which of the CYPP objectives and pri orities will be affected) 

 
 Reducing substance misuse and its impact on children and young people 

 
 
 
 

8. CONTACT DETAILS 
 
Clare Fox: Strategy and Commissioning Manager 
Tel: 0115 8765711 
clare.fox@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

Page 26



 
 
Title of paper: Barriers faced by Secondary Schools (TVA perspective) 
Report to: Nottingham Children’s Partnership Board 
Date: 18.11.14 
Relevant Director: DCS Wards affected:   
Contact Officer(s) 
and contact details: 

S. Kelly – Head of Academy, Top Valley Academy. 

Other officers who 
have provided input: 

 

 
Relevant Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) ob jectives(s): 
Stronger safeguarding – With a key focus on ensuring that there are high standards of 
safeguarding across all agencies and that the Partnership takes a pro-active approach to 
the elimination of domestic violence. 

 

Healthy living – With a key focus on increasing the proportion of children and young people 
who have a healthy weight. 

 

Reducing substance misuse – Partnership work to lessen the impact on children of 
parental drug and alcohol misuse and to reduce drug and alcohol misuse amongst children 
and young people. 

 

Raising attainment – Raising the attainment levels and increasing engagement in 
employment, education and training. 

X 

Improving attendance – Improving rates of attendance at both Primary and Secondary as 
a key foundation of improving outcomes. 

X 

 
Summary of issues (including benefits to customers/ service users): 
 
Lack of coherence and fragmentation both nationally and locally (school structures /accountability 
framework) 
Continuous state of change (examinations, syllabuses, curriculum) 
Contextual factors (demographic, relative deprivation, white working class, low-aspiration) 
OFSTED: definitions and assumptions (what is a good school?) 
 
 
Recommendations: 
1 Acknowledge the importance of contextual factors 

 
2 Begin to consider a wider definition of what constitutes a ‘good school’ in its local context 

 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



 
 

1. BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS  
(Explanatory detail and background to the recommend ations) 
 
Lack of Coherence and Fragmentation 
Particularly within the last five years, structural system changes (academies, sponsors, free 
schools) have dramatically altered the educational landscape nationally and in particular, in 
the city of Nottingham.  
 
A range of academy sponsors coming into the city (from outside the city), stand-alone 
academies, free schools/ and now NUAST (14-19) has naturally led to greater fragmentation 
and uncertainty. Some of us see a growing and unhealthy sense of local competition for pupil 
numbers, more able pupils and talented staff. At the same time there is an expectation, even 
against this background, that schools should work together collaboratively or in enforced 
multi academy trust arrangements. Central government has increased its challenge to LAs 
(Nottingham) but at the same time it has reduced the LA’s democratic control and its power 
to influence and support schools. With increasing academisation and a reduced budget the 
LA’s capacity to support its schools has also diminished.  
 
Contextual factors 
Demographics : we have a situation where in the same city communities are carved up 
between the City and the County. The county boundary reaches into the City to claim the 
affluent pockets and their schools (affluence v poverty). What is left? Nottingham schools 
serve predominantly the large outer former council estates. 
 
White working class:  low aspiration; lack of educational achievement or tradition in families 
i.e. a lack of value placed on learning; low attendance/poor health outcomes. Improving 
these engrained issues is neither simple nor quick. The solutions to these deep seated 
issues do not lie just with schools.  
 
When we look for best practice models to shape Nottingham’s response to its current 
challenges, we are pointed to London and specifically the impact of the London Challenge: if 
we can replicate the strategies that have transformed the fortunes of London’s schools and 
the outcomes of its pupils, we will be able to turn round our schools. Even this contention 
now is open to doubt. The BBC article referenced here cites two previous reports into the 
success of London students and schools. In June the Department for Education ‘showed 
[London] pupils on free school meals were more likely to go to university than their better-off 
peers outside the capital’ and in July a paper by the Centre Forum think tank said ‘the life 
chances of thousands of children would improve if schools across the country reproduced the 
results gained by poor pupils in London’.  
However, in November 2014, research led by Professor Simon Burgess of Bristol University 
draws a different conclusion: ‘once children’s ethnic background was factored in, the London 
effect in pupil progress was found to disappear… white British pupils tend to achieve the 
lowest GCSE scores against their attainment at the end of primary school, compared with 
those from ethic minority backgrounds…. This group (WB) also makes up just over a third 
(36%) of Year 11 in London, while they make up around 84% of this school year group in the 
rest of England’.  
 
Locally, Top Valley serves a predominantly White British community, where the Index of 
Multiple Deprivation – (IMD) shows the extent of wider contextual factors which perhaps 
explains why a range of public services, including education, underperform. Yet,  to be seen 
to offer contextual explanations, is decried as “low aspiration”. In drawing attention to the 
critical contextual factors in our community Top Valley does not use this knowledge to 
develop an excuse culture for low achievement, it does however, consider this knowledge 
can and should inform the judgements that are made about schools, not as excuses, but as 
an opportunity to remove the ‘blame culture’ dropped onto services that are often 

Page 28



overstretched and under resourced because of the multiple levels of need. A school with 
good attendance for example, (as Top Valley has) should not be considered to be failing 
when the journey to attendance is challenged by so many engrained factors outside of their 
control (MDI - Health Deprivation, Income Deprivation).  
 
 

2. RISKS                                                                                                                                          
(Risk to the CYPP, risk involved in undertaking the  activity and risk involved in not 
undertaking the activity) 
 
83% of students attending the Academy are white British and therefore, given the 
acknowledged national picture of this group’s attainment, it is unlikely that the Academy will 
meet or exceed national expectation (nor will London for this ethnic group). Does this mean 
our students are attending an inadequate learning environment? 

 
3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
None 
 

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

None 
 

5. CLIENT GROUP                                                                                                                       
(Groups of children, young people or carers who are  being discussed in the report) 
 
11-16 City Academy, the report focuses heavily on Y ear 11. 

 
6. IMPACT ON EQUALITIES ISSUES                                                                                                

(A brief description on how many minority groups ar e being engaged in the proposal 
and how their needs are being met: This section inc ludes traveller and refugee 
families. The themes of the Shadow Boards – childre n and young people; parents and 
carers; equalities issues and the voluntary and com munity sector should be 
considered here. 
 
NA 

 
7. OUTCOMES AND PRIORITIES AFFECTED                                                                            

(Briefly state which of the CYPP objectives and pri orities will be affected) 
 

The city is committed to ensuring all school age residents are in receipt of a high quality 
education in a ‘good school’. However, OFSTED judgements such as “Good” or “Requires 
Improvement” are sometimes nothing more than a convenient shorthand to describe a highly 
complex set of factors. Our contention is that the current descriptor for what constitutes a 
“good” school is extremely limited and narrow because OFSTED  refuses to deal with the 
complexity of the contextual factors that exist in all communities and instead measures all 
schools in a single national context. 
 
Whilst the Academy shares this ambition to be good (and eventually outstanding), without 
question, this will not be achieved in isolation unless all of the critical external factors such as 
health, well-being, safety, housing, and material security are fully aligned with education and 
aspiration to that purpose. 
 

Page 29



 
8. CONTACT DETAILS 

 
Sean Kelly – Head of Academy, Top Valley Academy, skelly@topvalleyacademy.org  
 
 

9. SUPPORTING MATERIAL 
 

• TVA Achieving Good Attendance Framework 
• BBC news article ‘diversity key to London GCSE success’ 

 

Page 30



Achieving good attendance
An example approach by

P
age 31



2013-14 Whole School Attendance Impact (incl. PA)

• Whole School Attendance for Half Term 5 is 94.03%.

• PA is 6.06%.

Year group Year to date % PA %

7 95.5 2.21 (3 students)

8 95.4 3.26 (3 students)

9 94.38 3.05 (4 students)

10 93.02 10.22 (14 students, 4 off roll)

11 92.16 12.39 (14 students, 1 off roll)

P
age 32



Key impact measures

• Programme established in 2010 in response to a
historical ‘stubborn 91-2%’er school’ trend.

• 2% increase overtime (2010-14)

• 1.57% increase on previous year.

• Whole school attendance dipped disappointingly
in 2012-13 by approx. ½% (-0.56%)

• Dip mitigated by significant and unusual
levels of illness across the community. The
recovery reflects the sustainability of
improvements over time.

• PA has steadily decreased over 3 years from 14%
to 6.06%.

• Adjusting for dual registration, long term
illness and pupils coming off roll part way
through the year, our PA figure last academic
year would be 5.92% (% below NA).

pre-programme
av.

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

Academy 92 93.3 92.46 94.03

NA 94.3 94.1 94

90.5

91

91.5

92

92.5

93

93.5

94

94.5

3yr programme impact

P
age 33



2013-14 sustained improvements

Characteristic Academy
2013-14 (HT5)

2012-13
NA

2012-13
+/- %

WS 5.97% 5.9% -0.07%

PA 6.06% 6.6% +0.54%

FSM 8.24%

Boys 5.6% 6.3% +0.7%

Girls 6.13% 6.9% +0.77%

SEN 7% 12.1% +5.1%

LAC 6.62%

PP 7.4% 12.8% +5.4%

P
age 34



•High status

•Developed and 
shared

•Outcome driven 
ethos

Principles

•Pupils at Risk

•Structured tiers

•Unique tier 
response (flexible)

Characteristics 

•Challenging

•Incentivising

•Rewarding

Programme 
schematic

•By tier, inclusive of 
every child

•Culture of ‘regular 
daily checking’

Monitoring
•By tier, inclusive of 

every child

•Objective led (data 
doesn’t lie)

•Never in isolation. 

Evaluating

•With all key 
stakeholders

•Formally 
challenging of both 
the school & child

Reviewing
•Were the principles 

adopted?

•Did it lead to rapid 
change?

Principles

Framework process

P
age 35



10 principles for  good attendance

Example principles
1. All children can make progress by staff being Firm, Fair and Friendly.

2. All discussions link good attendance to making good academic
progress.

3. All attendee characteristics contribute to good attendance (no group
or individual can coast or go unnoticed).

4. All children can make progress if they are:
1. Set challenging targets (aspiration)

2. With measurable milestones that are incentivised (motivation).

3. Rewarded for making good progress (value).

5. The schematic must be inclusive of all attendance characteristics (no
one-hat model).

Example principles
6. An overreliance on any one strategy will not sustain improvements.

Not just about what we do, but how we do it (process). How we do it
is judged on impact not activity.

7. Develop response tiers appropriate to the characteristic(s).

8. Ensure monitoring is by child, as well as by group.

9. Develop a evaluative process based on principles of success.

10. Publish reviews that are informative for the future (SIP).

•High status

•Developed and 
shared

•Outcome driven 
ethos

Principles

P
age 36



Example criteria for PAR (Pupils at Risk) due to poor attendance

Tiers Criteria Possible Intervention

Level 4 Attendance between 0-85%
Sig+ drop in attendance

• Governor Attendance Review Board (P1)
• Education Welfare Service 

Level 3 Attendance between 85.01%-87% • Attendance Review Board (P2) 
• CAF 
• Attendance contract 
• Weekly reviews 
• Saturday Detentions 

Level 2 Attendance between 87.01%-90% • Governor Attendance Review Board (P1)
• Parent meeting with AL/identified Staff 
• Weekly student meeting with AL/identified staff 
• Student report and personalised targets 

Level 1 Attendance between 90.01-94.9% • Governor Attendance Review Board (P2)
• Student meeting with HOY/ identified staff 
• Letter and phone call home 
• Home visit 
• Fresh-start
• Specialist input i.e. SENCO

Level 0 Attendance between 94.9-100% • Governor Attendance Review Board (P1)
• Buddying to low attendees
• High profile rewards and incentives
• Encouraged to raise attendance in extra-curricula.

•Pupils at Risk

•Structured tiers

•Unique tier 
response (flexible)

Characteristics 

P
age 37



Whole 
School

Target 
cohort

CHALLENGE

REWARD

INCENTIVE

•Challenging

•Incentivising

•Rewarding

Programme 
schematic

 All targets assume a minimum standard of 1% improvement
(relative progress during monitoring phase).

 Tier reflects the level of challenge and involvement (families,
governors, staff seniority).

 Children with 100% attendance can still be incentivised.
 Learning loss recovered in their time i.e. Saturday Detentions.
 Fines used sparingly: perception of ‘giving-up’.

 Review meetings held with the child, family, senior staff and Chair of
Governors.

 Formal letters home from Chair of Governors & Head of Academy.
 End of year high profile Achievement Evening section for celebration.
 ‘all inclusive wrist bands’ for fun days/trips/non uniform (free for

target winners).
 Academic progress back on track.

 Half-termly attendance assemblies (recognition and praise)
 Meeting targets leads to inclusion in half term lotto draw “you have

to be in it to win it”
 Unique to year groups i.e. Y11 attendance targets linked to Prom.
 High profile termly ‘wheel of fortune’ winners.
 Personalised curriculum where appropriate i.e. Commando Jane's.
 Outlining the link between low attendance and low achievement (by

analysing patterns during formal reviews)

Example responses

P
age 38



•By tier, inclusive of 
every child

•Culture of ‘regular 
daily checking’

Monitoring

ALL
• Weekly

• By tutor and head of 
year

• Registration system

SOME
• Daily

• By attendance lead 
and specialist staff

• Attendance report

FEW

• By session

• By senior leader(s) and 
governor(s)

• Attendance is observed 
and reported (to family)

P
age 39



What?

The ARB is the mechanism to oversee pupils’
academic performance and improve outcomes.

The ARB will regularly review pupils’ grades and
academic performance. Performance issues that
are identified through data analysis will be
subject to review by the ARB.

Pupil performance will be considered by the ARB
on a regular basis, goals set & impact measured.

Why?

New measures – shared accountability &
scrutiny across ALL subjects.

It is all about ACTION in a culture of no blame

Interrogate data, drill down to identify
underperforming individuals/groups

Monitors and evaluates Review Board
accountability

ARB: Academic Review Board

• Subject leader meetings

• Learning walks

• Observations/work scrutiny

• Data collection/moderation

• Pupil voice

• ARB by child 

•Review of progress data

•Review of impact from 
targets

• Update/adjust targets

• What do families 
need to do next?

• What do 
professionals need 
to do next?

• What do students 
need to do next? 
(Review Boards 
vehicle for change)

•Middle/senior 
leadership 
underachievement 
meeting

• Fortnightly, rotating 
year groups ARB Action

MonitorEvaluate

•By tier, inclusive of 
every child

•Objective led (data 
doesn’t lie)

•Never in isolation. 

Evaluating

P
age 40



ARB: Academy Review Board

ARB
Academic Review Board

Chair: Assistant Principal

Attendee: all Senior and Middle Leaders

Achievement Review 
Board

UNDERACHIEVEMENT

Governor Review Board

ATTENDANCE

Governor Review Board

ATTITUDES TO 
LEARNING

Chair:
Head of Academy

Attendees:
Head of Support, Head 
of Early Intervention, 

Family & Child

Review each half term
(unless directed by 

ARB)

Trigger:
-2 sub levels

Chair:
Chair of Governors

Attendees:
Family & Child

+
Panel 1 (P1)
HOA, HOS

Panel 2 (P2)
DP, DHS

Trigger & Panel:
see tier response

Chair:
Chair of Governors

Attendees:
Head of Academy, 
Head of Support, 

Family & Child

Review each term
(unless directed by 

ARB)

Trigger:
See Tier Response)

• The aim of the Board is to eradicate
underachievement by intervening at the
earliest point with a systematic and relentless
approach to personalised improvements.

• Review Board’s work harmoniously between a
overarching review and refer board (ARB:
monitoring and evaluating accountability).
Attendee group stability is critical.

• All Board reviews use four key data sets:
academic progress, attendance & punctuality,
low level behaviour indicators and book
scrutiny (attitudes).

• All Board’s report on the impact of intervention
to ARB within the cycle. On both short term
impact and progress towards long term aims.

• Progress judgment against targets made based
on data outcomes in a no excuse climate.

•By tier, inclusive of 
every child

•Objective led (data 
doesn’t lie)

•Never in isolation. 

Evaluating

P
age 41



•With all key 
stakeholders

•Formally 
challenging of both 
the school & child

Reviewing

Review Boards - Reviews inform change

• Formal Review Boards review the following data sets:

• Academic progress data

• Effort data

• Attendance data (incl. punctuality)

• In-class attitude to learning data (+/- system data, work scrutiny, end of year reports)

• Evaluate specific targets and the relationship to improving achievement.

• Communicating key recommendations and further targets for improvement to:

• The child and their family.

• The Academic Review Board

• The Governing Body (VFM) with an annual summary impact report

• Staff, during briefings to highlight and celebrate individual success

‘don’t wait for a review cycle, to say well done’

• Take accountability for sharing solutions and
success, not problems and barriers.

• Don’t make excuses for not monitoring and
evaluating planning. Improvement is in the
detail.

• Focus on everyone. All of the time.

• Improving a lot of high attenders a little bit
more has more statistical relevance on an
improved overall percentage than a good jump
from one relatively low attending child.

• Do all the basics well: registers, on going
analysis, report cards, tutorials, daily
communication with families.

• See the signs of improvement and celebrate
them (while you can). Some building blocks are
small.

P
age 42



Governor Review Board: ATTENDANCE 

Context

• Last year, we began to trial a Governor Review 
Board for behaviour and attendance.

• This had proven impact and has been extended this 
academic year.

• Two full days have been devoted to meeting with 
pupils and their families where attendance falls 
between 87-90%.

• A total of 20 pupils were seen and reviewed before 
the end of the academic year.

• 50% experienced positive meetings in recognition 
of their increase in attendance from a low starting 
point after HT1. 

Impact Summary: 

 75% showed significant improvement. 

 5 students made no improvement, and we 
know why:

1. Two brothers involved in a house fire.
2. One suffered a viral infection.
3. One friendship group fall out (refused 

to come to school).
4. The programme had no impact on 

one student. 

 70% of students who attended the positive 
meetings continued to show improvement. 

 Of the 3 students that made no 
improvement, 2 had a couple of day’s illness 
with colds and 1 had an asthma attack. 

P
age 43



Strategic intervention: 1% Target for improvement

Context

• Introduced in January 2014. The strategy was 
introduced to help students improve their attendance 
one step at a time. By giving students small increases 
over a short period of time it was felt that they 
wouldn’t see their attendance percentage 
improvement as such a large and unachievable target. 

• The target for half term 3 was based on student’s 
attendance on January 10th 2014. 

• A launch assembly delivered during the first week of 
the new term, 6-10th January 2014.

• A posters campaign was used around the school to 
remind students of the strategy and it was also referred 
to in fortnightly tutor briefings and weekly assemblies. 

• At the February half term break students’ attendance 
was checked against their target and those who had 
achieved their target percentage or above were 
congratulated in the half term reward assemblies.

• Certificates were given to all those who either achieved 
or maintained their attendance. 

Students were given 
stickers detailing their 
attendance (on 10th Jan) 
and their half term target 
to stick onto their 
planners

% meeting target at Spring (s) & Easter (e) ½ term assessment points

Year Spring Easter

7 41.67% 44.03%

8 59.14% 43.48%

9 53.54% 53.13%

10 39.86% 56.93%

11 24.78% 76.11%

WS 43.28% 54.8%

P
age 44



Strategic intervention: Saturday School

Context

• Saturday school was introduced in September 2014.

• There are a number of indicators used to refer students,
including:

• Attitudes to learning, punctuality and attendance issues
(including internal and external truancy).

• 9:00am to 12:00pm on set Saturdays throughout the year.

• Students are spoken to and a confirmation is then sent out to
parents to inform them that their child is required on a set date.

• Students must report to the school reception at 9:00am in their
full school uniform.

• They are set work from their year group curriculum and
supervised by a member of the support team.

• The completed work is passed back to their teachers to form part
of their curriculum resource.

Early intervention and avoidance (overreliance) tactics:

1. Saturday school is used at the final stage following
unsuccessful detentions and other sanctions.

2. At-risk students are pre-warned of the possibility of a referral
to a Saturday school detention.

3. Create awareness of the strategy without being threatening
(it works best as a deterrent)

Sustained improvement
 52% have increased their overall attendance.

 86% have increased their punctuality.

 38% have increased their amount of positive sleuths they
receive.

 48% have decreased the amount of negative sleuths they
receive.

Attendee composition

Year Group Male Female
11 
10 12 2 
9 4 1 
8 1
7 

P
age 45



Strategic intervention: Personalised Curriculum

Context

• Nine Year 11 girls who were involved in the 
Military Ethos Fun & Fitness programme.

• Forming part of the school’s partnership with the 
Commando Joe’s organisation.

• Development of ‘Commando Jane’s’ emerging out 
of the first year 10 cohort to participate in 
Commando Joe’s, and are all now studying in year 
11. 

This initiative had a positive impact on both their 
attendance and academic progress. 

 Attendance for the cohort on average increased from 
90% to 93%.

 A number of students improved their individual 
attendance by 8%.

 All 9 pupils were all off-track against key indicator 5 A*-
C GCSE incl. EM. 

 Currently 7 out of the 9 pupils are predicted to achieve 
5A*-C.

 Average effort for the group across all subjects moving 
from a C to a B grade.

P
age 46



12th November 2014   (http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/education-30002991 ) 

Diversity 'key to London GCSE success' 

By Katherine Sellgren  BBC News education reporter  

 

The success of London's schools has challenged the idea of poorer pupils being likely to 

underperform. 

The high success rate enjoyed by GCSE students in L ondon is explained 
by the higher proportion of ethnic minority pupils in the capital, research 
finds. 

The report says the capital's diversity plays a key role in the "London effect" - 
a term used to describe the high levels of success among its pupils. 

It says London has a low rate of the lowest performing group: white British.  

The Bristol University study assessed GCSE data from 2013 for all pupils in 
state secondary schools in England. 

Researchers at the university's Centre for Market and Public Organisation 
(CMPO) measured each student's GCSE points score across their eight best 

Page 47



subjects, counting an A* as being worth eight points, an A as seven, and so 
on, to one point for a G. 

They also analysed the percentage of people scoring five or more A* to C 
grades at GCSE.  

Students' results were measured against their prior attainment in Key Stage 2 
tests taken at the end of primary school. 

Higher results  

The results indicated that pupils in London's state-funded schools scored 
around eight GCSE grade points higher than those in the rest of the country. 

This is the difference between gaining eight A grades compared with eight Bs, 
or eight Cs compared with eight Ds, the study says. 

However, once children's ethnic background was factored in, the London 
effect in pupil progress was found to disappear, the report concludes. 

White British pupils tend to achieve the lowest GCSE scores against their 
attainment at the end of primary school, compared with those from ethnic 
minority backgrounds, previous CMPO research has found. 

London has more high-performing groups, the study finds  

Page 48



This group also makes up just over a third (36%) of Year 11 (15- and 16-year-
olds) in London, while they make up around 84% of this school year group in 
the rest of England. 

"London simply has a lot higher fraction of high-performing groups and a lot 
lower fraction of low-performing groups, principally White British pupils," the 
study says.  

It says "being a recent immigrant or being of non-White British ethnicity has a 
very substantial positive effect on progress through school" as the children of 
immigrants typically have "high aspirations and ambitions, and place greater 
hopes in the education system than the locals do." 

Researchers also assessed the impact of children of recent immigrants, rather 
than looking at ethnicity, and suggest evidence shows that this also plays a 
part in the London effect. 

In Newcastle, around 12% of the population was born abroad and arrived in 
the UK before 2000, while in London 35% of the population did so. Comparing 
these two cities, there is a difference of around 15 GCSE grade points in pupil 
progress, with London ahead. 

Aspiration and ambition  

Prof Simon Burgess, who carried out the research, said: "We know that ethnic 
minority pupils score more highly in GCSEs relative to their prior attainment 
than white British pupils.  

"London simply has a lot more of these high-achieving pupils and so has a 
higher average GCSE score than the rest of the country. My interpretation of 
these results leads to a focus on pupil aspiration, ambition and engagement.  

Page 49



Pupil aspiration, ambition and engagement is key, says Prof Simon Burgess  

"There is nothing inherently different in the ability of pupils from different ethnic 
backgrounds, but the children of relatively recent immigrants typically have 
greater hopes and expectations of education, and are, on average, more likely 
to be engaged with their school work.  

"This is not by chance of course. A key point about London is its attraction to 
migrants and those aspiring to a better life. 

"The London effect is a very positive thing, and much of the praise for this 
should be given to the pupils and parents of London for creating a successful 
multi-ethnic school system." 

The report is the latest in a number of research papers to analyse the success 
of London's pupils and schools. 

In June, statistics from the Department for Education showed pupils on free 
school meals in inner London were more likely to go to university than their 
better-off peers outside the capital. 

And in July, a paper by the Centre Forum think tank said the life chances of 
thousands of children would improve if schools across the country reproduced 
the results gained by poor pupils in London. 

Page 50



Secondary sector update

Barriers faced by Secondary Schools
(TVA perspective)

Sean Kelly
Head of Academy

P
age 51



• Changing educational landscape (started with BSF: Academies capital programme 
alongside BSF).

• Range of academy sponsors in the city ( and now from outside the city), stand-alone 
academies, free schools/”free choice” and now NUAST (14-19).

• Leading to a fragmented and at times isolated city wide effort to address engrained 
issues for children of Nottingham. 

• Growing and unhealthy sense of local competition even though the sector is not 
judged within a local context but against a national one.

• Direct central government challenge to LAs (Nottingham) coupled with the Authorities 
diminishing capacity to support its schools.

Lack of Coherence and Fragmentation

P
age 52



• National framework used to judge school performance, that does not take account of 
contextual factors (OFSTED).

• Moving now to measure Progress over time, with the same expectation regardless of 
how low someone's starting point may be i.e. the journey for a L3 En a C grade (good 
progress) is at times beyond aspirational when compared to the same expectation of 
a L5 En on entry.

• DFE currently adopt an arbitrary ‘attainment line’ – 40% and/or going backwards from 
the previous year.

• Currently being ‘monitored’ by both HMI and an ‘educational consultant’ on behalf of 
the DFE.

• Both with different interpretations of good progress in a year.

Lack of Coherence and Fragmentation

P
age 53



• Using students’ postcodes we are in a position to look at different aspects of 
deprivation within our small geographical area. 

• Of course, socio-economic disadvantage for pupils is not an ex cuse for low 
achievement. 

• But IMD and its constituent measures of deprivation can contribute to a developed 
picture of barriers facing our young people and their families.

• Although these commonly used measures do not always identify the extent of 
difficulties for individuals.

• They can indicate areas where legitimate collaboration between children service 
partners can take part in a sharp focused manner, to support students’ potential.

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)

P
age 54



Contextual factors

Commonly used measures of deprivation Where the scor e is high Example(s)

Barriers to housing and services There may be issues around
Opportunities to complete work at home

Problems accessing important services (e.g. GP surgeries), leading to delays and absence.

Crime There may be concerns about

Safety – both personal safety of belongings

What pupils are asked/allowed to take home (e.g. mobile computing devices)

Negative influences within the community

Absent parents (imprisoned)

Education, skills and training deprivation There may be issues to consider around

Poor support at home for all forms of work

Low aspiration

Poor parental support for the school

Employment deprivation It can be worth paying attention to

Aspiration – longer term

Parental support and involvement

Other home pressures/instability, including mobility

Health deprivation and disability Schools should be aware of

Pupils acting as carers

Problems with absence

Difficulties with completing work

Poor nutrition and mental health

Income deprivation Schools should be mindful of

Capacity to be involved in optional, costed extras

Clothing and equipment

Longer-term educational aspiration 

Living environment deprivation There may be concerns about

Housing quality and health

Capacity to work at home

Pupils’ safety (e.g. road accidents)

Income deprivation affecting children (IDACI) Children may suffer from

Pressure to not extend their education

Poor housing and opportunities

Negative influences over a range of health and social issues.

P
age 55



Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs)

IMD

Barriers to 
housing and 

services Crime
Education, skills 

and training Employment
Health and 
disability Income

Living
Environment

Pupils % Pupils % Pupils % Pupils % Pupils % Pupils % Pupils % Pupils %
Band A (most deprived) 247 37.9% 0 0.0% 393 60.3% 395 60.6% 148 22.7% 179 27.5% 184 28.2% 1 0.2%
Band B 193 29.6% 12 1.8% 108 16.6% 57 8.7% 266 40.8% 314 48.2% 191 29.3% 5 0.8%
Band C 79 12.1% 2 0.3% 60 9.2% 59 9.0% 96 14.7% 77 11.8% 127 19.5% 78 12.0%
Band D 27 4.1% 129 19.8% 63 9.7% 109 16.7% 67 10.3% 29 4.4% 26 4.0% 53 8.1%
Band E 53 8.1% 149 22.9% 12 1.8% 5 0.8% 61 9.4% 45 6.9% 54 8.3% 157 24.1%
Band F 32 4.9% 107 16.4% 1 0.2% 19 2.9% 6 0.9% 1 0.2% 17 2.6% 111 17.0%
Band G 20 3.1% 144 22.1% 0 0.0% 6 0.9% 6 0.9% 0 0.0% 32 4.9% 112 17.2%
Band H 0 0.0% 98 15.0% 2 0.3% 2 0.3% 1 0.2% 6 0.9% 21 3.2% 76 11.7%
Band I 1 0.2% 4 0.6% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 1 0.2% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 23 3.5%
Band J (least deprived) 0 0.0% 7 1.1% 13 2.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 1 0.2% 0 0.0% 36 5.5%
Areas with no data

Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs) divide England into 32,482 small areas of roughly equal 
population (approximately 1500 people in each area). They are used alongside various Government 
measures, including the deprivation indices used in this report.

P
age 56



IDACI index : Top Valley Academy (all students by postcode)

The Income 
Deprivation Affecting 
Children Index
(IDACI) is an index of 
deprivation used in the 
United Kingdom. The 
index is calculated by 
the Office of the Deputy 
Prime Minister and 
measures in a local 
area the proportion of 
children under the age 
of 16 that live in low 
income households.

Band 7 8 9 10 11

% % % % %

A 1 TO 3248 (MOST DEPRIVED) 31.1 30.1 30.1 28.9 27.0

B 3249 TO 6496 26.1 30.8 33.3 26.6 34.3

C 6497 TO 9745 23.0 18.8 20.4 19.5 18.2

D 9746 TO 12993 8.1 12.0 10.8 9.4 6.6

E 12994 TO 16241 0.6 1.5 0.0 0.8 0.7

F 16242 TO 19489 7.5 6.0 4.3 8.6 8.8

G 19490 TO 22737 1.2 0.0 0.0 2.3 0.7

H 22738 TO 25986 2.5 0.8 1.1 3.9 3.6

I 25987 TO 29234 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

J 29235 TO 32482 (LEAST DEPRIVED) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

P
age 57



Diversity 'key to London 
GCSE success'

The high success rate enjoyed 
by GCSE students in London is 
explained by the higher 
proportion of ethnic minority 
pupils in the capital, research 
finds.

London Challenge 

P
age 58



Diversity 'key to GCSE 
success'

•82% of Y11 are White British.

•56% of the cohort is low ability.

•5A*-C inc. FF B 35%, FF A 
41%

Top Valley Challenge 

P
age 59



• 2013/14 5.9% absence rate

• 2014/15 trend improving

• Y11 1.5% increase on previous 
year – against a national decline 
for this year group.

• NEET 2.7% (3 students) 

• Low excluding 2013/14 4.6% 
(11/12 NA 8.5%) 

• Attainment target 45-50% on track

• En/Ma Progress 60-65% on track

Top Valley Foundation 

Whole 
School

Target 
cohort

CHALLENGE

REWARD

INCENTIVE

Attendance programme

schematic

P
age 60



 
 
Title of paper: Report of the Independent Chair of the Nottingham City Safeguarding 

Children Board (NCSCB) 
Report to: Children’s Partnership Board 
Date: 10th December 2014 
Relevant Director:  Wards affected: All 
Contact Officer(s) 
and contact details: 

Paul Burnett, Independent Chair 
(pr.burnett@btinternet.com) 

Other officers who 
have provided input: 

 

 
Relevant Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) ob jectives(s): 
Stronger safeguarding – With a key focus on ensuring that there are high standards of 
safeguarding across all agencies and that the Partnership takes a pro-active approach to 
the elimination of domestic violence. 

√ 

Healthy living – With a key focus on increasing the proportion of children and young people 
who have a healthy weight. 

 

Reducing substance misuse – Partnership work to lessen the impact on children of 
parental drug and alcohol misuse and to reduce drug and alcohol misuse amongst children 
and young people. 

 

Raising attainment – Raising the attainment levels and increasing engagement in 
employment, education and training. 

 

Improving attendance – Improving rates of attendance at both Primary and Secondary as 
a key foundation of improving outcomes. 

 

 
Summary of issues (including benefits to customers/ service users): 
 
The report has three purposes: 
 
1. To present the NCSCB Annual Report for 2014/14, receive any comments on the report 

from the Children’s Partnership Board (CPB) and ask the CPB to feed into their future 
planning any key issues arising from the report. 

2. To inform strategic leaders of children’s services of work undertaken and key issues 
addressed by the NCSCB that are relevant to the Children’s Partnership or to individual 
members of the Partnership; 

3. To provide an opportunity for the NCSCB and the Children’s Partnership to hold one 
another to account for their contribution to safeguarding children and young people in 
Nottingham. 

The report covers the period January 2014 to November 2014 and sets out recommendations for 
partners’ consideration. 
 
 
Recommendations: 
1 To note and report any comments on the NCSCB Annual Report 2012/13. 
2 To note the report of key developments over the last 10 months in relation to inspections, 

national legislative and policy developments, serious case reviews and changes to local 
safeguarding governance arrangements. 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



3 To consider the areas of future work headlined in this report and the means by which 
continued dialogue between the two Boards might be secured to ensure appropriate 
alignment of activity and continued scrutiny and challenge between the two Boards 
 

 
 

1. BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 
(Explanatory detail and background to the recommend ations) 
 

1.1 The NCSCB and the Children’s Partnership Board arrangements provide for two reports to 
be presented each year by the Independent Chair of the Safeguarding Board of which one is 
the presentation of the LSCB annual report.  This report includes the Annual Report 2013/14.  
The last report to the CPB was presented in November 2013 and the business reporting here 
covers the period from January to November 2014. 
 

1.2 The NCSCB has two statutory functions: to ensure the effectiveness of arrangements to 
safeguard children across the City and; to co-ordinate multi-agency arrangements to protect 
children and young people in Nottingham.  LSCBs are expected to exercise a scrutiny and 
challenge role in assuring themselves of safeguarding effectiveness.   

 
1.3 The NCSCB consists of senior representatives of all the statutory agencies that have a 

responsibility for safeguarding children along with specialist advisers and representatives 
from professional groups and third sector organisations. 
 

1.4 Whilst the Board is responsible for ensuring and co-ordinating safeguarding arrangements it 
is not operationally responsible for safeguarding services nor is it responsible for 
commissioning arrangements.  Working Together 2013 specifically stated that safeguarding 
boards were not responsible for commissioning or operational management.   These 
functions remain the responsibility of the chief officers of participating agencies/organisations 
and other partnership boards such as the CPB.  The role of the NCSCB is primarily one of 
scrutiny and challenge in respect of safeguarding arrangements, provision and impact. 
 

1.5 NCSCB Annual Report 2012/13  
 

1.6 The publication of an annual report by an LSCB is a statutory requirement.  Working 
Together 2013 confirmed this requirement. The main purpose of the annual report is to 
assess the impact of the work we have undertaken in 2013/14 on service quality and 
effectiveness and on outcomes for children, young people and adults in Nottingham City.  
Specifically it evaluates our performance against the priorities that we set in our Business 
Plans 2012/13 and other statutory functions that the LSCB must undertake. 
 

1.7 The Annual Report 2013/14 is attached as appendix 1 to this report. As a result of the closer 
alignment of the NCSCB with the Nottingham City Adult Safeguarding Partnership Board we 
have, for the first time, combined the annual reports.  This decision is under review given the 
fact that Adult Safeguarding Boards will become statutory entities from March 2015 with their 
own annual review framework set out in legislation and guidance.   

Page 62



 
1.8 The Annual Report covers a range of issues including: 

 
• An outline of the local area safeguarding context setting out some core statistical and 

socio-economic profile information; 
• The governance and accountability frameworks within which the Boards operate 

including the relationship between the NCSCB and the Children’s Partnership Board 
and steps that have been taken to clarify inter-relationships between the safeguarding 
boards and the wider partnership geography in the city, such as the Health and Well-
Being Board and the Community Safety Partnership; this part of the annual report also 
sets out attendance at the board, an account of our annual expenditure and an 
analysis of the effectiveness of the Boards; 

• Performance against the Business Plan for 2013/14 that analyses what we did and its 
impact on outcomes in relation to service effectiveness and outcomes for service 
users; this includes outlines of key work undertaken in safeguarding priority areas 
such as: sexual abuse; domestic violence (including the launch of DART); Missing 
Children; Child Sexual Exploitation; PREVENT; Private Fostering; Allegations 
Management; safeguarding policies and procedures; safeguarding training and 
development activity; safeguarding in childcare and early years settings; safeguarding 
in schools and education settings; 

• Specific reports from the Serious Case Review and Child Death Overview sub-groups 
of the Board; 

• An outline of individual partner agency safeguarding performance during 2013/14; 
• A digest of the future challenges facing the Boards including our Business Plan for 

2014/15 
• Analysis of the Board’s quality assurance and performance management work in 

2013/14is set out in relevant sections of the report. 

1.9 The report recognises much positive progress in relation to priorities set in the Business Plan 
2013/14 highlights of which include: work to support the development of the early help 
offer; the introduction of a single assessment framework, threshold protocol and learning 
and development framework as required by Working Together 2013;  further 
developments in work to address children missing and those at risk of child sexual 
exploitation. There has been a strengthening of quality assurance and performance 
management arrangements within the Board extending beyond quantitative data and 
developing a rich mix of multi-agency audits to gauge the quality of safeguarding of 
safeguarding work and the inclusion of front-line staff perspectives in evaluating progress 
and performance. 

 
1.10 Data analysis has revealed a number of important trends that will continue to be the 

focus of the Board’s work in the coming year.  For example: 
 

• an increase in the number of children with child protection plans; 
• referral rates that are higher than our statistical neighbours; 
• drug and alcohol related issues remaining a key concern in safeguarding referrals; 
• an increase in the number of children in care. 

Page 63



 

1.11 The Annual Report also sets out the priorities for action in the current year which have 
been incorporated into the business plan for 2014/15.  Given the timing of the Ofsted 
inspection in the spring of 2014 the NCSCBs business priorities have been significantly 
influenced by the recommendations of that process.  Clearly the areas for improvement 
for the Board itself that are reported on below are key priorities in the current year. W In 
addition the NCSCB will take a role in monitoring and evaluating the performance of the 
local authority and its partners in response to the Ofsted inspection and, indeed, 
inspection undertaken by other inspectorates such as CQC and HMIC which are referred 
to below.  
 

1.12 Key Work and Issues January – November 2014  
 

Inspection 
 

1.13 Since the last NCSCB report to the Children’s Partnership Board Nottingham City has 
experienced the ‘Inspection of services for children in need of help and protection, 
children looked after and care leavers’ which now includes a ‘Review of the effectiveness 
of the local safeguarding children’s board’.  The Children’s Partnership Board has 
received reports on the main part of this inspection. This report focuses on the review of 
the NCSCB. 

 
1.14  An extract from the Ofsted report setting out the outcomes of the review of the NCSCB is 

attached as appendix 2. 
 

1.15 As can be seen from the extract the overall judgement of the NCSCB was ‘Requires 
Improvement’ which matches the judgements of other elements of the inspection 
framework in Nottingham City. This was in  line with our own self-assessment. 

 

1.16 The report recognises a number of strengths that include: 
 

• Effective governance arrangements that are compliant with Working Together 2013; 
• Good levels of attendance and appropriate levels of representation from partners; 
• Good alignment of strategic priorities across partnerships assisted by the work of the 

Safeguarding Assurance Group; 
• Effectiveness of the Independent Chair; 
• Effective relationship and culture of challenge between the NCSCB and the Children’s 

Partnership Board particularly in relation to early help and assessment; 
• Good focus on domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation and missing children; 
• Commitment from partners in sharing responsibility for chairing of sub-groups and 

engaging in work beyond Board level; 
• A focus on learning and improvement including a range of models to review provision 

through the SCR and CDOP sub-groups; 
• Effective undertaking of our SCR functions including robust action planning, tracking of 

progress in implementing review recommendations and auditing to test impact; 
• Effective processes to ensure learning from audits; 
• Targeted and focused multi-agency audit processes that provide robust analysis of 

practice; 
• Effective championing of the Signs of Safety model; 
• Robust plans to improve Section 11 compliance across the partnership; 
• Appropriate range of policies and procedures supported by practice guidance; 

Page 64



• A comprehensive range of training and development activity – though a need to improve 
evaluation of its effectiveness in improving service delivery and outcomes for children and 
young people; 

1.17 The report additionally identifies six areas for improvement as set out in the appendix. 
The NCSCB has formulated an action plan to address these areas for improvement with 
some areas now addressed and others in progress. 
 

1.18 Members of the Children’s Partnership Board will be aware that changes to the Family 
Support Pathway have already been made to ensure specific reference to arrangements 
for children in need.  The new annual report being presented to this meeting has been 
written to address the need for more robust analysis of performance and it would be 
helpful to hear the views of Partnership Board members on whether the report has 
successfully responded to this recommendation. 

 

1.19 Action is being taken to extend the NCSCBs engagement with children and young people 
and a new Engagement Sub-Group has been established to drive forward this agenda.  
This is an area that we believe we need to work together with the Children’s Partnership 
Board to develop more robust arrangements to ensure the child’s voice is heard in our 
business planning and evaluation of performance. 

 

1.20 Steps are already being taken to strengthen the relationship between children and adult 
services in addressing safeguarding issues across families and to better evaluate the 
impact of training and development on safeguarding effectiveness and outcomes for  
children and young people. 

 

1.21 The Independent Chair is scheduled to report to Overview and Scrutiny in January 2015 
to present both the annual report and outline business plan for 2015/16. 

 

1.22 We will ensure that the Children’s Partnership Board continues to receive updates of our 
progress in addressing the areas for improvement identified by Ofsted in future reports. 

 
National Legislative and Policy Context 

 

1.23 My report in November 2013 referred to the new version of Working Together 2013 that 
had been issued by the DfE in April 2013.  It also set out the key strands of work that 
needed to be undertaken as a result of this new framework.  This included: 

 
• Being assured that robust Early Help arrangements are in place – including 

robust information sharing; 
• Publishing a LSCB threshold document; 
• Ensuring a local protocol for assessment is developed and published – led by 

LA, discussed with partners and agreed by LSCB; 
• Review both LSCB arrangements and individual agency responsibilities to 

assure compliance with Working Together 2013 – management of Independent 
Chair 

• Agree local learning and improvement framework 
• Ensure that Child Death Review processes are compliant 

Page 65



 
1.24 Action has been taken to implement all these strands of work.  The Single Assessment 

proposals, LSCB threshold protocol and local learning and improvement framework were 
all completed and in place by April 2014 as required. Their impact is being measured as 
part of our quality assurance and performance management arrangements this year. We 
were confident that Child Death Review processes are compliant and this has been 
confirmed by the Ofsted review. 

 
1.25 Assurance on the effectiveness of Early Help arrangements is an issue that the NCSCB 

needs to address in collaboration with the CPB which is driving the strategy and direction 
of travel for the provision of early help.  We worked closely with the Children’s 
Partnership Board to review the Family Support Pathway, addressing both the need to 
establish the LSCB threshold protocol within the documentation and to address the 
concerns expressed by Ofsted in relation to the thresholds and service responses for 
children in need.  The Ofsted report was complimentary about the work done across the 
two Boards in this respect and our key priority now is to continue to monitor the 
effectiveness of early help together. We have agreed the framework within which we will 
do this. 

 
1.26 A further issue arising from the new Working Together 2013 was the need to review the 

relationship between the NCSCB and other partnership bodies most notably the Health 
and Well-Being Board, the Children’s Partnership and the Community Safety Partnership.  
Work has taken place to address these matters.  The Independent Chair has attended 
two meetings of the Health and Well-Being Executive Group and Board during 2013/14 
and continues to do so in the current year. The Safeguarding Assurance Forum is 
providing an avenue through which to secure strategic co-ordination across the 
partnership geography of the City. 

 
1.27 Regular meetings are also taking place with the Police and Crime Commissioner to 

ensure liaison over business plans for 2014 and beyond. 
 

Serious Case Reviews 
 

1.28 The Serious Case Review referred to in the previous report to the Children’s Partnership 
Board (Child E) has been completed but still not published. The related court case has 
now completed but the inquest has yet to be held.  As stated in my last report action has 
been taken in response to the recommendations including briefing sessions for LSCB 
representatives, IMR commissioners and authors and staff who worked with the child.   

 
1.29 A further Serious Case Review (Child G) was completed in May 2013 but has yet to be 

published since this was awaiting the completion of criminal proceedings.  These are now 
finalised and the review is due to be published shortly. 

 

1.30 A further Serious Case Review has been agreed and has just begun. 
 

1.31 The Serious Case Review Standing Panel continues to monitor action plans arising from 
Serious Case Reviews and good progress has been reported to the Board in this respect. 

Page 66



 
NCSCB Business Plan 2014/15 
 

1.32 The NCSCB and OMG continue to monitor the Business Plan at each meeting.  The 
majority of actions in support of priorities are judged to be on target.  
 

1.33 Given recent media attention to the issue of Child Sexual Exploitation  I thought it 
important to provide information of what the NCSCB has been doing to review its own 
strategy and action plan and to respond to the national reports that have been issued in 
relation to this area of work. 

 

1.34 As CPB members will be aware we have had a cross-authority group responsible for 
formulating and implementing a CSE strategy and action plan since the DfE published 
their national action plan in November 2011.  The group reports to both the NCSCB and 
the LSCB in the County.  The action plan to which the group works targets those areas 
that the national action plan required LSCBs to take accountability and responsibility for.  
Regular reports of progress against the action plan are made to full Board meetings and 
alternate meetings of OMG.  The strategy and plan have been revised as part of the 
annual business planning process each subsequent year. 

 

1.35 Following the publication of the Alexis Jay report into arrangements in Rotherham the 
CSE Cross-Authority Group (CSECAG) has undertaken a review of its action plan 
against the Jay report’s recommendations primarily to assure us that we are addressing 
those issues raised by the review but also to determine whether we need to adapt our 
plans to reflect this learning.  The report of these findings is due to be reported to our 
next cycle of meetings.  Emerging issues from this review are the need to more robustly 
co-ordinate activity through the identification of a CSE co-ordinator in each authority area 
and to secure better partnership working in relation to some strands of activity – most 
likely through the creation of a ‘virtual team’.  In addition there is a need to ensure work 
relating to gang activity is linked more explicitly to our CSE work, that we strengthen the 
reporting of data to monitor prevalence and that we receive better reporting on the quality 
of work undertaken in response to identified cases – both in terms of supporting victims 
and addressing perpetrators.  It has been agreed that we need to provide the Boards 
with better headline data, both quantitative and qualitative, to enable them strategically to 
monitor prevalence, awareness and effectiveness of responses. 
 

1.36 Subsequent to the Alexis Jay report we have seen the publication of a thematic 
inspection undertaken by Ofsted that has similarly identified areas for development 
based on their sample of authority areas inspected.  CSECAG is similarly to undertake a 
review of our action plan in the light of these findings to determine whether there are 
further issues and actions that need to be included in work in the Nottingham City and 
Nottinghamshire areas. 

 

1.37 A peer challenge undertaken by the College of Policing is due to begin in 
Nottinghamshire Police on 1st December 2014 and this too will provide findings against 
which we need to review our existing plans. 

 

1.38 It is important to reiterate the findings of the recent Ofsted inspection in Nottingham City 
that provided primarily positive comments on the work we have been taking forward in 
relation to CSE.  

 
 

Future work  Page 67



 
1.39 The NCSCB and NCASPB hold their annual development day on 23rd January 2015.  It is at 

this meeting that priorities for the Business Plan 2015/18 will be considered.  It would be 
helpful to receive from the CPB any issues that it would wish to be considered as part of this 
process. 

 
2. RISKS    

It is a key responsibility of LSCBs to identify and manage safeguarding risk and this is built 
into the business planning arrangements of the Board.  There are not specific additional risks 
created by this report. 

 
3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The LSCB is funded through contributions from partners.  There are no financial implications 
arising from this report. 

 
4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
None specifically arising from this report. 

 
5. CLIENT GROUP 

 
All children and young people 

 
6. IMPACT ON EQUALITIES ISSUES 

 
The remit of the NCSCB is to be responsible for the effective safeguarding of all children and 
young people in the City and to ensure that the specific needs of individual groups of children 
are addressed particularly where evidence of safeguarding risk has been identified. 

 
7. OUTCOMES AND PRIORITIES AFFECTED 

 
Stronger safeguarding – With a key focus on ensuring that there are high standards of 
safeguarding across all agencies and that the Partnership takes a pro-active approach to the 
elimination of domestic violence 

 
8. CONTACT DETAILS 

 
Paul Burnett 
Independent Chair, Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board and Adult Safeguarding 
Board 
 
pr.burnett@btinternet.com 
 

Page 68



 
APPENDIX 2 

 
Extract from Ofsted Report on Review of the NCSCB 
 
Section 2: The effectiveness of the local safeguard ing children board 
 
The effectiveness of the LSCB requires improvement 
 
Areas for improvement 
 
183. Ensure that the Family Support Pathway clearly identifies arrangements for children in 

need and that this contributes to effective ‘step up’ and ‘step down’ arrangements 
between community and statutory services so that children receive the most appropriate 
level of service according to their needs. 

 
184. Ensure that the 2014–15 Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board 

(NCSCB)Annual Report reflects statutory requirements, in particular that it provides a 
robust analysis of service development and impact across the partnership. 

 
185. Monitor the intervention of adult services with service users who are parents so that the 

Board can be assured that children in these households who require support and 
protection are provided with this in a timely manner. 

 
186. Ensure that the Board hears the voice and experiences of the most vulnerable children 

and that this contributes to the Board’s future effectiveness. 
 
187. Monitor the robustness of evaluation that each agency provides following practitioner’s 

attendance at formal NCSCB training to ensure that training effectively contributes to 
practice improvement. 

 
188. Ensure that elected members are able to directly hear from the independent chair of the 

NCSCB and assure themselves of the effectiveness of partners’ contributions to 
safeguarding children and young people. 

 
Key strengths and weaknesses of the LSCB 
 
189. Governance arrangements of the NCSCB are well established, effective and ensure 

compliance to statutory responsibilities. Attendance by agency representatives is good 
with the large majority of members attending all board meetings, which indicates the 
seriousness and priority that partners give to the NCSCB. No agency has left 
themselves unrepresented where changes in personnel have occurred and all members 
hold sufficiently senior posts within their own agency to deliver on the key priorities of 
the well-developed and targeted NCSCB business plan. Recruitment of lay members 
has been specifically targeted to bolster and support the further engagement of schools 
with the NCSCB, although it is too early to see the impact of this approach. 

 
190. The quarterly Safeguarding Assurance Group of senior strategic leaders, which the 

NCSCB chair attends, ensures that strategic priorities across the partnership are 
aligned, avoid duplication of activity and drive continual improvement. This is an 
effective forum for unblocking barriers and achieving timely solutions.  

Page 69



 
191. In contrast, while the overview and scrutiny function receive a copy of the NCSCB 

annual report, the governance arrangements are not sufficiently robust and the panel do 
not hear directly from the NCSCB independent chair on safeguarding issues or other 
priorities of the NCSCB. 

 
192. The NCSCB independent chair is held in high regard by partners; he brings constructive 

and robust challenge to the Board. He also chairs the Nottingham City Adult 
Safeguarding Partnership Board (NCASPB), which ensures that the profile of children is 
also a focus for agencies that work with vulnerable adults. The NCSCB independent 
chair has a good understanding of the Board’s strengths and areas for development 
and uses his influence to continually drive improvements. While the linkages between 
the children’s and the adults’ Boards have good potential for synchronising service 
development, its full potential remains under-developed. For example, recent data 
analysis suggests that there has been an increase in referrals from adult services to 
children’s social care. However, the NCSCB has not yet assured itself of the quality of 
adult services intervention so that children in such households are actively considered 
and, where necessary, appropriately helped and protected. 

 
193. The NCSCB independent chair attends the Children’s Partnership Board and provides 

effective and appropriate challenge. In particular, the Board has explored the 
effectiveness of early help in terms of supporting children and young people before their 
need escalates to the point when statutory services are required. This was undertaken 
by looking at the number of children with child protection plans, including those who 
have experienced neglect, but who had not had the opportunity to benefit from early 
help. This challenge is beginning to result in increased completion of common 
assessments (CAFs)that are appropriately targeted to all vulnerable children, but the 
impact on children who are subject to child protection plans is not yet evident. 

 
194. The NCSCB provides good focus, supported by sub groups, on domestic abuse, child 

sexual exploitation and missing children. The NCSCB has an increasing focus on 
looked after children. This has led to some improvements such as the ready availability 
of CAMHS services for looked after children. However other issues, such as the 
educational attainment of looked after children remains poor compared with similar 
areas. It recently conducted an audit on looked after children placed outside the area 
and has a working group that considers looked after children who go missing. This 
ensures that the focus on the most vulnerable children is prioritised across the 
partnership, but the effectiveness of this focus is still too variable. 

 
195. NCSCB sub groups are chaired by a range of partners, which demonstrates the 

commitment from the partnership to strong collaborative working. The NCSCB 
independent chair meets them on a bi-monthly basis to ensure that sub groups are 
making progress against agreed action plans. As a result priority activities are 
progressed in a timely manner.  

 
196. The NCSCB is supported by a recently developed Local Learning and Improvement 

Framework, which appropriately co-ordinates learning activity from serious case 
reviews (SCRs), Significant Incident Learning Process (SILPs) audit activity, data 
analysis and local intelligence. Since January 2013, five serious incident notifications 
have been made to Ofsted by Nottingham City. Serious incident notifications are 
managed effectively, with recorded outcomes for all five that have led to SCRs, SILPs, 
single agency reviews or been appropriately managed via the Child Death Overview 
Panel (CDOP). 

 
197. The SCR sub-group appropriately considers the criteria for initiating SCRs and SILPs. 

Partnership rigour given to discussions about the application of the criteria is well 
evidenced and reflects the mature professional relationships that exist locally. SCR 

Page 70



action plans are specific, thorough and have clear timescales for completion. The sub-
group effectively tracks actions to completion. At this point the NCSCB Quality 
Assurance sub-group tests, through dip sample audit, that actions have led to improved 
practice. 

 
198. Learning from audits, SCRs and SILPs informs and updates the core training offered by 

NCSCB, and specific briefings about neglect, learning from SCRs and child sexual 
exploitation have all been run for front line practitioners by the NCSCB. These events 
are supported by the NCSCB Excellence in Safeguarding Practice briefing note which is 
a short, easily accessible document for practitioners. It translates learning from local 
SCRs and SILPs into guidance for good practice on issues such as domestic abuse, 
emotional abuse, distressed young people or those at risk of self-harm, sexual abuse, 
parents that resist engagement with services, and direct work with children who have a 
disability. Although the document is clear, there is no systematic evaluation of its impact 
on practice. 

 
199. Multi-agency themed audits are targeted and provide a robust analysis of practice. 

Recent audits reflect the increasing use of the Signs of Safety mode l that is being 
rolled out across the partnership. This is supporting practitioners to deliver increasing 
consistency and focus on children’s needs. However, multi-agency auditing of partner 
records has stalled. The Board has recognised this and a new multi-agency audit 
framework has been agreed and multi-agency auditing processes re-started at the time 
of the inspection. 

 
200. Robust arrangements are in place to ensure that action plans resulting from Section 11 

audits are monitored through to completion. Year-on-year the NCSCB has seen greater 
compliance and almost all agencies show green on a rag rating of compliance to all 
areas, with few at amber and no red areas. 

 
201. An appropriate range of NCSCB agreed policies and procedures are in place, 

supplemented by comprehensive practice guidance. These are reviewed and updated 
regularly to reflect learning, and further capacity has been secured to ensure continued 
robustness of updating.  

 
202. The current Family Support Pathway that outlines thresholds for partnership intervention 

with families does not yet provide sufficient guidance on arrangements for children in 
need. The NCSCB is aware of this and a current refresh is underway. While this 
document clearly highlights how professionals can escalate their concerns about any 
agency decision making, the NCSCB does not monitor how effectively this is used. 

 
203. The Board has very limited engagement with children, families and the community to 

secure their views in influencing the development of its work and safeguarding practice, 
and this is a shortfall. While a good level of engagement between the NCSCB chair and 
the Youth Council is informing the 2014–15NCSCB business plan, the NCSCB is not 
yet hearing the voice of the most vulnerable children and young people, such as those 
in receipt of safeguarding services or who are looked after. 

 
204. Although the NCSCB provides a range of learning opportunities including formal 

training, agencies have been slow to evaluate the impact of training on individual 
practice. Partners have yet to embed evaluation of training into routine staff skills 
development. It is not evident that the evaluation of training is effectively used 
strategically. 

 
205. The 2012–13 NCSCB annual report is not sufficiently analytical and is overly 

descriptive. Most significantly, it does not present service weaknesses, causes of 
weaknesses and action being taken to address weaknesses, nor provide an evaluation 
of the performance of local services, and this is a significant shortfall. 

Page 71



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ANNUAL REPORT 

2013-14 

Page 72



2 

 

 

FOREWORD FROM THE INDEPENDENT CHAIR 
 

Iampleasedtopresentthe first combined 
AnnualReportfortheNottingham City Safeguarding Children Board 
and Adult Safeguarding Partnership Board.  The combined report 
reflects the fact that we issued our first combined Business Plan in 
2013/14. 

 

PublicationofanannualreportforLSCBsisastatutoryrequirement.Whi
lstitisnotyet 
arequirementtopublishtheannualreportfortheSABwebelievethisisg
oodpracticeandreflectiveofouraimtobeopenandtransparentinourbu
sinessandassessmentofperformance.  Such reports will become 
a requirement of the Care Act 2014. 

 

Thekeypurposeofthereportistoassesstheimpactoftheworkwehaveundertakenin2013/14onserv
icequalityandeffectivenessandon safeguarding 
outcomesforchildren,youngpeopleandadults in Nottingham 
City.SpecificallyitevaluatesourperformanceagainsttheprioritiesthatwesetinourBusinessPlans
2013/14andotherstatutoryfunctionsthattheLSCBinparticularmustundertake. 
 

ThelasttwelvemonthshavewitnessedsomesignificantchangesinthewayweoperateasaBoard.  
At national level Working Together 2013 revised the statutory framework within which LSCBs operate and 
set in train a range of work to ensure our compliance with these new expectations.  The introduction of 
new Ofsted inspection arrangements including formal reviews of LSCB performance has similarly 
impacted on our work with the Safeguarding Children Board being subjected to such a review in February 
2014..  In the Adult Safeguarding arena we have continued to assess the potential impact of the Care Bill 
(now the Care Act 2014) on the Board’s work and to take steps to ensure readiness for the statutory 
arrangements for Boards that will arise from this new legislation in 2015. 
 
At local level we have continued our vigilance in assessing the impact of the financial constraints within 
which partner agencies have operated and the structural and organisational changes that have taken 
place in response to both national reforms (e.g. in the Police and Health Sectors) and local strategies to 
secure efficiencies.  We have in addition continued to consider the implications of major national reviews 
for local safeguarding practice – including the implications of the Winterbourne Review and the Francis 
Report in the adult arena and high profile serious case reviews such as those relating to the deaths of 
Daniel Pelka and Hamzah Khan in the children’s safeguarding arena. 

 

Iampleasedthatthisreportpresentsaconsiderablerangeofsuccessandachievement for the 

Page 73



3 

 

two Boards.  The assessment of our performance also indicates areas for further 
development and improvement, a number of which are driven by the findings of the 
Ofsted review, which have been incorporated into our Business Plan for 2014/15. 

 

IwouldliketotakethisopportunitytothankallBoardmembersandthosewhohaveparticipatedinSu
bgroupsfortheircontinued 
commitmentin2013/14.InadditionIwouldliketothankstafffromacrossourpartnershipsfortheirmo
tivation,enthusiasmand continuedcontributiontokeepingthepeopleofNottinghamsafe. 

 

Safeguardingiseveryone’sbusiness.TheachievementssetoutinthisAnnualReporthavebeenac
hievednotjustbythe two 
SafeguardingBoardsbutbystaffworkingintheagenciesthatformourpartnership.Thefurther 
improvements weseektoachievein 
2014/15willrequirecontinuedcommitmentfromallandIlookforwardtocontinuingtowork 
withyounext year inensuringthat children, youngpeopleandadultsinNottinghamaresafe. 

 

Icommendthisreporttoallourpartneragencies. 
 

 

 

 

PaulBurnett, IndependentChair,Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board and 
Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Partnership Board. 

Page 74



4 

 

 

CONTENTS 

 

Foreword from the Independent Chair 

Chapter 1: Local Area Safeguarding Context 

Chapter 2: Governance and Accountability 

Chapter 3: Business Plan Performance 2013/14 

Chapter 4: Serious Case Reviews and Child Death Overview Report 

Chapter 5: Individual Agency Performance 

Chapter 6: Future Challenges: Our Business Plan for 2014/15 

 

Appendices: 

Appendix 1: Business Plan 2014/15 

Appendix 2: NCSCB Ofsted Review Action Plan 

Appendix 3: CSE Action Plan 2013/14 Report 

Page 75



5 

 

 

CHAPTER 1 

LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CONTEXT 
The Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board (NCSCB) and the Nottingham 
City Adult Safeguarding Partnership Board (NCASPB) serve the City of Nottingham. 

The population of Nottingham at the time covered by this report was around 308,700. 

The number of children and young people aged 0-18 years is was approximately 
62,394 which represents around 20% of the total City population. 

Demographic, social and economic context 

The population is growing and has risen by almost 5000 since the census of 2011. 
International migration (recently from Eastern Europe) and an increase in student 
numbers are the main reasons for the population growth since 2001, together with 
an excess of births over deaths. 

28% of the population are aged 18 to 29 – full-time university students comprise 
about 1 in 8 of the population. 

In the short to medium term, the City is unlikely to follow the national trend of seeing 
large increases in the number of people over retirement age, although the number 
aged 85+ is projected to increase. 

The number of births has risen in recent years although the latest figures show a 
small decline. 

The 2011 Census showed 35% of the population as being from black minority ethnic 
(BME) groups; an increase from 19% in 2001. 

Despite its young age-structure, Nottingham has a higher than average rate of 
people with a limiting long-term illness or disability. 

White ethnic groups have higher rates of long term health problems or disability 
overall, although this varies with age, with some BME groups having higher rates in 
the older age-groups. 

The City gains young adults due to migration, both international and within Britain, 
whilst losing all other age groups - this includes losing families with children as they 
move to the surrounding districts. 

There is a high turnover of population  

Page 76



6 

 

From a social and economic perspective Nottingham is ranked 20th most deprived 
district in England in the 2010 Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD), a relative 
improvement on 7th in the 2004 IMD. 

39.3% of children and 29.1% of people aged 60 and over are affected by income 
deprivation. 

Crime is the Index of Deprivation domain on which Nottingham does worst, followed 
by Education, Skills & Training and Health & Disability. 

Nottingham ranks 346th out of the 354 districts in England in the 2009 Child 
Wellbeing Index - effectively the 9th worst district for Child Well-being in the Country. 

A higher proportion of people aged 16-64 in Nottingham claim some form of benefit 
than regionally and nationally.  

The unemployment rate is lower than the recent peak in March 2012, but remains 
higher than the regional and national average. 

Specific safeguarding context 

Children and Young People 

Approximately 35% of the local authority’s children are living in poverty. 

The proportion of children entitled to free school meals: 

• in primary schools is 32.3% (the national average is 18%) 
• in secondary schools is 29.8% (the national average is 15%) 

45.9% of children and young people are from minority ethnic groups 

Child protection in this area 

At 31 March 2014: 

• 2,713 children had been identified through assessment as being formally in 
need of a specialist children’s service. This was anincrease from 2,207 at 31 
March 2013. 

• 479 children and young people were the subject of a child protection plan. 
This was an increase from 440 at 31 March 2013. 

• 14 children lived in a privately arranged fostering placement. This is a 
reduction from 16 at 31 March 2013. 

Children looked after in this area 

• 584 children are being looked after by the local authority (a rate of 93 per 
10,000 children). This is an increase from 561 (89 per 10,000 children) at 31 
March 2013. Of this number: 

Page 77



7 

 

o 334 (or 57%) live outside the local authority area 

o 74 live in residential children’s homes, of whom 56% live out of the 
authority area 

o six lived in residential special schools and all are out of the authority 
area 

o 415 live with foster families, of whom 65% live out of the authority area 

o five live with parents 

o seven children are unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. 

In the last 12 months:there have been: 

• 42 adoptions 
• 43 children became subject of special guardianship orders 
• 259 children ceased to be looked after, of whom 6.9% subsequently returned 

to be looked after 
• 26 children and young people ceased to be looked after and moved on to 

independent living 
• nine children and young people ceased to be looked after and are now living 

in houses of multiple occupation. 

Vulnerable adults 

Page 78



8 

 

 

CHAPTER 2  

GOVERNANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
The NCSCB and NCASPB have been aligned since March 2012 and since that time 
have had the same Independent Chair, Paul Burnett. The purpose of this was to 
ensure effective coordination of the safeguarding agenda, develop consistency in 
approach and develop efficient ways of working across the boards and all agencies 
working within them.   A specific ambition was to secure a collective approach to 
safeguarding where safeguarding, whether for children or adults, was seen as 
everyone’s business. 

It is important to emphasise that the two Board remain distinct entities with their own 
constitutions, governance and memberships.  This reflects the differing statutory 
status of the Boards. 

The Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board is a statutory body established 
in compliance with The Children Act 2004 (Section 13) and The Local Safeguarding 
Children Boards Regulations 2006.  The work of the Board is governed by Working 
Together 2013 which was issued in March of that year.  A key priority of the NCSCB 
during 2013/14 has been to review and revise its arrangements to secure 
compliance with Working Together 2013 and the outputs and outcomes of this work 
are set out in later in this Annual Report. 

The statutory objectives and functions of LSCBs are set out in Section 14 of the 
Children Act 2004 and are:  

(a)  to coordinate what is done by each person or body represented on the  
Board for the purposes of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children 
in the area; and  

(b)  to ensure the effectiveness of what is done by each such person or body for 
those purposes. 

The key functions of the LSCB as set out in Regulation 5 of the Local Safeguarding 
Children Boards Regulations are as follows:  

• developing policies and procedures for safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children in the area of the authority, including policies and 
procedures in relation to:  
 

(i) the action to be taken where there are concerns about a child’s 
safety or welfare, including thresholds for intervention;  

Page 79



9 

 

(ii) training of persons who work with children or in services affecting 
the safety and welfare of children;  

(iii) recruitment and supervision of persons who work with children;  

(iv) investigation of allegations concerning persons who work with 
children;  

(v) safety and welfare of children who are privately fostered;  

(vi) cooperation with neighbouring children’s services authorities and 
their Board partners;  

• communicating to persons and bodies in the area of the authority the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children, raising their awareness of how 
this can best be done and encouraging them to do so;  

• monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of what is done by the authority 
and their Board partners individually and collectively to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children and advising them on ways to improve; 

• participating in the planning of services for children in the area of the 
authority; and  

• undertaking reviews of serious cases and advising the authority and  
their Board partners on lessons to be learned.  

LSCBs have responsibilities to review child deaths in the areas for which they are 
responsible.  They are also expected to engage in any other activity that facilitates, 
or is conducive to, the achievement of its objectives.  

The role of the Nottingham City Adult Safeguarding Partnership Boar dis to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of vulnerable adults and to ensure that local 
agencies co-operate and work well to achieve this.  At present this is not a statutory 
body but it will become so in April 2015 as a result of the Care Act 2014.  A key 
priority for the NCASPB during 2013/14 has been to remain alert to the changes 
being proposed through this legislation and to take proactive steps to secure 
compliance with statutory expectations as soon as possible.  The Board continues to 
undertake this work in 2014/15. 

The two Boards meet four times a year, each Board meeting comprising a children’s 
board meeting, an adult board meeting and a joint meeting of the two Boards. 

An Operational Management Group (OMG) was established in 2012 following the 
decision to align the two safeguarding boards.  OMG covers business relating to 
children and adult safeguarding.  The OMG is also chaired by Paul Burnett and all 
the chairs of the NCSCB /NCASPB Sub Groups are members of the OMG, both to 
represent their agency and to report on the work of the subgroup. Any agencies 
whoprovide services to children or vulnerable adults with significant involvement in 
safeguarding who not represented through the chairing of sub groups are invited to 
become member of the OMG. All of the sub groups work towards the priorities of the 

Page 80



10 

 

Business Plan and some of them work to both boards, as described in the diagram 
below. 

Page 81



11 

 

 

Page 82



BOARD GOVERNANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY ARRANGEMENTS 20 13/14 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Prevent  

NCSCB / 

NCASPB  

Child Sexual 

Exploitation  

NCSCB  

Missing 

Children 

NCSCB 

 

Domestic 

Violence  

NCSCB / 

NCASPB  

SCR 

Standing 

Panel 

NCSCB / 

NCASPB  

Child Death 

Overview 

Panel   

NCSCB 

 

Quality 

Assurance  

NCSCB / 

NCASPB  

Mental Capacity 

Act / 

Deprivation of 

Liberties  

NCASPB 

 

Training  

NCSCB / 

NCASPB  

 

Cross Authority 

Safeguarding 

Meeting 

 

NCSCB 

 

Joint Board  

 

NCASPB 

 

NCSCB / NCASPB Operational 

Management Group (OMG) 

P
age 83



 

The NCSCB, NCASPB, Operational Management Group and each of the Sub 
Groups have their own Terms of Reference, work plans and reporting expectations. 
Each group is chaired by an agency representative, has multi-agency membership 
and is supported by the NCSCB / NCASPB Business Office where possible.  

The Operational Management Group receives reports from all the sub groups on a 
regular basis and makes a full report to the NCSCB Strategic Board on progress, 
exceptions and risk. 

All constitutions, governance arrangements, memberships and terms of reference 
have been kept under review to secure compliance with Working Together 2013 and 
to pre-empt expectations in the Care Act 2014.  Clearly further work will be required 
during 2014/15 in respect of the Care Act 2014 since further guidance will be issued 
before expectations relating to safeguarding adults boards take effect in April 2015. 

Independent Chair 

The NCSCB and the NCASPB continue to be led by a single independent chair.  
This has been the case since March 2012.  It is a requirement of Working Together 
that the NCSCB appoint an independent chair and we took a local decision to adopt 
the same practice for the NCASPB.  The Care Act 2014 is likely to lead to this being 
a requirement for adult safeguarding boards from April 2015. 

Independent Chair arrangements enable more objective scrutiny and challenge of 
agencies that are members of the Boards and better enable each individual agency 
to be held to account for its safeguarding performance and its contribution to co-
ordinated safeguarding arrangements. 

The Independent Chair is Paul Burnett.  He is a former Director of Children’s 
Services in two local authorities and an experienced independent chair.  During 
2013/14 he chaired four LSCBs and two Adult Safeguarding Boards including those 
in Nottingham City. 

As a result of Working Together 2013 line management arrangements for the 
Independent Chair transferred to the Chief Executive of Nottingham City Council.  To 
reflect this change the Independent Chair now has quarterly performance 
management meetings with the Chief Executive and the Corporate Director for 
Children and Adults.  The independent chair has agreed performance targets that 
are monitored through this meeting.  It also provides an opportunity to address 
strategic issues including the inter-relationships between the safeguarding boards 
and other partnerships. 

In their ‘Inspection of services for children in need of help and  
protection, children looked after and care leavers’ Ofsted commented positively 
about these management arrangements by stating that: 

Page 84



14 

 

‘The Chief Executive has good oversight of the work of the NCSCB. He meets 
regularly with the independent chair of the NCSCB and the DCS and there is good 
evidence of two-way challenge.’ 
 
Membership  
 
The NCSCB and NCASPB membership for 2013 – 14is set out below including the 
attendance levels of constituent members/agencies.  Two lay members were 
appointed to the NCSCB during the year and are playing an active role in the work of 
the Board.  
 

NCSCB Strategic Board Membership / Attendance  
 

Name Organisation Role Attendance  
Paul Burnett  Independent Chair 100% 
Candida Brudenell/ 
Alison Michalska 

Nottingham City Council Corporate Director Children & Families 66% 

Cllr David Mellen Nottingham City Council  Lead Member 66% 
Helen Blackman 
 

Nottingham City Council Director of Childrens Safeguarding, 
Children & Families 

100% 

Supt Helen 
Chamberlain 
(Vice Chair) 

Nottinghamshire Police Head of Public Protection 66% 

Sally Seeley/ 
Teressa Cope 
 

NHSNottinghamCity 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group  

Assistant Director of Quality Governance 
 

100% 

Julie Gardner  Nottinghamshire 
Healthcare NHS Trust 

Associate Director of Safeguarding and 
Social Care 

100% 

Sarah Kirkwood/ 
PhylisBrackenbury 

NottinghamCityCare 
Partnership CIC  

Director of Governance and Nursing 100% 

Dr Stephen Fowlie 
 

Nottingham University 
Hospitals Trust 

Medical Director 100% 

Nigel Hill  Nottinghamshire Probation 
Trust 

Director 
 

100% 

Alastair Mclachlan GP Safeguarding Lead Clinical Commissioning Group  66% 
 

Peter Moyes 
 

Crime and Drugs 
Partnership 

Director Neighbourhood, Crime and 
Justice 

0% 

Tracey Ydlibi Schools - Special Headteacher  - NethergateSchool 66% 
 

Carol Fearria 
 

Schools - Secondary Headteacher – 
NottinghamEmmanuelSchool 

66% 

Sue Hoyland 
 

Schools Headteacher – ForestFieldsPrimary 
School 

33% 

Liz Tinsley NSPCC Service Manager 66% 
 

Karen Moss / Marcia 
Lennon 

CAFCASS Regional Manager 
 
 

100% 

Claire Knowles Legal & Democratic 
Service Directorate 

Nominated Solicitor 
 

Papers Only 

Dorne Collinson/ 
Hayley Frame 
 

Adult and & Children’s 
Safeguarding 

Head of Safeguarding & Quality 
Assurance 

100% 

Page 85



15 

 

Dr Caroline Brown / 
Dr Damian Wood  

NHSNottinghamCity Consultant Paediatrician, Designated 
Doctor for Safeguarding 

66% 

Anne Partington/ 
Yvonne Cherrington 

Children & Families Safeguarding Partnerships Service 
Manager 

100% 

Christen Parker 
 

NCSCB Lay Member NCSCB 66% 

Barbra Coulson 
 

NCSCB Lay Member NCSCB 66% 

 
 

NCASPB Strategic Board Membership / Attendance  
 

Name Organisation Role Attendance  
Paul Burnett 
 

 Independent Chair 100% 

Candida Brudenell/ 
Alison Michalska 
 

Nottingham City Council Corporate Director Children & Families 66% 

Cllr Liversidge/Cllr 
Norris 

Nottingham City Council  Portfolio Holder for Adult Services & 
Health 

66% 

Helen Jones 
Rep sent 
 

Nottingham City Council Director Adult Assessment 100% 

Supt Helen 
Chamberlain 
 

Nottinghamshire Police Head of Public Protection 66% 

Sally Seeley/ 
Teressa Cope 
 

NHSNottinghamCity 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group  

Assistant Director of Quality Governance 
 

100% 

Julie Gardner  Nottinghamshire 
Healthcare NHS Trust 

Associate Director of Safeguarding and 
Social Care 

100% 

Sarah Kirkwood/ 
PhylisBrackenbury 

NottinghamCityCare 
Partnership CIC  

Director of Governance and Nursing 100% 

Dr Stephen Fowlie 
 

Nottingham University 
Hospitals Trust 

Medical Director 100% 

Nigel Hill  Nottinghamshire Probation 
Trust 

Director 
 

100% 

Alastair Mclachlan GP Safeguarding Lead Clinical Commissioning Group  66% 
 

Peter Moyes 
 

Crime and Drugs 
Partnership 

Director Neighbourhood, Crime and 
Justice 

0% 

Karen Moss / Marcia 
Lennon 

CAFCASS Regional Manager 
 
 

100% 

Claire Knowles Legal & Democratic 
Service Directorate 

Nominated Solicitor 
 

Papers Only 

Dorne Collinson/ 
Hayley Frame 
 

Adult and & Children’s 
Safeguarding 

Head of Safeguarding & Quality 
Assurance 

100% 

Dr Caroline Brown / 
Dr Damian Wood  

NHSNottinghamCity Consultant Paediatrician, Designated 
Doctor for Safeguarding 

66% 

Anne Partington/ 
Yvonne Cherrington 

Children & Families Safeguarding Partnerships Service 
Manager 

100% 

Rob Gardiner 
 

Carers Federation Deputy Chief Executive 66% 

Rob Morris 
 

Nottingham University 
Hospitals NHS Trust 

Consultant Physician & Pathway Lead 
Clinician for OP 

33% 

Page 86



16 

 

 

 
 
The NCSCB membership complies with the expectations of Working Together 2013 
in terms of both the representation expected and the levels of seniority that enable 
members to: 
 

• speak for their organisation with authority; 
• commit their organisation on policy and practice matters; and 
• hold their own organisation to account and hold others to account. 

 
In the Ofsted review of the NCSCB in March 2014 inspectors commented that: 
 

‘Governance arrangements of the NCSCB are well established, effective and 
ensure compliance to statutory responsibilities. Attendance by agency 
representatives is good with the large majority of members attending all board 
meetings, which indicates the seriousness and priority that partners give to 
the NCSCB. No agency has left themselves unrepresented where changes in 
personnel have occurred and all members hold sufficiently senior posts within 
their own agency to deliver on the key priorities of the well-developed and 
targeted NCSCB business plan. Recruitment of lay members has been 
specifically targeted to bolster and support the further engagement of schools 
with the NCSCB, although it is too early to see the impact of this approach.’ 

 
The continued commitment of partners at times of significant change and re-
organisation provides strong evidence of cross-agency commitment to safeguarding. 
 
Attendance at the NCASPB has similarly been strong.  The membership of the 
NCSASPB has been kept under review as the passage of the Care Bill, now the 
Care Act 2014, has clarified proposals about the future statutory status and 
expectations of adult safeguarding boards.  Clearly further guidance will be issued 
during 2014/15 and the membership and operation of the NCASPB will be kept 
under constant review as requirements become clearer. 
 
The Lead Member 
 
The NCSCB Lead Member continues to be Councillor David Mellen, the  
portfolio holder for Children’s Services, who has been a regular attendee  
and contributor at the NCSCB Strategic Board, providing consistent political  
support and challenge to the board. He chairs the Children’s Partnership Board and 
provides support to the inter-relationship and cross-scrutiny and challenge between 
the two Boards.  This has been particularly helpful in managing the development of 
the Assessment Framework, Threshold Protocol (which is incorporated into the 

Page 87



17 

 

Family Support Strategy) and the Learning and Improvement framework –to which 
both Boards have made a contribution. 
 
The Lead Members for Adult Services have similarly been active members of the 
NCASPB.  Councillor Dave Liversidge and Councillor Alex Norris have held the lead 
role for adult services during 2013/14 and both have attended Board meetings 
regularly.  Councillor Norris was also chair of the Health and Well-Being Board and 
this has assisted in the development of the relationship between the safeguarding 
boards and the Health and Wellbeing Board as set out below. 
 
Budget 
 
To function effectively the NCSCB and NCASPB needs to be supported by member 
organisations with adequate and reliable resources. Contributions from the three key 
agencies (Nottingham City Council, Nottinghamshire Police and  
NHS Nottingham City CCG on behalf of all health trusts) were agreed for 2013/14.  
 
The NCSCB Business Office resources are spilt between both boards with each 
having a dedicated Board Officer, a shared Service Manager, Training Coordinator 
and administration. The budgets for both boards have also been amalgamated.  
 
The total budget to support NCSCB / NCASPB activity in 2012/13 was  
£369,307. Partner agency contribution was made up as follows:  
 
Nottingham City Council    £116,426   29.2%  
Health      £232,476   58.2%  
Education (via Schools Forum)  £30,000   7.5%  
Police      £17,019   4.3%  
Probation     £2,836   0.7%  
Cafcass     £550    0.1%  
Total       £399,307  
3.35 Budget allocation for both NCSCB and NCASPB 2013 – 14 were:  
 
Staffing Costs     £160, 000  
Independent Chair     £30, 000  
Lay Members     £2, 000  
Training      £10, 000  
SCIMT      £122, 000  
Communications & Publicity   £5, 000  
Participation Strategy    £5, 000  
 
Additional costs included the development of Policy, Procedures and  
Practice Guidance, Serious Case Reviews and Publicity / Communications are 
agreed as required. 

Page 88



18 

 

 
Relationships with other Partnership bodies 

To maximise their effectiveness, specifically in relation to their scrutiny and challenge 
roles, the NCSCB and NCASPB have developed robust protocols and arrangements 
to secure effective inter-relationships with other key partnership bodies including 
One Nottingham, the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Children’s Partnership Board 
and a range of other key partnership groups.  A diagram illustrating the inter-
relationships between these bodies is set out on the next page. 

In their ‘Inspection of services for children in need of help and protection, children 
looked after and care leavers’ Ofsted commented positively about these 
management arrangements by stating that: 

‘The strategic and governance framework between partners is well developed.  
There are clear links between One Nottingham, the Children’s Partnership  
Board, the Health and Well-being Board, Nottingham City Safeguarding 
Children’s Board (NCSCB) and the Corporate Parenting Board, with robust 
reporting arrangements in place.’ 
 

Page 89



I

 

ONE NOTTINGHAM 

NOTTINGHAM CITY 

SAFEGUARDING 

CHILDREN BOARD 

NOTTINGHAM CITY 

ADULTS 

SAFEGUARDING 

PARTNERSHIP 

CHILDREN’S 

PARTNERSHIP BOARD 
HEALTH AND 

WELLBEING 

BOARD 

CRIME AND DRUGS 

PARTNERSHIP 

 

YOT BOARD 

CORPORATE 

PARENTING BOARD 

 

 

Reporting Line 

Challenge/Scrutiny Line 

P
age 90



 

Safeguarding Assurance Group 

Strategic co-ordination across the partnership geography of Nottingham City is driven through the 
Safeguarding Assurance Group.  This group comprises the Chairs of all the key partnerships 
together with the Corporate Director for Children and Adults and key officers. The Group was 
established to enable discussion of key safeguarding matters in the City and to determine how 
these would be addressed through the various partnership bodies.  An important priority was to 
secure clarity in the roles and responsibilities of each partnership body in improving safeguarding 
in the city, to secure coherence and co-ordination in this activity and to avoid duplication. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board was established in shadow form in 2011 and became a formal 
committee of the City Council in April 2013.  It leads and advises on work to improve the health 
and wellbeing of the population of Nottingham City and specifically to reduce health inequalities. 
The Board is responsible for agreeing the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Health 
and Social Care, agreeing a statutory Health and Wellbeing Strategy and promoting the 
integration of health and social care services for the benefit of patients and service users.  

 

In Nottingham City we have agreed the need for a robust inter-relationship between the Health 
and Wellbeing Board and the two safeguarding boards based on reciprocal scrutiny and 
challenge.  Clearly the safeguarding boards will wish to be assured that the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy appropriately reflects and supports the achievement of safeguarding priorities for the city 
as set out in the annual safeguarding board business plans.  Equally the safeguarding boards 
need to recognise the outcomes of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and the priorities set in 
the annual Health and Wellbeing Strategy when formulating their annual business plan. 

The opportunities presented by a formal working relationship between the Nottingham City Health 
and Wellbeing Board and the NCSCB and NCASPB can be summarised as follows: 
 

• Securing an integrated approach to the JSNA, ensuring comprehensive  
safeguarding data analysis in the JSNA, in line with Working Together guidance  

• Aligning the work of the NCSCB and NCASPB business plan with the HWB Strategy 
and related priority setting. 

• Ensuring safeguarding is ‘’everyone’s business’’, reflected in the public health 
agenda and related determinant of health policies and strategies.  

• Evaluating the impact of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy on safeguarding 
outcomes, and of safeguarding on wider determinants of health outcomes 

• Identifying coordinated approach to performance management, transformational 
change and commissioning  

• Cross Board scrutiny and challenge and ‘’holding to account’’: the Wellbeing Board 
for embedding safeguarding, and the Safeguarding Boards for overall performance 
and contribution to the HWB Strategy. 

 

In order to secure the opportunities identified above we have agreed that the following 
arrangements would be put in place to ensure effective co-ordination and coherence in the work 
of the three Boards. 

Page 91



 

 
1. Between September and November each year the Independent Chair of the two 

Safeguarding Boards would present to the Health and Wellbeing Board their Annual 
Reports outlining performance against Business Plan objectives in the previous financial 
year.  This would be supplemented by a position statement on the Boards’ performance in 
the current financial year.  This would provide the opportunity for the Health and Wellbeing 
Board to scrutinise and challenge the performance of the Boards, to draw across data to 
be included in the JSNA and to reflect on key issues that may need to be incorporated in 
the refresh of the Oxfordshire Health and Well-Being Strategy. 
 

2. Between October and February the Health and Wellbeing Board to present to the 
safeguarding boards the review of the Health and Welbeing Strategy, the refreshed JSNA 
and the proposed priorities and objectives for the refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
to enable the safeguarding boards to scrutinise and challenge performance of the Health 
and Well-Being Board and to ensure that their refreshed Business Plans appropriately 
reflect relevant priorities set in the refreshed Health and Wellbeing Commissioning 
Strategy. 

 
3. In April/May the Boards will share their refreshed Plans for the coming financial year to 

ensure co-ordination and coherence. 
 

These arrangements have been put in place for the first time during 2013/14 and will be reviewed 
when the annual reporting process takes place during 2014/15. 

The Children’s Partnership Board 

The Nottingham Children’s Partnership Board (CPB) formulate, implement and review the 
Nottingham Children and Young People’s Plan and the services provided to all children and 
young people in the city. The partnership has remained the key mechanism to support all 
partners to work together to deliver a joined up vision for children, young people and families, 
through the Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP), which has been sustained despite the 
change in legislation removing the statutory functions of this board. The plan sets out the 
collaborative work programme and priorities across all partners responsible for providing services 
to children, young people and families. All partners are accountable for the delivery of its 
priorities, objectives and specified targets. The Children's Partnership directs the required 
integrated working, joint planning, commissioning and resource allocation to achieve this. This 
focus on collective, co-ordinated working is key driver for the need for a robust and rigorous 
relationship between the NCSCB and the CPB. 

As in the case of the Health and Wellbeing Board there are arrangements in place to secure an 
effective relationship between the NCSCB and the CPB.  The Independent Chair of the 
safeguarding board attends the CPB twice a year to report to the CPB on the work of the NCSCB 
and the work of the partner agencies in safeguarding children. The Chair also presents the 
NCSCB Annual Report to the Children’s Trust. The Independent Chair receives all minutes, 
agendas and papers for all meetings of the Trust and can make representation on matters 
arising.  

These arrangements are reciprocated by the fact that the Chair of the CPB, Councillor Mellen, 
sits as an observer in his capacity as lead member for children and young people on the NCSCB.  

Page 92



 

Additionally the Corporate Director for Children and Adults also sits on both bodies. This enables 
reporting from the CPB to the NCSCB in relation to the formulation and review of the Children 
and Young People’s Plan and its impact.  Stronger safeguarding remains a key strategic priority 
in this Plan. 

A key area on which the two Boards have collaborated this year has been the review of 
thresholds triggered by Working Together 2013 which required the NCSCB to issue a threshold 
protocol.  In Nottingham City this is incorporated within the Family Support Pathway – this is 
referred to in more detail later in this annual report. 

Looking Forward  

In setting our Business Plan for 2014/15 we have elected to draw together our work to improve 
the effectiveness and impact of the Board under the heading ‘Safeguarding is Everyone’s 
Business’.  This is set out as Priority 1 in our Business Plan and includes actions to improve the 
effectiveness of the Board, strengthen its influence with other partnerships and ensure its ability 
to secure and evidence impact. 

The key outcomes sought are to: 

• Ensure Boards’ and partner agency compliance with Working Together 2013 (WT13) and 

the Care Act. 

• Ensure full agency compliance in Section 11 and SAF Audit processes. 

• Ensure that the Board, OMG and Subgroups: 

a.  have appropriate and regular attendance rates, 

b.  have capacity to deliver Business Plan expectations 

• Ensure the Board drives partnerships and partner agencies to own, prioritise, 

resource, improve and positively impact on safeguarding. 

• Ensure the Board receives management information to evidence, scrutinise and 

challenge performance so that it knows the safeguarding strengths and weaknesses of 

agencies, both individually and collectively, and the safeguarding outcomes for service 

users. 

• Secure the effective implementation of new practice guidance issued in 2014. 

• Implement the Information Sharing Protocol. 

• Ensure that safeguarding roles and responsibilities and outcomes are explicit in the 

commissioning, contracting, delivery, monitoring and review of services. 

• Ensure that the ‘voice’ of children, young people, adults and practitioners is heard 

and acted on across all priorities. 

 

These are set out in the Business Plan at appendix 1 together with the means by which 
performance against these goals will be tested.

Page 93



 

 

CHAPTER 3: 

BUSINESS PLAN PERFORMANCE 2013/14 
The Business Plan for 2013/14 was the first integrated plan for the NCSCB and NCASPB.  

We identified four priorities for our work over the period 2013/17 which were:  
 

• To ensure effective coordination of multi-agency safeguarding services for children, young 
people and vulnerable adults and deliver a robust governance system for the NCSCB / 
NCASPB that is able to respond to local and national developments in safeguarding as 
required. 

 
• To monitor the development of early help for children, young people and vulnerable adults 

and quality assure the effectiveness of this.  
 

• To continually improve multi-agency work to safeguard and protect children, young people, 
and adults and drive excellence in the system. 

 
• To embed a learning system within the NCSCB and NCASPB and quality assure these 

within partner agencies. 
 

In addition we had flagged the need to be ready to respond to local and national developments 
given the publication of Working Together 2013 in March 2013 (after the Business Plan was first 
formulated), emerging messages about the impact of the Care Bill (now the Care Act 2014) on 
the statutory position of adult safeguarding board and the likely introduction of a new Ofsted 
framework during the year.  Each of these did impact on the work of the Boards in 2013/14 and 
the actions taken in response are included in this account of our Business Plan performance. 

BUSINESS PLAN PRIORITY 1 

To ensure effective coordination of multi-agency sa feguarding services for children, 
young people and vulnerable adults and deliver a ro bust governance system for the 
NCSCB / NCASPB that is able to respond to local and  national developments in 
safeguarding as required. 
 
What we planned  
 
Implementation of Working Together 2013 and the Care Bill/Act 2014 
 
Assurance that actions arising from Eileen Munro’s Action Plan are in place and being 
implemented across the partnership 
 

Page 94



 

Ensure Sexual Abuse is effectively managed by partner agencies, including the Identification & 
management of Sexual Abuse and Child Sexual Exploitation. 
 
To strengthen inter-agency working and recognise domestic violence as a priority safeguarding 
concern.  For work in this area to consider issued of sexual violence, forced marriage, FGM and 
trafficking 
 
Ensure safeguarding practice and processes are in place for children, young people and 
vulnerable adults who:  
 

- Go missing from home  
- Go missing from school 

 
To work to a Code of Practice and Safeguarding Procedures that are up to date and fit for 
purpose  
Assurance that risks associated with self-directed support and personal health budgets have 
been identified and support for the safe management of these is in place. 
 
Assurance that all commissioning of services for children, young people and vulnerable adults 
includes robust arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, young people 
and vulnerable adults. 
 
Review and evaluate governance arrangements. 
 
Be assured that children, young people and vulnerable are involved in decisions made about 
them and care planning process. 
 
Raise awareness of safeguarding issues and the responsibilities of the  
NCSCB / NCSAPB partner agencies and the wider community in safeguarding 
 
Effective information sharing across all NCSCB / NCASPB Business 
 
What we did  
 
Working Together 2013 
 
The Boards’ constitutions and the OMG and Sub-Groups terms of reference have all been 
reviewed and revised to ensure that they are Working Together 2013 compliant, Care Bill ready 
and best placed to secure improved ways of working as identified at our Development Day in 
January 2013.   

With regard to Working Together 2013 the NCSCB has undertaken extensive work to produce a 
Threshold Protocol and Learning and Improvement Framework and to scrutinise that challenge 
the local authorities new Assessment Framework as required.  All three documents were 
produced and agreed to the deadline of March 2014 and will be rigorously monitored in terms of 
impact as part of our quality assurance and performance management arrangements in 2014/15. 

Page 95



 

The LSCB Threshold Document is incorporated within the Family Support Strategy as it has 
always been.  A number of revisions were made to the existing framework however, most 
particularly to clarify thresholds and expected service responses for those children deemed 
‘children in need’ under Section 17 of the Children Act.  There had been concern that this specific 
part of the threshold and service continuum had not been clear and this was reflected in 
comments made by inspectors in March 2014.  The Family Support Strategy has been revised to 
address this matter and to ensure all elements of Working Together 2013 are incorporated. 

The Care Bill/Act 

Throughout 2013/14 the NCASPB has tracked the potential implications of the Care Bill (now the 
Care Act 2014) specifically in relation to its proposals to place Safeguarding Adults Boards on a 
statutory footing and to set out expectations relating to their constitution and operational 
frameworks. 

At the time of writing this Annual Report there is still no absolute clarity about the statutory 
frameworks and regulations under which adult safeguarding boards will operate.  As a proxy 
measure of effectiveness the Board undertook a self-assessment of its effectiveness against the 
‘Top Ten Tips’ included in the ADASS document entitled ‘Safeguarding Adults: Advice and 
Guidance for Directors of Adult Social Services’ that was issued in March 2013.  This was 
included as part of our Development Day in January 2014.  In addition the Board has reviewed 
both its membership and its terms of reference in line with information that has been available. 

Assurance that actions arising from Eileen Munro’s Action Plan are in place and being 
implemented across the partnership 
 

The revision of the Board’s Quality Assurance and Performance Framework to extend reporting 
beyond quantitative data to a range of qualitative performance information was a key means of 
reflecting the recommendations of the Munro report to focus on quality of work across the 
safeguarding partnership. 

During 2013/14 the NCSCB reviewed and updated the process by which the audits are 
undertaken, whilst maintaining a commitment to the process. This review was in part a response 
to concerns that had been raised by the health sector in relation to information governance.These 
concerns did lead to some delay in the implementation of the multi-agency audit programme 
which was reflected in comments in the Ofsted inspection. However, agreement to the revised 
audit approach did enable the programme to proceed.  Partner agencies have committed 
significant resources to the NCSCB Multi Agency Audit process to ensure a robust process is 
implemented that is compliant with all legislation, policy and procedures. The NCSCB Business 
Office has supported all parts of the process. 

The 4 audits undertaken in during 2013 / 14 focused on: 
 

• Domestic Violence 
• Children in care placed in external residential placements.  
• Quality of Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPCs) 
• Early help and the quality of CAF assessments.  

 

Page 96



 

The outcomes of the fourth of these audits were not reported at the time this annual report was 
written since it only completed in June 2014.   
 
The outcomes of the first three are set out in the impact section below. 
 
Ensure Sexual Abuse is effectively managed by partner agencies, including the Identification & 
management of Sexual Abuse and Child Sexual Exploitation. 
 
Policy and practice guidance on responding to and tackling sexual abuse was reviewed and 
revised alongside the family of policy and practice guidance documents that were revised and re-
issued in the wake of the publication of Working Together 2013.  The new policies and guidance 
are available on the NCSCB website. 
 
Child Sexual Exploitation has been a key priority for the NCSCB since the publication of the DfE 
National Action Plan on CSE issued in November 2011.  In recognition of the priority placed on 
this work a cross-authority sub-group has been in place with Detective Inspector from 
Nottinghamshire Police as its chair. 

There are sixteen members of the group from the following organisations: 

Nottinghamshire Police (Sexual Exploitation Investigation Unit) 
Nottinghamshire Police (Children in Care) 
NSPCC 
Nottinghamshire Safeguarding Children Board 
Nottinghamshire Children, Families & Cultural Services 
Nottinghamshire County Families and Cultural Services (Social Work) 
Nottinghamshire County Targeted Support & Youth Justice Services 
Nottinghamshire County Health Partnerships 
Nottingham City Children’s Safeguarding Board 
Nottingham City Schools & Education Safeguarding 
Nottingham City Care Partnership 
Nottingham City Children’s Social Care 
Nottingham City Family Community Teams 
 

The aim of the sub-group is to meet the LSCB responsibilities outlined in the National Tackling 
Child Sexual Exploitation Action Plan (December 2011).The group meets on a three monthly 
basis and has been very well attended. 
 
Key objectives during 2013/14 have been to: 
 
1. Establish a training working group to: 

a) Develop a training programme which is suitable for use across the agencies 
b) Identify which agencies and groups of workers need to have training & who will deliver it 
c) Specifically identify how to engage with school staff & governors 
d) Identify mechanisms for rolling out training 

 
2. Identify how to engage with young people  

Page 97



 

3. Identify how to minimise the risks facing looked after children living in residential homes 

4. Identify the proliferation of CSE within girls in gangs 

5. Map the levels of CSE and related data within the Police, City & County to include: 

a) Referral data related to Police & Local Authorities 
b) Outputs 
c) Cross reference to missing children & other related data. 

6. Work towards the establishment of a cross-authority co-located multi-agency team with: 

a) LSCB support 
b) Standard operating protocols  
c)  Establish who will be partners 

7. Develop improved working practises between agencies to strengthen investigations and 
prosecutions. 

8. NSPCC Seminar to be held again in November 2013 

9. Develop engagement with communities for the to be involved in the awareness and prevention 
of CSE 

These issues have formed the key focus of the work of the group and progress made is set out in 
the ‘impact’ section below. 

To strengthen inter-agency working and recognise domestic violence as a priority safeguarding 
concern.  For work in this area to consider issued of sexual violence, forced marriage, FGM and 
trafficking 
 
The Domestic and Sexual Violence Strategy Group has reported regularly to OMG throughout 
2013/14 and there has been more robust monitoring and evaluation of performance data 
emerging from this and its supporting groups to enable the safeguarding boards to monitor levels 
of domestic abuse and the effectiveness of responses both in relation to victims and perpetrators. 
 
The key priorities of the group this year have been: 
 

• To ensure effective coordination of multi-agency safeguarding services for children, 
young people and vulnerable adults; deliver a robust governance system for the NCSCB 
/ NCASPB that is able to respond to local and national developments in safeguarding as 
required. 

• To embed a learning system within the NCSCB and NCASPB and quality assure these 
within partner agencies 

 
Key work undertaken during 2013/14 has included:  
 
1. Analysis and review of Domestic and Sexual violence data reporting 
2. Development of the Domestic Homicide Review Assurance and Learning Implementation 

Group  
3. Ongoing quality assurance of Domestic and Sexual Violence Sub Groups  

Page 98



 

4. Overview of awareness raising and domestic and sexual violence campaigns across 
Nottingham City  

5. Receive feedback from the Safer Nottingham Board and Nottinghamshire County Reviews 
 
The impact of the work is set out later in this report. 
 
Ensure safeguarding practice and processes are in place for children, young people and 
vulnerable adults who:  
 

- Go missing from home  
- Go missing from school 
- Go missing from care 

 
Work to address the ‘Missing’ agenda in the children’s arena has been led by the Missing 
Children Task and Delivery Group. 
 
The overall aim of the group is to contribute to the safeguarding of children who go missing in 
Nottingham City by ensuring the development, implementation and review of effective 
arrangements across partner agencies, within the context of the national strategy to reduce the 
number of children and vulnerable adults who go missing from home or care – Missing Children 
and Adults – A Cross Government Strategy, 2011. 
 
The role and functions of the group are: 
 
• To quality assure the work being undertaken in relation to missing children in Nottingham 

City, identify gaps in service provision and propose action to address these. 
• To receive and interrogate data regarding missing children and identify an appropriate forum 

to ensure children are safeguarded. 
• To performance manage the Missing Children Service. 
• To identify and report trends in relation to missing children. 
• To benchmark data against other local authorities. 
• To identify barriers to good practice. 
• To identify trends in relation to missing children. 
• To identify resource issues. 
• To brief group members in relation to research findings/ best practice. 
• To direct activity of sub groups. 
• To recognise the relationship between missing children and child sexual exploitation and to 

maintain close working links with the CSE Cross Authority Group. 
• To take a strategic lead in the co-ordination of children who go missing from home and 

school. 
• Scrutinise performance taking a robust approach to data collation and analysis to   inform 

practice 
 
Work undertaken during 2013/14 included: 
 

Page 99



 

• The development of robust systems for the effective management and tracking of missing 
children  

• Monthly meetings with the Police and the County to discusses the top 5 repeat multiple 
missing young people in each local authority to quality assure the interventions. 

• Ensuring robust systems are in place for the management and tracking of children missing 
from Nottingham City local authority care. 

• Ensuring timely notifications of missing episodes by Police to Nottingham City 
• Implementing robust systems for the management and tracking of children missing from 

Nottingham City LAC placed out of the City 
• Ensuring systems for the management and tracking of children missing from home service 

that has resulted in 100% completion of return interviews where one is assessed as 
required 

• Securing partnership working with social care to improve the recording of return interviews 
with children who are open to them.  

 
The impact of this work is set out in the ‘Impact’ section below. 
 
To work to Codes of Practice and Safeguarding Procedures which are up to date and ‘fit for 
purpose’. 
In the light of Working Together 2013 it was agreed that we should undertake a comprehensive 
review of our safeguarding policies and practice guidance.  This was undertaken and completed 
during 2013/14 and the outcomes are set out in the ‘Impact’ section below. 
 
Assurance that risks associated with self-directed support and personal health budgets have 
been identified and support for the safe management of these is in place. 
 
Adult Social Care has joined the ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ programme led by ADASS and 
the Local Government Association. The purpose is to develop an outcomes focussed, person 
centred approach to safeguarding. The aim will be to: 
 

• Ensure that citizens referred for services define the outcomes they want as a result of the 
safeguarding intervention (or outcomes that are defined through Best Interest 
Assessments or with representatives or advocates if people lack capacity) 

• Measure and evidence the amount of citizens whose expressed outcomes are fully or 
partly met. 

 
In addition steps are being taken to ensure that there are appropriate ‘checks and balances’ in 
place to ensure that where people have personal budgets and self-directed support are 
appropriately enabled to safeguard themselves and be safeguarded by those providing their 
services. 
 
Assurance that all commissioning of services for children, young people and vulnerable adults 
includes robust arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, young people 
and vulnerable adults. 

Page 100



 

There has been considerable work undertaken this year to work with the Health and Well-Being 
Board and with individual commissioners at ensuring that there are robust and effective 
mechanisms in place to secure effective safeguarding through commissioning. This has been set 
in the context of the ‘Think Family’ concept whereby safeguarding needs are understood in the 
wider family and community context. 
 
Specifically the NCASPB has received regular reporting on the action taken by relevant partner 
agencies in response to the Winterbourne View and Francis Reports to provide assurance that 
appropriate and robust action has been taken to address the learning arising and the 
expectations of services set out by Government. 
 
There has similarly been specific focus in the NCASPB on the quality of care and safeguarding in 
residential care and nursing homes some of which have caused concern in terms of safeguarding 
performance, particularly those that have featured in SCRs and SILPs.   CQC has engaged in 
these discussions and has attended NCASPB meetings to contribute to the planning and 
developments to improve performance in this area. 
 
Review and evaluate governance arrangements. 
 
Three specific strands of activity were undertaken this year to ensure governance arrangements 
remain strong and robust particularly at a time of legislative change. 
 
First, the annual development day included a session to review the aligned governance 
arrangements that had been put in place to better co-ordinate the work of the NCSCB and the 
NCASPB. 
 
Second, a self-assessment against the new Ofsted framework in preparation for the inspection 
that took place in March 2014 included consideration of how well the NCSCB governance 
matched the requirements and expectations of Working Together 2013. 
 
Third, a self-assessment of the NCASPBs ability to meet the emerging requirements of the Care 
Bill/Act was undertaken to test projected compliance. 
 
Be assured that children, young people and vulnerable are involved in decisions made about 
them and care planning process. 
 
The NCSCB secures assurance in this area of work from the annual reporting of the IRO service.  
This is set out in detail in the section on ‘Business Priority 2’ later in this report. 
 
Raise awareness of safeguarding issues and the responsibilities of the  
NCSCB / NCSAPB partner agencies and the wider community in safeguarding 
 
 A new communication strategy was developed during 2013/14 but the actions arising from this 
have yet to be rolled out and are a key feature of the Business Plan for 2013/14. 
 

Page 101



 

In addition the Training and Development Programme is a key means of disseminating key 
messages particularly those from learning processes such as SCRs, SILPs and other forms of 
review and audit.  The Training and Development Programme is covered in greater detail under 
the section entitle ‘Business Plan Priority 4’ below. 
 
Effective information sharing across all NCSCB / NCASPB Business 
 
The information sharing protocol was reviewed and revised as part of the wider review of policy 
and practice guidance mentioned above. 
 
What has been the impact  
 
Working Together 
 
All the requirements of Working Together 2013 have been acted on and arrangements put in 
place by the expected deadlines including the publication of the assessment framework, 
threshold protocol and learning and improvement framework.  Since these were all approved in 
March 2014 their impact cannot be assessed as part of this annual report.  However, monitoring 
and evaluation of the impact of all three arrangements is integrated into our quality assurance 
and performance management arrangements for 2014/15. 
 
In terms of overall governance Ofsted commented that Governance arrangements of the NCSCB 
were well established, effective and ensured compliance to statutory responsibilities. 
 
Ofsted also commented positively on the early impact of the Learning and Improvement 
Framework as follows: 

‘The NCSCB is supported by a recently developed Local Learning and  
Improvement Framework, which appropriately co-ordinates learning activity  
from serious case reviews (SCRs), Significant Incident Learning Process (SILPs) audit 
activity, data analysis and local intelligence. Since January 2013, five serious incident 
notifications have been made to Ofsted by Nottingham City. Serious incident notifications 
are managed effectively, with recorded outcomes for all five that have led to SCRs, SILPs, 
single agency reviews or been appropriately managed via the Child Death Overview Panel 
(CDOP).’ 

 
The Care Bill/Act 
 
As set out above the NCASPB has assessed its readiness for the Care Act 2014 against the 
ADASS ‘Top Ten Tips’ framework but little change has yet been implemented since further 
information is yet to be published by the Department of Health before we can have absolute 
clarity about expectations. 
 
Assurance that actions arising from Eileen Munro’s Action Plan are in place and being 
implemented across the partnership 
 

Page 102



 

We have used the multi-agency audit processes to test effectiveness in this domain. 
 
A number of general points arose from the multi-agency audit processes as follows: 
 

• There was evidence in all audits undertaken of proactive multi-agency information sharing 
and of agencies working together in the majority of cases.   

 
• There was however mixed evidence in relation to the impact of early intervention and the 

use of CAF in a number of the cases. This coincided with lack of knowledge of the Family 
Support Strategy & Pathway and which agency / practitioner should take responsibility for 
initiating / leading this work. This is also a feature within a recent Serious Case Review 
completed by NCSCB.  These findings also resonated with some of the conclusions 
reached by Ofsed in their inspection in March 2014. 
 

• The quality of assessments, recording and understanding of risk varied across the cases. 
 
Action plans arising from each audit have been developed. It is evident that several actions are 
already being addressed via other quality assurance processes, such as the learning arising from 
serious care reviews and the children in care project.  
 
There were also some specific issues arising from the multi-agency audit programme as follows: 
 
Domestic Abuse Multi-Agency Audit 
 
This audit identified a number of strengths. There was evidence of good communication between 
agencies, and professionals demonstrated confidence in challenge and used escalation 
processes effectively. In one case, a routine enquiry about Domestic Violence led to disclosure 
and subsequent interventions. This demonstrated the value of routine enquiry. In another case, 
safeguarding processes were timely including early strategy discussion and a discharge planning 
meeting be held.  
 
The audits highlighted the complexity of domestic violence and its potential impact on agencies’ 
ability to work positively to protect children. There was evidence of perpetrators being 
manipulative in relation to agency involvement, which attempted to divert the focus away from the 
safeguarding concerns. Particular care was required when using interpreters to ensure that the 
perpetrator did not manipulate that service. In addition, there was evidence of an over optimistic 
view of family members ability to protect in cases of domestic abuse.  
 
The impact of additional vulnerabilities in relation to learning difficulties, substance use, language 
and age was evident from the audits and it was recognised that these factors must be considered 
in all risk assessments.   
 
Children in Care in Private Residential Establishments 
 

Page 103



 

Again this audit identified a number of strengths and some areas for development. There was 
evidence of regular consultations held with CAMHS and in one case there was evidence of a 
good package of support for the young person emotional wellbeing including YOT, CAMHS and 
substance misuse services. Preventative work completed by the Family Community Teams and 
Targeted Support Team was found to be of a high standard and there was evidence of a through 
CAF being completed.  
 
In addition, there was evidence of identifying the need to place children outside of Nottingham 
City as a result of safeguarding needs. In both cases, these decisions were reviewed 
appropriately and regularly and in the case of one child, a return to Nottingham was sought and 
secured in a timely manner once the safeguarding issues were addressed.  
 
With regard to areas for development, there was a lack of evidence of a full assessment being 
undertaken and used to understand the children’s support needs in care and to match them 
individually to the private residential placements. Assessments were not reviewed following 
admission to care and there was evidence in one case of health assessments not being 
completed in a timely way.  
 
The audits found that regular, formal information sharing between the private residential 
establishments and Nottingham City Council (both Social Workers and the Placement Team) is 
essential, particularly in relation to behaviour management (including models and use of restraint) 
and safeguarding issues. This should be clearly recorded in the young person’s file.  
 
The importance of health assessments and support, particularly when children are living away 
from Nottingham City, was highlighted, with the need to ensure health agencies are informed of 
the placement in timely way.  
 
Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPCs) 
 
The audit focusing on the quality of ICPCs included the development of a  specific process and 
bespoke tools to measure effectiveness against the following standards:  
 

• The threshold for ICPC  
• Appropriate agencies being invited and attending   
• The timescale between section 47 enquiries being initiated and ICPC being held  
• Multi-agency sharing of information 
• Participation of child / family 
• Child focused and considering individual children in the family separately  
• Decision making regarding child protection plan, the evidence for this decision and agency 

agreement.  
• Appropriate outline Child Protection Plan, involving all agencies and the family 
• Appropriate recommendations that are SMART and outcomes focused 
• Identification of contingency plans  
• The timescale of the first Core Group, inclusion of appropriate agencies and presence of a 

full child protection plan. 

Page 104



 

 
The audit found that timescales for child protection processes and ICPCs were generally adhered 
to, strategy discussions were held between Police and Social Care and ICPCs were quorate, with 
a broad variety of appropriate agencies invited and attending. Further development of strategy 
discussions to include health colleagues was identified within the audits.  
 
The threshold for ICPC was met in all cases and the children became subject to plan in all cases.  
 
No children attended the ICPCs audited, generally because they were either too young or the 
conference related to an unborn child. However, where the children were old enough, which was 
in 3 of the 10 cases, there was no explanation recorded as to whether they were invited or not. 
There was very little evidence of the consideration of children requiring advocacy support and 
services. In the majority of cases the mother or father attended the conference and in 3 cases, 
both parents did. There was evidence that further consideration of the management of ICPCs 
when domestic violence is a factor and the perpetrator attends would be beneficial and ensure 
that the survivor is able to contribute fully and risk appropriately assessed.   
 
Social Workers attended all ICPCs and on a number of occasions, both the team responsible for 
bringing the case to conference and the team responsible for work going forward were in 
attendance, providing a robust handover and understanding of the case. For those ICPCs 
considering unborn babies, it would be useful to have both the midwife and the health visitor in 
attendance at the ICPC and the Core Group to ensure information is known to both agencies. 
There was no GP attendance at any of the ICPCs sampled. It was not always clear whether they 
were invited, if they sent apologies and how information will be fed back to them. The recording of 
ICPC’s did not make it clear which agencies / individuals were invited, whether apologies were 
sent and which agencies submitted reports. 
 
In those cases where the IRO started the conference by asking the parents why they thought the 
meeting had been called, this resulted in a positive discussion about the potential safeguarding 
risks present for the children. Signs of Safety was used in 4 ICPCs and provided good evidence 
for all agencies views of the specific risks and protective factors. 
 
Religion was not recorded for any of the children in any agency records and there was little 
evidence in the ICPC minutes directly addressing the individual needs of the child(ren) in relation 
ethnicity, gender, disability. 
 
Social Care records and ICPC minutes show evidence of discussing the assessments, the 
outcome of ICPCs and safeguarding risks with parents. However it was found that reports from 
social care were often not available until the day before the ICPC and were not always shared 
with parents beforehand. Further exploration of partner agencies role within these discussions 
would support the development of robust, multi agency, safeguarding interventions. Following the 
ICPC, it is not evident that it is routine practice for the Social Worker to visit the parents / children 
to confirm the decisions of the ICPC to ensure they understood the issues and their role in the 
Child Protection Plan. 
 

Page 105



 

Ensure Sexual Abuse is effectively managed by partner agencies, including the Identification & 
management of Sexual Abuse and Child Sexual Exploitation. 

 

To reflect the importance of this area of work the CSE Action Plan has been included as 
appendix 3 to present a detailed account of progress that has been made against key priorities. 

Some challenge has presented to the sub-group by the fact that it is cross authority sub-group 
and reports into two LSCBs.  This has caused difficulty at times in the progression of the action 
plan as a result of the differing needs of the two boards.  Reporting to the two boards has risked 
delay in decision making for the group and support for recommendations.  The working 
timescales of both boards can work differently at times and again this causes difficulty when we 
are trying to progress actions consistently across the board.  These are matters that are being 
addressed through the creation of a cross-authority strategic group that will operate in 2013/14. 
 
It is evident over the last year that referrals relating to organised CSE have decreased which is 
recognised in the data held by both Police and Children’s Social Care.  Service delivery has 
improved due to a closer working relationship between the Police, Children’s Social Care and the 
Local Authority.   There is better link up in relation to information sharing.  Awareness of CSE has 
vastly improved due to the training events set up by the group and the productions of the theatre 
project to schools. 
 
There is certainly an increased awareness of CSE around the City and request for information 
are increasing by the day.  The group has also received a number of requests for presentations 
around CSE to various organisations.  This is a clear indication that the word is spreading and 
interest increasing.  This does rise and fall with any media coverage of CSE cases which recently 
have been low. 
 
Since the creation of CSECAG in January 2012 considerable work has been completed around 
the action plan and the priorities areas of work have been completed or are ongoing.  The 
awareness training for professionals is now set within safeguarding training and we are looking to 
provide assessment to see if we are reaching the target audience.   
The theatre production of LUVU2 is of great credit to the group in these times of austerity but 
critical in providing support to children and young people.  The support of both Boards around this 
item has been well received and allowed us to progress the full production to all schools with the 
City Authority this year.  This will probably be the last time that LUVU2 is employed for 
awareness input to children. 
 
The development of both the Practitioners Group and the Concerns Network from CSECAG is a 
major step in the improvement of multi-agency working for CSE and will develop further to the 
possibility of co-located teams.  The virtual team process is also being developed as an interim 
measure. 
The agreement to appoint CSE Coordinators is also a major step forward in allowing the 
centralisation of recorded data around CSE.  At present this work is being undertaken by the 
Police and shared to other organisations.  The role of the coordinator will enhance this process 
and develop the production of relevant data for monitoring the extent of CSE within the City. 
 
The action plan is constantly reviewed to include any recommendations from the number of 
reports around CSE to make sure that it is current and appropriate and the work is necessary in 
the overall picture for CSE. 
 

Page 106



 

To strengthen inter-agency working and recognise domestic violence as a priority safeguarding 
concern.  For work in this area to consider issued of sexual violence, forced marriage, FGM and 
trafficking 
 
The Domestic and Sexual Violence Strategy Group held a development eventto review the 
purpose and function of the group to ensure that the agenda continues to move forward.  As a 
result of this, an action plan was been developed and additional sub groups are to be 
established. 
 
The Ofsted inspection of Nottingham City highlighted good practice and partnership working in 
relation to the MARAC and DART. 
 
A Joint Commissioning Group has been established to look at the future commissioning 
arrangements in relation to the Domestic Abuse agenda. 
 
Domestic and Sexual Violence Data 
 

Cumulative Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
2012/13 23 47 91 126 147 170 195 225 267 297 331 359
2013/14 24 55 92 140 161 193 218 243 275

+/- Target (12/13) 1 8 1 14 14 23 23 18 8
% +/- Target 4.3% 17.0% 1.1% 11.1% 9.5% 13.5% 11.8% 8.0% 3.0%

Cumulative Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
2012/13 9 20 43 58 66 81 95 118 141 159 175 191
2013/14 11 25 40 72 81 103 117 131 150

+/- Target (12/13) 2 5 -3 14 15 22 22 13 9
% +/- Target 22.2% 25.0% -7.0% 24.1% 22.7% 27.2% 23% 11% 6%

Cumulative Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
2012/13 14 27 48 68 81 89 100 107 126 138 156 168
2013/14 13 30 52 68 80 90 101 112 125

+/- Target (12/13) -1 3 4 0 -1 1 1 5 -1
% +/- Target -7.1% 11.1% 8.3% 0.0% -1.2% 1.1% 1.0% 4.7% -0.8%

Sexual Violence Offences

Sexual Assault

Rape

 
 
There were 275 Sexual Violence Offences recorded which shows an increase of 8 more 
offences. However the increase has declined since September from 13.5% to 3%. 
 
Sexual Assaults indicate a 6% increase of 150 offences which is 9 more than last year. 
 
Rape and Attempted Rape show 125 being reported from April to December which is one fewer 
than last year. 
 

Cumulative Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
2012/13 940 1981 2986 4058 5071 6007 6892 7827 8822 9824 10736 11745
2013/14 991 2067 3195 4498 5719 6771 7741 8727 9837

+/- Target (2012/13) 51 86 209 440 648 764 849 900 1015
% +/- Target 5.4% 4.3% 7.0% 10.8% 12.8% 12.7% 12.3% 11.5% 11.5%

Domestic Incident Calls to the Police

 
 
Domestic Violence Calls, Crimes and Detections have seen significant increases in April to 
December 2013/14. 
 

Page 107



 

2 1 3

1 1 1 44 18 9 2 76

2 1 5 21 7 1 37

1 2 2 8 15 5 1 34

4 1 8 5 10 14 2 2 1 47

2 2 1 5 7 2 12 11 1 43

1 1 1 2 1 1 3 1 11

1 1 1 2 5 1 1 12

0

2 5 1 1 6 1 16

6 1 1 1 1 10

3 3 1 7

2 2 2 3 3 2 2 1 1 1 19

1 1 1 1 2 2 1 9

2 1 1 4

1 1 3 5

2 18 16 12 7 6 2 2 7 79 67 53 34 16 8 4

Offender

Female Male

16
-1

7

16
-1

7

25
-3

1

32
-3

8

39
-4

5

46
-5

2

60
+

M
al

e

S
ur

vi
vo

r

16-17

F
em

al
e

39-45
46-52
53-59
60+

46-52
53-59

18
-2

4

25-31
32-38

16-17

46
-5

2

60
+

53
-5

9

18-24

18
-2

4

25
-3

1

32
-3

8

39
-4

5

Survivor Offender 
Relationship by 
Gender and Age

53
-5

9

60+

18-24
25-31
32-38
39-45

 
 
The most common survivor/offender demographic for Domestic Violence between partners 
continues to be male offenders aged 18-24 against female survivors aged 18-24. 
 
Aspley continues to be the Ward with the highest level of reported Domestic Violence Calls and 
Crimes; however, a 6% reduction has been seen in the volume of reported Domestic Violence 
crimes in the Ward.  
 
Aspley may be showing a reduction in repeats due to the Aspley Project (50K home office 
funding for Equation to deliver prevention work in the area, led by Mark Andrews from 
Nottingham City Council, Children’s Services). 
 
The two Wollaton Wards have consistently shown the lowest volume of Domestic Violence Calls 
and Crimes in the Division. Dunkirk and Lenton has also seen a comparably low volume of 
reported Domestic Violence Crimes. 
 
All Wards, with the exception of Arboretum, Bridge, Clifton North, Dunkirk and Lenton, Wollaton 
West and Wollaton East and Lenton Abbey, have seen increases in reported Domestic Violence 
Calls when compared to the same period the previous year.  
 
Dunkirk and Lenton and Aspley have seen reductions in Domestic Violence Crimes, where the 
volume of Calls has remained stable or also seen a reduction. The level of reported Domestic 
Violence Crimes in Clifton North has remained static. 
 
Domestic Violence Crimes figures have reduced in the City Centre. 57.03% of these Crimes were 
reported as being connected to the Night Time Economy (73 crimes). 
 
Ensure safeguarding practice and processes are in place for children, young people and 
vulnerable adults who:  
 

- Go missing from home  
- Go missing from school 
- Go missing from care 

 

Page 108



 

We have continued to develop our performance data so that we can identify whether or not 
repeat missing incidents are reducing. We have continued to focus on high profile LAC and 
scrutinise specific placement types to enable full analysis or conclusions to be drawn, for 
example about where children are more likely to run away from or whether or not being in or out 
of the County is relevant 
 
Achievements to date include: 
 

• A developing performance framework and a 70% increase in return interviews of 
children known to services. 

• 100% return interviews of children not known 
• Strong partnership working to safeguard 
• CAF initiation in families where further support has been identified 
• Robust sub group activity to ensure compliance across the services in keeping 

children safe 
• Initial agreement from the Police to place a Missing Co-ordinator with the Missing 

team at Loxley House. 
 
Further improvements identified include: 
 

• Ensuring that social workers complete the return interviews in a timely fashion; 
• Ensuring that the data system is aligned within Carefirst so that it is possible to report on 

missing children and produce performance reports that can flag concerns and success. 
 
The data from October –March 2013/14 compared with the same period 2012/13 shows a 27.8% 
rise in missing episodes and 10.1% rise in numbers of children who have gone missing.  There 
has been a large increase; however this may be explained to some degree by better reporting 
and data capture.  Broadly speaking there is little evidence of improving trends in relation to 
missing children. 
 
Given the evidence from research on the risks and negative outcomes associated with missing 
children this picture suggests that much more needs to be done both in terms of policy and 
practice to tackle the issue of young people going missing. 
 
There is a need for focused family interventions to reduce running away.Research has 
highlighted the strong links between family experiences and running away. This has firmly 
identified running away as a response to family difficulties (in contrast to the earlier tendency in 
US research to seek individual psychological explanations for running away behaviour).  
In particular it suggests the need for targeted support for young people who are experiencing 
family change, and are living in high conflict and/or low warmth family environments. Where more 
than one of these factors coexist, the likelihood of running away is very much higher than 
average. A preventative strategy around running away needs to address these key, running away 
should be seen as a trigger for early intervention. 
 

Page 109



 

Research has also significantly strengthened the case for running away to be seen as a trigger 
for an early intervention in young people’s lives. A previous history of going missing is associated 
with significantly lower than average current levels of well-being. This is important because it 
indicates that running away is not just a temporary issue – young people who run away 
repeatedly are young people who have ongoing negative experiences in their families, with their 
friends, at school and in their lives in general.  
Previous research has shown that these types of findings hold true even for young people who 
may only have ever run away once or twice and did not stay away overnight. It is important 
therefore that professionals view any incident of running away, however time-limited, as an 
indicator of potential longer-term harm. 
 
Clearly all of the above must be seen in terms of LAC children and those who remain at home. I 
believe it shows that our response to first time missing is a significant opportunity to engage and 
make a difference. 
 
To work to a Code of Practice and Safeguarding Procedures that are up to date and fit for 
purpose  
As mentioned earlier in this report a comprehensive review and revision of Board policies and 
practice guidance was undertaken in 2013/14 and the new frameworks were all issued in April 
2014. 
 
Assurance that risks associated with self-directed support and personal health budgets have 
been identified and support for the safe management of these is in place. 
 
This is covered under ‘Business Priority 2’ later in this report. 
 
Assurance that all commissioning of services for children, young people and vulnerable adults 
includes robust arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, young people 
and vulnerable adults. 
 
The Board has received assurance that steps taken in Nottingham City to address the post-
Winterbourne View and post-Francis Report expectations in relation to safeguarding have been 
taken and have proven effective. These positions continue to be monitored. 
 
Review and evaluate governance arrangements. 
 
As set out earlier in this report Ofsted commented positively on the governance arrangements 
that are in place for the NCSCB. 
 
The NCASPB arrangements were self-assessed to place us in a strong position to implement the 
requirements of the Care Act 2014 but we have yet to see detailed guidance to enable us to 
complete our assessment and put in place any actions that require attention. 
 
Be assured that children, young people and vulnerable are involved in decisions made about 
them and care planning process. 
 

Page 110



 

This is covered under ‘Business Priority 2’ below. 
 
Raise awareness of safeguarding issues and the responsibilities of the  
NCSCB / NCSAPB partner agencies and the wider community in safeguarding 
 
This is covered under ‘Business Priority 4’ later in this report. 
 
Effective information sharing across all NCSCB / NCASPB Business 
 
The review of the information sharing protocol was completed and the impact of this will be 
monitored and evaluated during 2014/15 
 
What do we need to do in the future?  
 
Working Together 
 
The key priority for 2014/15 is to monitor and evaluate the impact of the new Working Together 
2013 arrangements most particularly the impact of the assessment framework, the threshold 
protocol and learning and improvement framework. 
 
In addition the NCSCB has formulated an action plan to address the areas for improvement 
identified in the Ofsted review of the LSCB and this will be a key focus in our quality assurance 
and performance management arrangements. 
 
The Care Bill/Act 
 
A key priority in our Business Plan for 2014/14 is to implement the expectations of the Care Act 
2014 most specifically in relation to its requirements of Safeguarding Adults Boards. 
 
Ensure Sexual Abuse is effectively managed by partner agencies, including the Identification & 
management of Sexual Abuse and Child Sexual Exploitation. 
 
Consideration will be given to amalgamating the CSE Sub-Group with the Missing sub-group .  
This has been proposed recently by the OMG but the initial thought is that it will make the group 
too large and inefficient.  One thought is to join the two groups but create a separate City and 
County sub-group of CSE/Missing.  This would assist in the alleviating the differences with the 
two LSCBs detailed above in point 6. 
 
To strengthen inter-agency working and recognise domestic violence as a priority safeguarding 
concern.  For work in this area to consider issued of sexual violence, forced marriage, FGM and 
trafficking 
 
Areas of work to be taken forward in 2014/15 include 
 
• Health Group 

 

Page 111



 

The CCG have proposed that the IRIS project is Citywide and extended 
 

• LCJB Update 
 
The Domestic Violence Protection Orders and Domestic Abuse Disclosure scheme 
(Clare’s Law) will be implemented nationally 
 

• Childrens Group 
 
The Integrated Care Pathways will be commissioned and services will be mapped against 
these pathways. 

• Voluntary Sector Group 
 
Police and Crime Commissioner will be commissioning the medium risk plus research.  For 
a period of 18 months the University of Leicester will be looking at the best national and 
local practice; they will focus on assessment and response tools and delivery. 
 

• MARAC Steering Group 
 

MARAC will now run all day in order to review complex cases. There are approximately 
18-20 cases and outcomes monitored and actions completed. 

 
Ensure safeguarding practice and processes are in place for children, young people and 
vulnerable adults who:  
 

- Go missing from home  
- Go missing from school 
- Go missing from care 

 
Priorities set for 2014/15 include: 
 
• Establishing robust systems for the management and tracking of children missing from 

Nottingham City LA care. 
• Implementation of the new guidance from the DFE that was released in January 2014. To 

develop an independent process in the return interviews that satisfy the new guidance for 
them to be completed by someone who is independent of case management. 

• Supporting and developing practice with the aim of reducing the number of missing 
episodes and harm to young people.  Ensuring children and young people’s voices are 
heard voice is heard. 

• Establishing an auditing programme that will enable us to quality assure the engagement 
within the return interview and associated processes and whether or not it has helped to 
support the young person to stop running away and resolve any problems. This will inform 
and identify what training is required and where. 

• Developing a service satisfaction process through which the voice of young people are 
captured and implement service improvements based on feedback  

 
To work to a Code of Practice and Safeguarding Procedures that are up to date and fit for 
purpose  

Page 112



 

During 2014/15 we need to monitor and evaluate the impact of the revised policies and practice 
guidance through our Quality Assurance and Performance Management framework. 
 
Assurance that risks associated with self-directed support and personal health budgets have 
been identified and support for the safe management of these is in place. 
 
This will be monitored and evaluated within our Quality Assurance and Performance 
Management framework during 2014/15 
 
Assurance that all commissioning of services for children, young people and vulnerable adults 
includes robust arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, young people 
and vulnerable adults. 
 
The NCASPB will continue to monitor performance against Government expectations in relation 
to the Winterbourne View and Francis Reports. 
 
The NCASPB will also develop a means of securing assurance of improvements of safeguarding 
performance in residential care and nursing homes through its quality assurance and 
performance management arrangements. 
 
Review and evaluate governance arrangements. 
 
The key focus in 2014/15 will be reviewing and evaluating the governance arrangements for the 
NCASPB in light of the Care Act 2014. 
 
Be assured that children, young people and vulnerable are involved in decisions made about 
them and care planning process. 
 
We will continue to receive reports on progress in this area from the IRO service 
 
Raise awareness of safeguarding issues and the responsibilities of the  
NCSCB / NCSAPB partner agencies and the wider community in safeguarding 
 
The newly established Communication and Engagement Sub-Group will take the lead in 
promoting improvements in this field of activity. 
 
Effective information sharing across all NCSCB / NCASPB Business 
 
The information sharing protocol will be monitored through the quality assurance and 
performance management arrangements specifically through the multi-agency audit programme.  
 
 
 
BUSINESS PLAN PRIORITY 2 
 

Page 113



 

To monitor the development of early help for childr en, young people and vulnerable adults 
and quality assure the effectiveness of this.  
 
What we planned 
 
Assurance that early help for children and young people is effective with evidence that it is being 
robustly monitored by partner agencies & making a difference to children and families. 
 
Assurance that early intervention in adults safeguarding is effective. 
 
What we did 
 
The NCSCB has pursued three lines of activity to secure assurance of the effectiveness of early 
help particularly in relation to multi-agency work to support provision for children and young 
people: 
 

• Extending the quality assurance and performance management framework to include key 
data on the number of early help referrals, the source of such referrals, the number of 
CAFs undertaken, the engagement of agencies in the CAF process and subsequent 
service responses, the impact of CAFs specifically in relation to any effect on subsequent 
referrals into child protection and care processes; 

• Scrutinising and challenging early help strategic and service development proposals (in 
the context of the Family Support Strategy)that have been presented to the Children’s 
Partnership Board both through the Independent Chair’s attendance at these Board 
meetings and by presenting proposals to OMG and full Board meetings; 

• Considering the impact and effectiveness of the Family Support Strategy and any actions 
required to improve cross-agency engagement in its delivery at the Safeguarding 
Assurance Forum. 

 
In addition to these approaches a very specific piece of work was undertaken, partly in response 
to the expectations of Working Together 2013, to review and revise the Family Support Strategy 
as a means of developing the Threshold Protocol which became the responsibility of LSCBs. This 
work is outlined in greater detail in under Business Plan Priority 1 above. 
 
In relation to early intervention for adults adult social care has led a multi-faceted Early 
Intervention strategy with the aim of prevention and early intervention in care settings to ensure 
the vulnerable adults are safeguarded and receive quality care.  

The developments are: 

• A jointly funded venture with the CCG to fund twoearly intervention workers to intervene, 
assess and support care homes when early warning triggers indicate a home is beginning to 
cause concerns amongst professionals involved in monitoring and regulation. 

• A project led by Adult Social Care and funded by the CCG to develop a Virtual Dashboard 
with the aim of holding all monitoring and regulatory information from the City Council and 
partners in relation to registered care homes on a real time web based browser.  

Page 114



 

• The piloting of Dignity in Care Boards within care homes, which will be independently chaired 
and act as forums for complaints, concerns and improvements in the care home to be 
debated, explored and reviewed.  

 
What was the impact of work undertaken 
 
A key impact has been the revision of the Family Support Strategy through which we have 
secured greater clarity around thresholds for intervention across the continuum of provision for 
children and young people.  This was informed by comments made by Ofsted inspectors during 
the inspection in March 2014.  An important result of this work was to more specifically identify 
the thresholds and provision to be made for ‘children in need’ which had been a concern 
expressed by both the NCSCB and the Ofsted team. 
 
In addition, monitoring of performance on early help had raised concerns about a reduction in the 
number of CAF referrals in the second half of 2013 and led to a review of the reasons for this 
reduction.  Action taken in response to this scrutiny ‘turned the curve’ in terms of numbers of 
referrals – and shift recognised by the Ofsted team during the inspection. 
 
Performance data relating to Early Help performance can be headlined as follows: 
 
CAF Activity 2013/14 

There were 1180 CAFs initiated across the partnership in 2013/14, which represents a 36.1% 
increase on the number initiated in 2012/13 of 867.  

This is the highest figure in any given financial year of the number of CAFs initiated, eclipsing the 
previous highest figure of 1123 in 2011/12 

The number of CAFs initiated in Quarter 1 for 2014/15 was 299 which keeps performance on 
track to meet the figure for last year. The figure is the highest number of CAFs initiated in quarter 
1 in any previous year.  

Initiation by Agency / Organisation 

The largest agency increase in CAF initiation within this period was with Family Community 
Teams, with 643 CAFs initiated in 2013/14 compared with 375 in 2012/13 which represents an 
increase of 71.5%.  

In 2012/13 the percentage of all CAFs initiated by Family Community Teams was 43.3%, for 
2013/14 this figure had risen to 57.3% 

Excluding the CAFs initiated by Family Community Teams, there has been an increase of the 
number of CAFs initiated between 2012/13 and 2013/14 of 9.1% 

Outside of Family Community Teams, the other largest service/organisation initiators of the CAF 
are Health Visiting and Primary and Secondary Schools.  

Page 115



 

Between 2012/13 and 2013/14 there was a 19.7% increase in the number of CAFs initiated by 
Primary Schools (147 to 176), but a decrease of 13.2% of those initiated by Secondary Schools 
between those periods (91 to 79) 

During this period there was also an increase of 31.9% of the number of CAFs initiated by Health 
Visiting from 116 to 153.  

Initiation by Reason 

The largest area of CAFs initiated in 2013/14 against the Family Support Pathway dimensions 
were within Education and Learning with 318 (27%). The other 3 most significant areas were 
Basic Care and Protection with 201 (17%), Emotional and Behavioural Development with 191 
(16.2%) and Health with 181 (15.3%) 

This is a pattern reflected in the previous year with the above 4 dimensions been the most 
prevalent. Education and Learning was similarly the largest with 268 (30.9%) of the initiations.  

In regards to the four main service / organisation initiators of CAF against those main initiation 
reasons there is a degree of variation in terms of proportion,  

Within Family Community Teams, 30.5% of CAF initiations for 2013/14 are within the area of 
Education and Learning, for Health Visiting it is lower at 11.1%, for Primary Schools 31.8% of 
CAF initiations are within Education and Learning and with Secondary Schools it is 41.8% 

In respect of Basic Care and Protection, 19.6% of FCT CAF initiations for 2013/14 were within 
that area, for Health Visiting it was 28.8%, for Primary Schools it was 8.5% and for Secondary 
Schools it was 1.3%.  

In respect of the Health dimension, 11% of FCT CAFs initiated were in respect of this area, for 
Health Visiting it was 18.3%, for Primary Schools it was 19.9% and for Secondary Schools it was 
2.5% 

In regards to the Emotional and Behavioural Development dimension, 13.8% of CAFs initiated by 
FCT were in this area, for Health Visiting it was 17.6%, for Primary Schools it was 15.9% and for 
Secondary Schools it was 30.4%.  

Outcomes 

Across the partnership as a whole, using the new closure reasons, the percentage of cases 
closed where needs were identified as being met was 62.3% for 2013/14 which is an increase on 
2012/13 where needs met was 60.5%.  

Into quarter 1 for 2014/15 there has been further improvement with 70.5% of cases closed with 
needs met.  

The proportion of cases closed in 2013/14 due to increased risk/need was 19.4%. Increased risk / 
need covers escalation to a range of specialist services, the majority of which is escalation to 
Children’s Social Care but also covers transfer to YOT, FIP and Specialist CAMHS.  

The percentage of those closed due to increased risk / need is slightly higher compared with the 
previous year, with 18.5% closing with increased risk / need in 2012/13.  

Page 116



 

For quarter 1 of 2014/15 this figure has reduced to 18.4%.  

The proportion of cases closing due to non-engagement is largely static in 2013/14 (12.7%) 
compared to the previous year (12.8%). There is a greater reduction in quarter 1 for 2014/15 in 
closure for non-engagement at 9.2% 

Outcome by Agency/Organisation 

In regards to the outcomes achieved for the specific services / organisations, there has been a 
trend of increased needs met across most of the major initiators of the CAF between 2012/13 and 
13/14.   

There is also a pattern of increasing needs met into quarter 1 of 2014/15 across most of the main 
initiators of the CAF.  

The proportion of cases closing with needs met from Family Community Teams increased to 
65.1% in 2013/14 from 64.0% in 2012/13.  For Q1 2014/15 this has risen further to 66.7% 

The proportion of cases closing with needs met from Primary Schools has increased to 60.9% in 
2013/14 from 46.5% in 2012/13. The figure has risen even further for quarter 1 of 2014/15 with 
93.8% of cases closing with needs met (15 out of 16).  

The proportion of cases closing with needs met from Secondary Schools has increased to 70.1% 
in 2013/14 from 67.1% in 2013/14. For quarter 1 of 2014/15 this has dipped to 55.6% 

The proportion of cases closing with needs met from Health Visiting has risen from 50.7% in 
2012/13 to 52.0% in 2013/14. For quarter 1 2014/15 this has increased to 69.2% 

Outcome by Ethnicity 

In respect of outcomes by ethnicity, the proportion of cases classified as White British closing 
with needs met in 2013/14 was 60.02% (295/490), for White Other it was 70.05% (24/34), for 
Asian background it was 79% (49/62), for Black background it was 67.8% (40/59), for Mixed 
Race it was 58.7% (64/109).  

In the majority of ethnic groups, this was higher than in the previous year, reflecting the overall 
pattern of increased needs met. The only group that saw a decrease was for children of mixed 
race where the proportion closing with needs met for 2012/13 was 66.1%.  

For 2012/13, the proportion of White British cases closing with needs met was essentially the 
same at 60.07% (254/418). For White Other it was lower at 47.8% (11/23). For Asian Background 
it was also lower at 71.8% but was still the highest ethnic group closing with needs met in that 
year. For Black British, the percentage was lower at 61.1% 

Outcomes by Age 

For 2013/14 the age groups with the highest level of needs met is for 10 and 11 year olds with 
100% and 90% needs met respectively.  

The ages with the lowest level of needs met is for 14 and 15 year olds with 35.7% and 35.3% 
needs met respectively. This is however followed by 69.2% of 16 year olds closing with needs 

Page 117



 

met (which is a higher percentage than 10 of the other ages) so this does not appear to indicate a 
particular pattern. In 2012/13, the percentage of 15 year olds closing with needs met was 82.4% 
which again suggests that there is not a particular age range that the data is identifying where the 
outcomes are markedly worse in a consistent way.  

Outcomes by Initiation Reason 

In 2013/14, the dimension where most needs were met was in Identity with 80.3% of cases 
closing with needs met. The dimension where cases closed with the least amount of needs met 
was Community Resources at 48.4%.  

The data does not suggest that is a particular pattern. In 2012/13 55.1% of those under the 
Identity dimension closed with needs met whilst 71% of those under Community Resources 
closed with needs met.  

Adult Services 

The developments in adult services set out above were at an early stage of development in the 
year in 2013/14 but will be closely monitored and evaluated in 2014/15. 
 
What do we need to do in the future? 
 
A key priority for the NCSCB in the Business Plan for 2014/15 is to monitor and evaluate the 
impact of the Family Support Strategy in its guise as Threshold Protocol for the Board.  Priority 2a 
in the Business Plan sets out four key actions that we intend to pursue in relation to Early Help. 
These are: 
 
2a.1The Local Authority Assessment Protocol is effectively implemented and secures impact. 

2a.2 Thresholds for safeguarding children are clear, understood and consistently applied 

across the  Partnership. 

2a.3 That children receive the help and support they need at the earliest possible stage. 

2a.4  That all children requiring protection and/or care have had the benefit of help and 

intervention at the earliest stage possible 

The NCASPB has set out its intentions in priority 2b of the new Business Plan as follows: 

 

2b.1 Vulnerable adults are receiving the support they need at the earliest possible stage and 

any safeguarding concerns are appropriately identified and referred. 

 
BUSINESS PLAN PRIORITY 3 
 
To continually improve multi-agency work to safeguard and protect children, young people, and 
adults and drive excellence in the system. 
 
What we planned  

Page 118



 

 
Contribute towards the planning and commissioning of services for children, young people and 
vulnerable adults. 
 
Ensure compliance with Working Together 2013 in relation to NCSCB Serious Case Reviews and 
implement actions effectively  
 
Ensure NCASPB / NCSCB Serious Case Reviews and Significant Incident Learning Processes 
(SILPs) are undertaken in accordance with national guidance, best practice and the Board’s 
practice guidance 
 
Ensure compliance with Working Together 2013 in relation to Child Deaths and implement 
actions effectively 
 
To ensure governanceand scrutiny of statutory duties in Nottingham in relation to the Deprivation 
of Liberty Safeguards Addendum (2007) to the Mental Capacity Act (2005) 
 
To ensure that all agencies adhere to the principles of the Mental Capacity Act when working with 
adults who may lack capacity. 
 
To ensure that safeguarding activity is monitored and recorded to meet national reporting 
requirements and to analyse an agreed set of common performance indicators to improve 
performance in all partner agencies. 
 
Monitor the effectiveness of the safeguarding activity across partner agencies and support 
partner agencies tocontinually improve their safeguarding arrangements. 
 
What we did and what was its impact  
 
Child Protection 
 
Children subject to Child Protection Plans 

As of 31st March 2014 there were 479 children who were subject to a Child Protection Plan. This 
is an increase from March 2013 when there were 440 children subject to plans. 

The breakdown with regard to types of plans are as follows: 

Page 119



 

 

 

 

 

Emotional Harm 122 

Emotional Harm/Physical 78 

Emotional/Sexual 10 

Neglect 131 

Neglect/Emotional 47 

Neglect/Physical 16 

Neglect/Sexual 7 

Physical 20 

Physical/Emotional/Neglect 11 

Physical/Emotional/Sexual 7 

Physical/Sexual 1 

Sexual 24 

Total 474 

 

Page 120



 

Neglect and Emotional harm figures are similar to national statistics. Figures from Department of 
Education for March 2013 show that children were deemed to be at risk of neglect in 41% of 
cases reflecting over 20,000 children, whilst for emotional harm that figure stood at 31.7%  or 
over 16,000 children.  

 
Figures for sexual harm have reduced from 27% [1994] to currently 2%. It is unlikely that this 
reflects a reduction in sexual harm, but perhaps a different focus nationally and locally for 
professionals, with Domestic Abuse, Neglect.  Child Sexual Exploitation [a form of sexual harm] 
being the focus of national policy. 

 
The above figures also highlight that there are 89 children subject to multiple categories of abuse; 
this is not common practice in many other local authorities. As conference chairs – the IRO has to 
establish where the risk is greatest and multiple categories risks minimising the purpose of having 
them. 

Only 2.8% of children were subject to a safeguarding plan for 2 or more years. This compares 
favourably with 5.2% with our statistical neighbours and 4.8% of children subject to plans 
2012/13. This is a positive trend and reflects the impact of earlier legal planning meetings and 
Public Law Outline.  

Quality Assurance 

High caseloads have limited the IROs capacity to fulfil their quality assurance function.  

As mentioned earlier in this report case audits were undertaken in 3 social care teams: Screening 
and Duty, Care leavers and Disabled children team.  The Principal Manager also audited IRO 
minutes and observed meetings. 

Within Duty and Screening 15 cases were audited and the draft screening and duty tool kit was 
used. This tool focuses upon management oversight both at point of contact and referral, 
timeliness of assessments and the completion of checks, timeliness of transfer or closing of the 
case and outcome letters to referrers.  

 
In almost all of the cases no concerns were noted with regards to management oversight, 
children were seen, there was evidence of agency checks undertaken and assessments were 
completed. Any concerns noted were case specific and these were shared with the team 
managers and Service Manager for action.  
 
Within the Care Leavers team 7 cases were audited. These cases had not been audited before 
and it was important to establish that: 
 

• the young person was clear about their pathway plan and level of support being offered 
• the young person had a network of support external to social care and that they were 

prepared for independence 
• that they were living in safe and secure accommodation 

Page 121



 

• that they are accessing training education or employment 
• for those in custody that there were plans in place for their release and that they had been 

visited 

There was evidence of good pathway plans and good analysis on the system. There was 
evidence that some plans had clearly been reviewed 6 monthly, and from the cases audited all 
young people were aware of their plan and the support to be given or being given. It was not 
possible to access the supervision records as they were not saved on the young person’s file –
this was raised with the managers for immediate action 

Within the Disabled Children’s Team 6 cases were audited. The use of the strength and 
difficulties questionnaire was commended, alongside clear evidence of statutory visits undertaken 
and records that reflected the child’s story rather than correspondence.  

 Areas of improvement highlighted to the manager included; 

* Recording for siblings to be separated onto the correct files 

* Limited evidence of unannounced visits for child protection 

* Supervision records not on file.  
 
As highlighted within the Ofsted report, IRO minutes required ‘smart’ recommendations. Some 
minutes have read as a list of tasks for the social worker or core group to complete, and on 
occasion felt more like supervision and case planning rather than review.  

Re-registrations have been a concern. In one instance the new child protection plan was 
commenced 6 months after the previous plan ceased. There has been discussion in team 
meetings and supervision regarding the sustainability of plans.  

Use of the phrase ‘by next review’ is being challenged with some IROs setting clear timescales 
and actions. In LAC minutes there is evidence of the IRO seeing the child or young person before 
the review and participation continues to be positive. 

The embedding of Signs of Safety and smarter plans should mean that over the next year it will 
be easier to evidence the needs of the child, what needs to change, by whom and when   what 
the outcome was. 

 
Private Fostering 
 
A private fostering arrangement is one that is made privately (i.e. without the involvement of a 
Local Authority) for the care of a child under the age of 16 (under 18 if disabled) by someone 
other than a parent or close relative for 28 days or more.  
 
Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board has a responsibility to oversee private fostering 
arrangements within Nottingham and monitor the Local Authority’s compliance with their duties 
and functions. In discharging this responsibility, an annual report is presented to the NCSCB 
Steering Group by the Local Authority Officer with lead responsibility for private fostering.  

Page 122



 

 
The figures in the table below show the Nottingham City figures for Private  
Fostering for the last 4 years are set out below: 
 
 2010/11 2011 / 12 2012 /13  2013/14 
Number of new Private  
Fostering arrangements  
 

38 27 27 21 

Number of cases where visits  
were within Private Fostering  
Regulation 4 requirements  
 

3 27 27 17 

Of these, the number of cases  
where this action was taken  
within 7 working days of receipt  
of notification of the Private  
Fostering arrangements  

2 26 26 14 

Number of new arrangements  
that began during the year  
 

37 25 25 6 

Number of PF arrangements  
that ended during the year 

35 30 33  

As at 31st March - Number of  
children under Private  
Fostering arrangements  
 

23 22 15 16 

 
With the continuation of the performance monitoring system and management oversight, children 
being seen in timescales for those  
beginning arrangements in the financial year has reduced from  96% to 81% 
 
The overall number of children in private fostering is one higher than last year but much lower 
than in the previous two years. 
 
The data relating to Private Fostering has been set out above.  The Board remains concerned 
that there may be under-reporting of private fostering arrangements in the City and that despite 
earlier awareness raising programmes numbers are lower than historic data and have changed 
little on the performance in 2012/13.  In addition the Board has sought improvements in 
performance against timescales given the data set out above. 
 
Adult Safeguarding Performance Analysis 
 
There were a total of 1,101 safeguarding investigations opened in 2013/14, with an upward trend 
in the last three quarters of the year (see chart 1).  This upward trend is mainly due to multiple 
cases of abuse in a single location, such as a care home, taking place in quarter 3 and quarter 4 
of 2013/14, therefore increasing the over total of investigations opened in these quarters. 

Chart 1: Total Number of Investigations Opened  

Page 123



 

 

A further reason for this upward trend is that a number of investigations were abandoned in the 
final two quarters of 2013/14, with nearly 30.0% abandoned in quarter 3 and over 40.0% 
abandoned in quarter 4 (see chart 2).  This increased level of abandonment suggests that a large 
proportion of contacts regarding safeguarding were found to be unwarranted after preliminary fact 
finding.  It is unclear as to exactly why such an increase in abandonment has been recorded 
however high profile cases of abuse in the media could be one possible cause of a large amount 
of unwarranted contacts being made. 

Chart 2: Abandonment Rate of Opened Investigations  

 

Examining the demographics of the vulnerable adult that the alleged abuse took place against 
reveals that the majority of citizens were of a white ethnicity (83.2% of all investigations opened), 
a similar pattern to that seen in previous years (although in both 2011/12 and 2012/13 the 
percentage is slightly higher at 86.6% and 86.4% respectively).  Citizens of a black/black British 
ethnicity account for 6.2% of opened investigations, a slight increase on the 5.5% recorded in the 
previous year, which in turn was an increase on the 4.7% recorded in 2011/12.  4.9% of citizens 
also had an unknown ethnicity, an increase of 1.5% compared to the previous two years, both 
3.4%.  Please see charts 3 and 4 for further details of opened investigation by ethnicity. 

 

 

 

Page 124



 

Chart 3: Opened Investigations by Ethnicity (Volume ) 

 

Chart 4: Opened Investigations by Ethnicity (Percen tage)  

 

In terms of age the majority of vulnerable adults that alleged abuse took place against are aged 
eighty one and over, with 41.3% of citizens within this age range.  This is a decrease compared 
to the previous two years when 44.7% of citizens were aged eighty one or over in 2012/13 and 
50.7% of citizens were aged eighty one or over in 2011/12.  19.8% of vulnerable adults that 
alleged abuse took place against were aged between seventy one and eighty, the seconded 
largest proportion in 2013/14.  This is an increase compared to the previous two years, 17.6% in 
2013/12 and 13.8% in 2011/12, and follows a similar pattern to the age range sixty one to 
seventy.  This indicates that in 2013/14 a higher proportion of younger vulnerable adults 
(although still aged sixty one or over) had alleged abuse committed against them than in previous 
years and this can be seen in chart 5 with the average age of the four quarters in 2013/14 
consistently lower than in previous years (excluding quarter four of 2012/13). 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 125



 

Chart 5: Average Age of Vulnerable Adult for Opened  Investigations  

 

In terms of Primary Client Category (PCC) of the vulnerable adult that the alleged abuse has 
taken place against the highest proportion of citizens have a PCC of physical disability, with 
24.4% of citizens recorded as such.  A significant number of citizens have a PCC of dementia, 
22.8% of total citizens, meaning that nearly half of the vulnerable adults with alleged abuse 
committed against them have a PCC of either physical disability or dementia.  This is a common 
theme seen throughout the previous two years.  Within the last two quarters of 2013/14 a higher 
proportion of citizens with a PCC of mental health, learning disabilities and frailty and/or 
temporary illness has been recorded (please see charts 6 and 7), possibly indicating a change in 
profile, however it may not be possible to monitor this going forward as PCC is being replaced by 
Primary Support Reason (PSR) in 2014/15 and the categories in each may not match in order for 
a like for like comparison to be made. 

Chart 6: Opened Investigations by PCC (Volume) 

 

Page 126



 

Chart 7: Opened Investigations by PCC (Percentage)  

 

Before examining the type of alleged abuse in opened investigations, please remember that more 
than one type of abuse can be alleged in an investigation and so percentages described in the 
below section may not add up to one hundred percent.  The most common types of alleged 
abuse in 2013/14 are neglect (alleged in 32.5% of cases), physical (alleged in 23.9% of cases), 
and financial abuse (alleged in 18.1% of cases).  Alleged cases of abuse and neglect have made 
up the majority of opened investigations in previous years; however chart 8 shows that in 2013/14 
cases of financial abuse increased substantially, particularly in quarters two and three.  However 
the overall proportion that financial abuse represented in 2013/14 was broadly similar to that 
recorded in the previous two years (see chart 9). 

Chart 8: Opened Investigations by Alleged Abuse (Vo lume)  

 

 

Page 127



 

Chart 9: Opened Investigations by Alleged Abuse (Pe rcentage)  

 

In terms of the outcomes of those investigations that were not abandoned, 49.0% were 
substantiated, 37.2% were not substantiated, 0.8% were partially substantiated (although it was 
only possible to partially substantiate an investigation in the fourth quarter of 2013/14), and 
13.1% were not determined/inconclusive.  Comparing this performance to previous years shows 
a higher rate of investigations substantiated in 2013/14 than in both 2012/13 (45.7% of 
investigations substantiated) and 2011/12 (42.4% of investigations substantiated).  Having said 
this a higher percentage of investigations were not substantiated in 2013/14 than in the previous 
two years, with more investigations in both 2012/13 and 2011/12 recording an outcome of not 
determined/inconclusive.  For further details of investigation outcomes please see charts 10 and 
11. 

Chart 10: Concluded Investigations by Investigation  Outcome  

 

Chart 11: Percentage of Concluded Investigations Su bstantiated  

Page 128



 

 

Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
 
MCA and DoLs was a priority area for action set by the NCASPB in its Business Plan 2013/14 but 
has further raised its profile in the light of the supreme court judgement following a case in 
Cheshire West. 
 
The MCA/Dolssubgroup meets quarterly and its aims are to identify appropriate assurance 
processes to enable Nottingham City Adult Safeguarding Partnership Board (NCASPB) to be 
assured that the Mental Capacity Act (MCA) is being implemented in line with best practice and 
to provide oversight and strategic direction of the Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS). 
 
During 2013/14 the sub-group has undertaken a range of functions and activities with oversight of 
the statutory returns for Dols data and strategic oversight of the Mental Capacity Act and Dols 
implementation 
 
The key objectives in the groups’ workplan for 2013-14 were: 
 
• To ensure governance and scrutiny of statutory duties in Nottingham in relation to the 

Mental Capacity Act (2005) and the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Addendum (2007) 
• To ensure that all agencies adhere to the principles of the Mental Capacity Act when 

working with adults who may lack capacity. 
• To ensure that local MCA and DoLS procedures are current and up to date. 
• To present an Annual Report to the NCASPB. 
 
Activity undertaken to support these objectives is as follows: 
 
• Dols data presented to the group on a quarterly basis to be scrutinised by members with 

issues identified and action taken. For example, if there are any unauthorised Dols, the 
subgroup requests assurance reports from agencies involved to ensure they are taking 
appropriate action.  

Page 129



 

• A scoping exercise in relation to the Mental Capacity Act and the subgroup sent out a 
template to be completed and returned by partner agencies to inform the group and assure 
them that agencies had in place appropriate mechanisms to be implementing the MCA. This 
is an ongoing piece of work as issues have been identified around training and 
implementation of MCA in probation and the Police.  

• Receiving regular updates on the progress of updating the MCA policy and procedure from 
Adult Assessment who are the lead agency in completing this piece of work.  

• Presentation from Age Concern regarding a piece of work they undertook in residential 
homes where they identified training on Dols as an issue and feedback that residential 
managers were not confident in applying the principles of Dols.  

 
The work of the MCA/Dols subgroup falls under the sections of ‘analysis of qualitative data’ and 
‘engagement with frontline staff’. At each meeting, data on Dols is presented to the group which 
is analysed and assessed for action to be taken. The staff survey specifically asks staff about 
their understanding of MCA and Dols. The information from this formed part of the scoping 
exercise for MCA implementation. The group were presented with information from frontline 
residential managers via Age Concern and receive a presentation on an annual basis from the 
IMCA providers to inform the group of how well the uptake of IMCA’s is and if they are meeting 
the MCA requirements.  
 
Achievements to date include: 
 

• The group completed a scoping exercise. Based on the results, further assurance has 
been sought from the Police and Probation.  

• The Dols data has been analysed and highlighted issues around extensions. The group 
also explored an unauthorised Dol and sought assurance that the reason for this had been 
explored and appropriate action taken. As a result of this, the procedure for authorising a 
Dol has been revised and more signatories have been trained.  

• The group has improved practice around signing off and authorising Dols.  
• As a result of the work with Probation on MCA, they will be updating their vulnerable adults 

procedure to include MCA processes.  
 
In conclusion, the MCA-Dols subgroup has secured good attendance from partner agencies, 
successfully impacted on practice with a change in the process around signing off Dols 
authorisations and has completed an MCA scoping exercise which has identified and acted on 
areas of concern.  However, concerns have been noted around links to the Dols Operational 
group, which is currently suspended because of capacity issues as a result of the Cheshire West 
judgements.  We intend to improve links to the Operational Group once the group restarts to 
monitor implementation and performance. 
 
What do we need to do in the future?  
 
Our new Business Plan aims to focus our activity on assuring that children and adults are safe 
whilst ensuring that safeguarding services are effectively co-ordinated across children and adult 

Page 130



 

services thus maximising the impact of our alignment of the children and adult safeguarding 
boards. 
 
Our new priorities will be as follows: 
 

To be assured that children and young people are sa fe across the child’s journey 
including the transition to adult services we will ensure: 

• That children subject to child protection plans and those in need have high quality multi-
agency plans in place. 

• Children at high risk/vulnerable are being identified and risks managed to secure positive 
outcomes.  The groups that we have prioritised for 2014/15 are: CSE; Missing; Domestic 
Violence/Abuse; Self-Harm. 

• Effective transitions from children to adult services where appropriate. 
• Children/young people who are privately fostered are identified and supported 
• The workforce has capacity to safeguard individuals effectively. 
• Adults who are assessed as posing risk to children and young people in need of 

safeguarding are effectively managed through MAPPA and MARAC and that risk to others 
is mitigated. 

To be assured that adults in need of safeguarding a re safe we will ensure that:  

• Thresholds for safeguarding adults are clear, understood and consistently applied across 
the partnership. 

• The followings groups that have been previously identified at risk are adequately 
safeguarded: 

a.  those receiving self-directed support and personal health budgets & those adults 
living with or receiving services from registered providers; 

b.  those affected by MCA/DoLS 
c.  those experiencing domestic abuse; 

• The workforce has capacity to safeguard individuals effectively. 
 

To be assured that safeguarding services are effect ively coordinated across children and 

adult services – applying the ‘Think Family’ concep t – we will ensure that: 

• Adult services to consistently consider the safeguarding of children in households where 
they areworking with an adult and make referrals for support and intervention where 
necessary. 

• Children’s services to consistently consider the safeguarding of adults in households 
where they are working with children and make referrals for support and intervention 
where necessary. 

• Services that work with “whole” families are effectively coordinated (e.g. Priority Families) 
and secure added value in ensuring and co-ordinating effective safeguarding. 

 
Private Fostering 
 
NCSCB agreed that following priorities for 2014/15 
 

• to raise the profile of private fostering arrangements to ensure we are capturing the private 
fostering arrangements in the city. 

Page 131



 

• support the private fostering arrangements currently held within the community teams so 
that they continue to remain within timescale 

• to link in with regional and national focus groups/training/briefings to keep up to date with 
current themes, issues and best practice in relation to this group of children. 

 
BUSINESS PLAN PRIORITY 4 
 
To embed a learning system within the NCSCB and NCA SPB and quality assure these 
within partner agencies . 
 
What we planned 
 
Ensure the learning from SCRs, CDOP, SILPs and audits are embedded into safeguarding 
practice to maintain a skilled and competent workforce & continually develop the way that 
agencies work together: promoting the protection, wellbeing, dignity and security of children, 
young people and vulnerable adults. 
 
What we did 
 
The key work undertaken in support of this priority has been done by the Training and 
Development Sub-Group 
 
The Sub Group key priorities for 2013 / 14 were to: 

• Establish a Joint Children & Adult Training Sub Group 
• Develop a multi-agency Children’s Safeguarding Learning & Improvement Framework 
• Effectively deliver and evaluate a programme of multi-agency safeguarding children training 
• Engage with and contribute to the wider children’s workforce strategy 
• Establish an Adult Safeguarding Training Plan to ensure agencies have access to 

appropriate training opportunities. 
• Quality assure both children and adult safeguarding training materials being used by 

partners agencies and the Boards. 
 
What was the impact of work undertaken 
 
Headline achievements in 2013 / 14 against the objectives above: 

• Joint Training Sub Group established in June 2013 and met twice  
• Cross Authority Learning & Improvement Framework agreed and to be published as part 

of Procedures in May 2014. 
• Outline for Learning & Improvement Implementation Plan agreed 
• Multi-agency safeguarding children training programme delivered with a total attendance 

of 661 people with the majority of places being taken by the voluntary sector (See full 
attendance statistics in Appendix 1) 

• End of course evaluations for Board Children’s safeguarding training demonstrate a high 
level of satisfaction with courses (average of 91% across all criteria) and provide evidence 
of significant increase in confidence of participants. (See detailed analysis in Appendix 2) 

Page 132



 

• Post course questionnaires for Board Children’s safeguarding training, to collect evidence 
of impact of the training were further piloted. 

• All partner agencies of both Children and Adult Boards have assured the Boards that their 
training materials (being delivered during this year) meet agreed minimum standards 
through the Training Quality Assurance Scheme (See details in Appendix 3) 

• Web page signposting agencies and individuals to appropriate adult safeguarding training 
published 

• Service Level Agreement with City Council Talent & Skills delivered ‘Raising a Concern’ 
courses for the PVI sector. 

 
Analysis of training provision in 2013/14 
 
1. Attendance at training delivered by the NCSCB 

 

Course title No of courses delivered 2013/14 
Introduction to safeguarding 11 
Safeguarding Update / What’s New 3 
Working Together  10 
Rapid Response 1 
Child Sexual Exploitation 2 
Total No of courses 27 
 

Seminar title Date 
Learning from SCR’s 13 September 2013 
Improving practice when working with 
Neglect 

29 November 2013 

 

Course and seminar attendance by sector April 2013 – March 2014  

This year, in addition to the core courses of Introduction, Working Together and What’s New / 
Refresher and Rapid Response training, a series of Cross Authority Child Sexual Exploitation 
courses were delivered.  

Although all Introductions were fully booked, there were still late cancellations and no shows.  

The average attendance for Introduction courses decreased from 27 to 22 per course, and for 
Working Together decreased from 19 to 18 per course. Average attendance for the What’s New / 
Refresher half day seminars decreased from 37 to 29 per course. 

There was a total attendance of 591, plus 70 at the two seminars, so a total of 661 over the year, 
compared to 609 at courses and 83 at seminars, a total of 692 in 2012/13.  

Overall, average attendance per course has decreased to 21 compared to 25 the previous year. 

The following table breaks down attendance for both courses and seminar for the year by sector. 
The voluntary sector is still by far the largest user of our courses and this reflects our policy to 
only make our introduction courses available to the private and voluntary sectors, providing 45% 
of attendees overall, and 76% of attendees on the Introduction course. 

Page 133



 

 

 

Attendanc
e at 
‘Raising a 
Concern’ 
adult 
safeguard
ing 
training 
delivered 
by 
Nottingha
m City 
Council 
but 
commissi
oned by 
the 
NCASPB 

4 Courses 
were 
delivered 
between 
October 
2013 to 
March 
2014 

72 people 
attended 
from the 
following 
organisatio
ns, so an 
average 
attendanc
e per 
course of 
18 people. 
65% of 
attendees 
were from 
the 
voluntary 

sector, 26% from the private sector and 9% from other. The breakdown of attendance by organisation is 
as follows. :- 

Agency

In
tro

du
ct

io
n

W
ha

t's
 N

ew
 / 

R
ef

re
sh

er
 

W
or

ki
ng

 
T

og
et

he
r

R
a

pi
d 

R
e

sp
on

se

N
eg

le
ct

 
S

e
m

in
ar

S
C

R
 s

em
in

ar

C
S

E
 T

ra
in

in
g

Total

Schools & Learning 4 3 4 11

Quality & Commissioning 1 1

Safeguarding 2 4 5 6 5 17 39

Family Community Teams 13 29 20 3 8 10 16 99
Young People Learning & 

Skills 0

Probation 14 20 8 2 44

Nottingham Futures 0

CityCare Partnership 7 1 8

NUHT 1 8 3 12

NHCT 1 7 2 2 12

EMAS 1 1
NHS Nottingham 
(Commissioning)

1 3 4

NHS Treatment Centre 0

Nottingham City Homes 1 2 1 2 6

Police 1 1 10 2 14

CAFCASS 2 2

Fire & Rescue 0

Further & Higher Education 7 2 2 11

LMC 2 3 5

Primary schools 1 15 16

Secondary schools 5 5 10

Acadamies 10 10

Special schools 1 1

Independent schools 2 3 2 7

Voluntary Sector 183 30 67 3 2 10 295

Private 16 4 12 32

Other 5 3 9 4 21

Total Attendance 241 87 183 26 31 39 54 661

Agency Attendance on NCSCB Training April 2013 - March 2014

Page 134



 

 

 
Employer/Organisation 
 

 
Attendance 

Framework 12 
Places for People, Mellors Lodge 11 
Carers Federation 8 
Abbeyfield Society (Sherwood) 9 
Wycar Leys 4 
Hanover Housing Association 4 
NACRO 4 
West Area Project 3 
Direct Health 3 
Housing 21, 20 Sharratt Court 2 
Nottinghamshire County Council 2 
EVE Trades CIC 2 
Radford Care Group 1 
Alzheimer’s Society 1 
Women’s Aid Integrated Services 1 
NORSACA 1 
The Conifers Rest Home 1 
NottinghamNightStop 1 
Action for Young Carers 1 
Nottingham MENCAP 1 
 

Qualitative Evidence 

There were two elements to the qualitative evidence provided this year: 

1. End of course evaluations for both the children’s training delivered by NCSCB and ‘Raising 
a Concern’ delivered by Nottingham City Council. 

2. Quality assurance of the children and adult safeguarding training materials used by 
Partner agencies. 
 

Attempts to collect some evidence of the impact of training on practice have been largely 
unsuccessful and this is an area for development and improvement in 2014 / 15. 

Details of the qualitative evidence are set out in the detailed annual report of the Training and 
Development Sub-Group.  The headline data is as follows: 

 

 

Introduction to Safeguarding Children :   

 

 Overal level of confidence(Before)

None

Some

Good

Very Good

Overall level of confidence (After)

None

Some

Good

Very Good

Page 135



 

Working Together: 

 

 

Analysis of 
course 
evaluations (Adult 
‘Raising a 
Concern’  
safeguarding 
training) 

The following 
data is based on the responses to an online end of 
course evaluation provided within the City Council 
Learning Zone and is base on 58 responses. 

Overall opinion of the course:(% of participants) 

On a scale of 1 to 5 

1 0% 
2 0% 
3 28% 
4 41% 
5 31% 

 

Therefore, the data shows that: 

• There was an significant increase from 38% to 93% of participants that felt they had a high or very 
high level of knowledge and skill after the course 

• There was a significant increase from 52% to 88% of participants that felt a high or very high level of 
confidence after the training 

• 72% of participants had the opinion that the course was good or very good, with 28% saying it was 
average. 
 

Adult safeguarding training 

The quality assuring of adult safeguarding training started later than the childrens training, in 2012/13. 

Since then the following agencies received validation of their ‘Alerter’ (now ‘Raising a Concern’) training 

and ‘Referrer’ training for those who deliver it: 

Nottinghamshire HealthCare Trust 

NottinghamUniversityHospital Trust 

NottinghamCity Talent & Skills 

Nottinghamshire Probation Trust 

Overall level of confidence (After)

None

Some

Good

Very Good

Overal level of confidence(Before)

None

Some

Good

Very Good

Page 136



 

Nottinghamshire Police 

Cross authority training pack issued to people undertaking the Training the Trainer programme. 

East Midlands Ambulance Service 

The following partners material has not been quality assured for the reasons provided: 

Agency Reason 

NottinghamCityCare Partnership Awaiting re-organisation  

Nottingham City Homes No training being delivered, but to be kept 
under review. 

Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Delivering a joint adult / children basic 
introduction, not at present a match for the 
QA criteria. 

Nottinghamshire Partnership for 
Social Care Workforce Development 
(now Optimum) 

Not submitted 

 
 
What do we need to do in the future? 
 

• Some changes to the membership of the Sub Group are being made, specifically to 
address more appropriate and available representation from adult services and to ensure 
closer liaison with schools and childcare and early years safeguarding co-ordinators. 

• Increased participation of Sub Group members in leading on particular work streams. 
• Board partners to be challenged to ensure staff co-operate with requests for evidence of 

the impact of training and other work of the sub group. 
• Alternative arrangements need to be made for the provision of ‘Raising a concern’ training 

for the PVI sector. 
 

ALLEGATIONS MANAGEMENT – the report of the LADO 

A further element of the NCSCBs workforce monitoring relates to allegations management work 
that is overseen by the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO). 

There has been a part time LADO in post in Nottingham City since June 2013; this post is 
supported by the Education Safeguarding Coordinator and an Early Years Safeguarding 
Coordinator post, both of which have LADO responsibilities. Agreement has been given to fund a 
full-time LADO post from April 2014. 
 
Set out below are the data and statistics relating to reported allegations against staff during 
2013/14 with comparisons with the previous year to illustrate any changes in the profile of 
allegations reporting. 
 
 

Page 137



 

Total number of allegations referred to allegations  management team 
 

  Agency Total Number of 
allegations 
2012/2013 

Number of 
allegations 
2013 / 2014  

Children and families (inc. 
internal residential) 

2 7 

Private residential 2 3 

Education (including teaching 
assistants, teachers and alternate 
education providers 

19 19 

Foster carers 8 16 

Other local authorities 1 2 

Health 2 4 

Police 0 1 

Faith groups 3 4 

Childcare sector (including 
childminders) 

6 7 

Voluntary sector 3 3 

Other 0 6 

TOTAL  46 72 

 

As the data indicates there has been an increase in the number of referrals relating to allegations. 
There is a noticeable increase in referrals regarding foster carers.  The other category includes 
Social Work students who are currently studying whose children have been identified as having a 
safeguarding concern. These figures require further scrutiny to identify specific trends.   
 
The number of referrals has continued to rise throughout this reporting period but this is likely to 
be a result of managers being more aware of when to make allegations referrals rather than 
evidence of an increase in abusive and inappropriate behaviour.  There has been a marked 
increase in the complexity of the cases that have come to our attention. 
 

 

 

 

Page 138



 

Categories of abuse to which allegations have relat ed 

 

Category of abuse 2012/2013 2013/to 2014 
(12 months) 

Physical abuse 20 26 

Sexual abuse 12 9 

Emotional abuse 0 6 

Neglect 7 2 

Online 0 0 

Restraint 2 4 

Other (including conduct, 
substance abuse) 

5 14 

 

The largest category of allegations by type is physical abuse. This primarily occurred in 
educational and residential settings. In particular the issue of appropriate restraint and personal 
protection by teachers was a feature of a significant number of the allegations investigated. 
 
The majority of the other referrals investigated related equally to significant harm concerning 
sexual abuse and unsuitability to work with children i.e. may pose a risk of harm with children 
(Working together, 2013). Two of the sexual abuse allegations related to historical allegations the 
other two are in relation to the adult’s questionable behaviour in their private life.  
 

Case outcomes 

The outcome of allegations investigation have been as follows: 

Outcome Number of cases 
2012/2013 

Number of 
cases 2013/ 14  

No further action 6 2 

Unfounded 5 1 

Unsubstantiated 5 4 

Substantiated 19 12 

Convicted 2 3 

Suspended pending investigation 8 6 

Page 139



 

Subject to disciplinary procedures 13 15 

Dismissed 11 5 

Resigned 1 3 

Received written warning 2 0 

Attended training 4 11 

 

In the 12 months reporting period twenty nine of the allegations taken to a strategy meeting were 
substantiated. Two of these have led to a criminal prosecution and another where we are still 
awaiting the outcome of the proceedings. Six cases were deemed unsubstantiated, of which one 
was found to be malicious. 
 
It should be noted that when an allegation is deemed to be unsubstantiated this does not 
necessarily equate to be unfounded, but rather there is insufficient evidence to substantiate the 
allegation. 
 
Case resolution timescales 

Timescales Number of cases 
2012/2013 

Number of 
cases 2013/14  

One month 13 (38%) 9 (12.5%) 

Within three months 12 (35%) 26 (36%) 

Within twelve months 7 (21%) 37 (51%) 

   

 
 

Consultations 

  

Agency Number of 
consultations 

2012/2013 

Number of 
consultations 

2013/ 14 

Children and families 5 11 

Education (including alternate 
education providers) 

34 43 

Private residential 3 6 

Childcare sector (including 14 27 

Page 140



 

childminders) 

Foster carers 3 8 

Health 3 2 

Voluntary/Private sector 5 16 

 

Since April 2013 referrers have consulted with the allegations management team on a regular 
basis. The allegations management team provides advice and guidance during consultations with 
the referrer. The possible outcomes of the consultation are broadly captured under three 
headings. 
 

• The allegation meets the threshold (section 47). 
• Employer to address e.g. through staff training. 
• Employer to take further action e.g. disciplinary procedures in consultation with HR. 

 

The majority of consultations came via the education and childcare sectors. Concerns ranged 
from teachers and childcare staff’s behaviour to alleged injuries received by children where the 
parent felt inappropriate action was taken. Whilst some of the behaviours may have been 
inappropriate, in the majority of the cases it was an issue for the management to address via staff 
training and development, or at a more serious level the capability or disciplinary process. 
 
Priorities for the future 
 
Having considered the annual report of the LADO the NCSCB has agreed the following actions 
for improvement in 2014/15111; 
 

• ICS system to include a dedicated secure LADO workspace so that the LADO data is kept 
on the ICS system, replacing the separate database currently used. 

• Minutes to be shared with meeting participants within 5 working days.  
• Recruit to the full time LADO post that has been approved. (Consideration of further 

development of the capacity of the LADO role) 
• Ensure the implementation of a referral form for LADO information across all referring 

agencies.  
• Implement Quality Assurance Tool, and analyse findings to support reporting to the Board. 
• Secure funding for an information leaflet that will provide information regarding the role of 

the LADO and its responsibilities. 
• Evidence the need for developing LADO training for all agencies including the voluntary 

and private sectors. 
 
ENGAGEMENT OFSERVICE USERS 

During 2013/14 the NCSCB and NCASPB aimed to extend our ability to hear the voice of service 
users in both setting our priorities for action and in evaluating performance of services and the 
Boards themselves.  This was reflected in the adoption of our ‘4 Quadrant’ model of quality 
assurance and performance management with one quadrant focusing on the views of service 
uses and the voice of the child. 

Page 141



 

 

Work to develop this strand of activity was in its early stages in 2013/14.  Two meetings were 
held with the Nottingham City Youth Council both to raise awareness of the NCSCB but also to 
discuss with young people safeguarding risks that they would identify as priorities for action. 

The outcomes of this work identified three key priorities: 

• e-bullying 
• self-harm and building resilience amongst young people  
• risk in public areas such as parks  

These priorities were fed into the business planning process and are included in the work taking 
place under priority 2 of the new Business Plan. 

There is much, however, to be done to extend work in this area as identified in the Ofsted 
inspection 2014.

Page 142



 

 

CHAPTER 4  

SERIOUS CASE REVIEWS AND CHILD DEATH 
OVERVIEW REPORT 
REPORTS FROM THE SERIOUS CASE REVIEW PANELS 

Serious Case Review Standing Panel (Children) 

Nottingham City Serious Case Review Standing Panel (SCR SP) is chaired by the director 
for Children’s Social Care, Helen Blackman, and is supported by full partnership 
membership from  

•  Nottingham City Council  
� Children’s Social Care (Tracey Nurse) 
� Family Community Team ( Mark Andrews) 
� YOT and YOT board (Bob Uden) 
• Nottinghamshire Police (DCI Mel Bowed Public Protection.) 
• Nottinghamshire Health Care Trust (Tina Hymas- Taylor) 
• Nottinghamshire Probation Service  ( Beverley Caesar)  
• Cafcass (Karen Moss) 
• City Care Partnership (Sue Barnitt) 
• Nottingham University Hospital Trust  (Alyson Packham) 
• Clinical Commissioning Group (Sandra Morrell) 
• Designated Doctor ( Damian Wood) 
• Legal Advisor (Claire Knowles) 
• NCSCB Children’s Officer (Mandy Smith) 

 

The membership has been enhanced this year with the decision to include provider agencies as 
well as commissioners, namely Nottingham University Hospital Trust, and more recently City 
Care Partnership.  The decision to include them was based on the need to enhance the 
effectiveness of action plan monitoring and reduce the amount additional activity with providers 
outside of the meetings. We have also made an agreement that the Education Safeguarding Co-
ordinator will attend SCR when we have referral.  

Attendance at Panel Meetings is regular and consistent. Colleagues are proactive in identifying 
representation when they cannot attend, any partner agencies not being represented is rare. (see 
appendix ONE) 

Aims of the sub-group 

The overall aim of the SCRSP is to ensure that agencies and individuals learn lessons to improve 
the way in which they work both individually and collectively, to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children. The SCRSP will seek to continually develop Review Processes in line with 
local and national best practice, and consider themes or trends in serious incidents. 

Page 143



 

The SCR Process is a statutory requirement under Working Together 2013 and each local 
 authority must have in place a framework for identifying cases that meet the statutory 
criteria for SCR. The SCR SP fulfils this requirement in Nottingham City.  

In addition the SCR SP ensures Significant Incident Learning Processes (SILP) or alternative 
reviews are conducted where there is identified learning but the threshold for SCR is not met. 
This provides a process for robust challenge and effective identification and co-ordination of 
learning 

Work undertaken in 2013/14  
 

During 2013 /14 received 6 new referrals for SCR.  The outcomes of these referrals were: 

• One SCR (Child H) commissioned in October 2013 - due to be submitted to DfE on 30th 
June 2014 

• One SILP commissioned and completed - Child T (VF) 
• One SILP commissioned and in progress – Child V (JK) 
• One joint Health and Children’s Social Care Learning review – Child S (JaC) 
• One Children’s Social Care internal learning review – Child N (MB) 
• One NHCT Learning Review - Child R (JyC) 

Work completed that was initiated in the previous year 

• Two SILPs, one concluded and one completed which including a follow up session to 
consider impact – Child Y (CW) and Child Z (DL) 

• One analytical review (comparison exercise) Child W (MC) 
• The Submission of SCR on Child G to the DfE (May 31st 2014).  
• Completion of combined action plan in relation to Child G, plus near completion of the 

strategic action plan, only Recommendation 2 outstanding 

Working Together 2013 Compliance 

The SCR SP has contributed to the following two pieces of work in relation to the safeguarding 
boards response to WT 2013. 

1 New Cross authority SCR process developed and agreed; this new process includes the 
involvement of frontline practitioners directly  in the SCR process with direct access to the 
Lead Reviewer and author. This supports greater understanding of the context within which 
they were working, making decisions and what was influencing them.  
 

2 The Chair of the SCR SP also chaired the cross authority working group that initiated and 
developed the cross authority Learning and Improvement Framework. 

 
Development Day 

The Panel also held a Development day to consider the impact of the new SCR criteria in WT 
2013, as this had been presenting some difficulties and discrepancies in application. The 
development day also facilitated a review of: 

Page 144



 

• Membership 
• Referral Forms 
• Referral process and clarity of role of SCR SP members 
• Initial information gathering template and process for circulation  
• Considered and contributed to the new cross authority SCR Process and Learning and 

Improvement Framework 
 

SCR Model 

All SCRs and SILPs have taken into consideration how the family can be appropriately 
included,  where this is possible it has occurred. Where it has not been possible it has been 
reviewed during the process in response to changing circumstances. 

Using key trusted practitioners to engage with the family has been a successful model used 
within one SILP and our aim will be to replicate this. 

Statistical / comparative information. 
 
The Standing Panel has only commissioned one SCR in the year 2013/14 this case was 
completed and ready for submission within the 6 month guidelines; however an adjustment to the 
project plan was agreed by the NCSCB supported by the Independent Chair to enable the 
inclusion of the outcome of the Criminal Trial and associated psychiatric reports. The DfE were 
informed of this decision and supported the rational for it. 

Currently we have not undertaken any comparison exercise with other LSCBs to establish if our 
activity in relation to SCR and SILPs as indicated above is in line with similar areas, this may be 
something we wish to consider in the coming year. 

Achievements to date 

Themes emerging from learning reviews 

The SCRSP has taken an overview of repeated themes developing overriding training and 
learning tools that cut across a number of issues. The excellence in safeguarding tool and 
specific training events have been designed to highlight cross-cutting themes, areas of concern 
and provide advice to improve practice.The two most significant issues have been prioritised for 
additional activity across the partnership.  These are: 

1 Emotional Harm / Distress and self-harm: 

This has featured in a number of reviews and has led to a revision of the NCSCB/ 
NSCB cross authority practice guidance, which includes a specific assessment tool to 
support the evidencing of emotional harm. A training session has been delivered by 
specialist to the city Children’s Legal Team and their colleagues in the county to 
support effective representation of emotional abuse cases when in proceedings. 

2 Self-Harm: 

The NCSCB/ NSCB Practice Guidance has been updated with a practical tool to 
support practitioners who are working directly with young people. 

Page 145



 

Developments locally have included a new service SHARP, specifically to support children with 
self-harming behaviours, a review of supports by Public Health, a new procedure for Children’s 
Social Care in response to safeguarding referrals where self-harming is also present; these are 
now subject to joint assessments by the duty worker and a member of the SHARP team. This has 
also been the focus of CDOP work. 

Key changes to practice as a result of learning      

Below are further examples in addition to the two detailed above: 

• Excellence in safeguarding tool developed incorporating learning from all SCRs and 
SILPs and distributed to all partnership agencies for use 

• Each SILP has resulted in an action plan and Learning Briefing sheet that has been 
distributed to all agencies within the partnership. 

• Safe Discharge Planning Procedure across health and Children’s Social Care has been 
reviewed and updated. 

• Established new procedure for initial assessments between Duty Social care and Self- 
harm team (SHARP) when the referral includes elements of self-harm alongside 
safeguarding concerns. 

• Strengthen the DART processes to include probation as a recommendation from Child 
G SCR action plan. 

• Follow up work to ensure safe and appropriate placements are secured for young 
people in residential care. This was the result of work initiated following Child E and 
subsequently JW 

• YOT critical indents reports are now reviewed by SCR SP to ensure shared learning 
and cross referencing of services where applicable. 

• Cross authority seminar Sept 2013 on Learning from SCRs and other reviews. 
• Attendance at the GP seminar in Nov 2013 by the Children’s Social Care panel rep and 

the NCSCB Board Service Manager 
• Supporting individual agencies to deliver in house briefings, and agency specific 

learning.  
• Improved  process for parents accessing support from CAMHS through FCT to set up 

initial assessments 
• The work of the SCR through the learning obtained from SCR’s and SILPs has 

influenced the review of new cross authority practice guidance for sexual and Emotional 
abuse. 

• Raised the issue of lack of access to CAF training across the partnership 
• Internal process changes within Children’s Social Care have resulted from the various 

reviews conducted, including the sign off by Team Managers if contacts and referrals.  
• Review and update of the mobile families’ policy. 
• Strengthening of the process for sharing of medical reports and strategy meeting 

minutes following injury to a child. 
 

Barriers encountered 
 
Challenges  

New Criteria - working with and adjusting to the new SCR criteria in  Working Together 2013 has 
required a positive and proactive approach by the Panel and through their development day a 
consensus view was achieved. This has been communicated to the National Panel. 

Page 146



 

Interface with the Coroner 

Requests from the Coroner in relation to access to SILP reports has been something new that the 
Panel have needed to address along with the Head of Service for safeguarding. This has been 
worked through with a positive outcome in the relevant 2 cases. Further work with the coronerwill 
take place during 2014/15 to consolidate and formalise this interface. 

Evidencing Impact 

Through their work the SCR SP has identified key themes in practice and key issues in service 
delivery. These have been incorporated into the various outputs descried above in section 4.  

The challenge for the SCR SP is to establish the difference their work will make to the practice of 
workers, and to the families in receipt of services. The Panel will need to formulate creative and 
robust methods to capture impact and to be assured that workers are receiving and implementing 
any new guidance tools or procedures. Impact will need to be considered for each Action plan 
drawn up, and the partnership will need to support the panel by delivering the evidence of impact 
within their service. 

The difference the work of the SCR panel has / will make? 
 

Our aim is that through things such as the learning briefings, and excellence in safeguarding tool 
individual practice will be influenced, team managers will use the tools as an effective supervision 
prompt. The challenges of this are outlined above.  

Some examples where we have made a difference are listed below: 

• Quality assurance processes in residential settings have been significantly strengthened. 
• Our SCR and SILP processes have become more effective with the inclusion of 

practitioners. 
• DART processes have been strengthened by the work to include probation and this will 

continue in 2014/15  
• Safer discharge of babies and children following hospital admission. 
• More effective assessment of children who are referred to Children’s Social Care who 

self-harm and there are also Child Protection concerns. 
 
Conclusion and recommendations from SCR panel 
 
This has been a busy year for the SCR SP who have overseen a high level of activity. They have 
been committed to monitoring action plans and holding agencies to account where changes have 
been identified. They have been successful in addressing concerns in relation to the application 
of the SCR Criteria and met their statutory requirements 
 
Recommendations for work in 2014/15 
 

1. To develop the thematic analysis of reviews undertaken and ensure that learning 
tools/ training priorities these areas. 

 

Page 147



 

2. To work with the Coroner to ensure that information and learning is shared 
efficiently and to the benefit of both processes. 

 

3. To focus on evidencing impact from learning across the Partnership 
 

4. NCSCB Children’s Officer for the SCR SP to undertake some benchmarking with 
other SCR SP – Considering cross authority practice, learning and comparators for 
volume / activities. 

 

SCR Standing Panel (Adults) 

The chair of the SCR Panel (Adults) is the Safeguarding Adults and Consent Matron for 
Nottingham University Hospitals and the Safeguarding Adults Lead of Nottingham City CCG.  
 
The SCR subgroup meets bi-monthly. The aims and objectives of this group are: 
 

• To ensure the multi-agency protocol for the commissioning andundertaking of a 
‘Safeguarding Adults’ serious case review is fit forpurpose; 

• To discharge serious case reviewfunctions on behalf of the Nottingham City Adult 
PartnershipSafeguarding Board to an Independent Chair; 

• Manage serious case review processes and provide information andsupport to panel 
members and overview authors; 

• Receive and consider reports on serious case reviews and ensure thataction plans from 
the findings and recommendations of case reviewsand audits are implemented; 

• Create or contribute to revised and or new policies and proceduresfollowing the 
recommendations of a Serious Case Review from eitherNottingham or from other Local 
Authorities; 

• Consider the impact of a local Serious Case Review and work closelywith the 
Communication and Publicity sub group to ensure robustmedia management protocols are 
included in the Communication Strategy; 

• Explore the funding implications of Serious Case Review Investigationsand report these 
findings to the Task and Finish Finance group; 

• Share findings of Serious Case Review investigations conducted in Nottingham as 
appropriate including other Adult and/or Children’s Safeguarding Boards; 

• To ensure a quorum is clarified in the Serious Case Review Terms of Reference as noted 
below. 
 

Scope of theSCR Panel’s work 
 
At the time of writing, there is not a statutory requirement for the work of the SCR subgroup. 
However, once the Care Act comes into effect, the Nottingham City Adult Safeguarding 
Partnership Board will have a statutory requirement to undertake Safeguarding Adults Reviews.  
 
Key priorities for the group are to continue to assess SCR referrals appropriately, identify and 
disseminate learning from local and national reviews and to update the SCR policy and process.  
 
The SCR subgroup have action plans to monitor and agencies provide assurance to the SCR 
group that these are complete. 
 

Page 148



 

A SILP was undertaken in September 2012 and learning for agencies was agreed by SCR 
subgroup in February 2013. A main recommendation from this process was that the MCA policy 
and procedures be updated this was a cross authority piece of work which has not yet been 
completed.   
 
Training was updated within partner agencies to reflect the recommendations made in the GE 
action plan and the RP SILP action plan.  
 
A small cross county working group looking at the transition process  has been set up. 
 
The SCR and SILP processes require engaging practitioners so that their perspective can 
contribute to identifying the necessary learning. Staff are interviewed as part of the IMR writing 
process for SCR’s and the SILP is a practitioner based event to which practitioners are invited to 
and form a vital part of the process.  
 
Statistical / comparative information. 
 
Since the current subgroup is non-statutory at this present time, the SCR subgroup is unable to 
provide any comparative data that is meaningful.  
 
Achievements in 2013/14 
 
The SCR subgroups achievements for 2012-13 include: 
 

• Initiating and successfully completing its first Serious Incident Learning Process (SILP) in 
June 2013.  

• Assessing four serious case review referrals and unanimously agreeing to initiate two 
serious case reviews, one SILP and one multi-agency learning review to be undertaken 
by health agencies.  

• Identifying the learning from national serious case reviews and ensuring the learning has 
been implemented.  
 

Challenges and barriers encountered 
 
The SCR subgroup has identified a number of barriers but has worked to overcome them as 
outlined below: 
 

• The SCR subgroup agreed to a pilot using a member of the Safeguarding Support staff to 
write the Overview report for a serious case review due to financial constraints. Although 
successfully completed, it is not possible for this to become the ‘norm’ due to time 
pressures and the level of responsibility this entails.  

• An ongoing police investigation has proved problematic to initiating a serious case review 
and has caused delays to the process. This issue is ongoing but is being resolved through 
open dialogue between the chair of the subgroup, the chair of the review, the Police and 
the Safeguarding team.  

• Due to capacity issues, there have been delays to updating the serious case review 
process. This has proved problematic with completing reviews effectively.  

• Capacity issues within other service areas have impacted on the completion of SCR/SILP 
action plans.  
 

The difference the  work of the subgroup has / will make 
 

Page 149



 

The group asked for a piece of work to be completed following a referral in regards to a patient 
with Huntington’s. There was a clear action plan from health agencies. This has resulted in a 
change to the management of patients with Huntington’s.  
All patients with a chronic neurological condition have been reviewed to ensure they are receiving 
appropriate support.  
 
Conclusions and recommendations 
The SCR subgroup is an effective group that has good attendance and meets on a regular basis. 
There is good interaction and challenge between members of the group. During 2013-14, the 
SCR subgroup has introduced new processes to capture learning from serious incidents and has 
recognised that the impact of this learning needs to be evidenced.  Two serious case reviews and 
one SILP have been initiated in year. This has highlighted an urgent need to update the SCR 
processes. Capacity issues and financial constraints are two issues that have been highlighted 
and require resolution.  
 
The SCR subgroup has made the following recommendations for 2014: 
 

• A member of the Safeguarding support staff should not write Overview reports for SCR’s.  
• The SCR process needs revising in line with the Care Act.  

 

REPORT FROM THE CHILD DEATH OVERVIEW PANEL (CDOP) 

The Chair of CDOP is Dr Caroline Brown, Designated Doctor for Safeguarding for the City. 
CDOP comprises all key partner agencies and includes representation from Health: Nottingham 
City CCG, Nottingham University Hospitals Trust through lead nurse for Child Death and 
midwifery, Designated Paediatrician for Unexpected Death; Local Authority: Social Care through 
service manager for Duty, and EDT, Family and Community Teams through Team Manager, 
Disabled Childrens Team through lead practitioner, Public Health and; Police: DCI representation 
 
What we did 
 
CDOP meets 12 times a year. Of these 3 include joint meetings with the Nottinghamshire County 
CDOP. 
 
CDOP met their full commitment of meetings in 2013/14 and reviewed all cases promptly as soon 
as all required information had been made available. Reviews have effectively 
incorporatedfindings from SCR, SILP and other learning reviews (multi and single agency) 
Improved links have been made with the training sub group to ensure partner agencies training 
leads have access to any key learning to incorporate into direct training for practitioners.  
 
Work in the CDOP covered all four quadrants of the Performance Framework in the following 
ways:  
 

• Quantitative: collection and comparison of data, includes the statistical return to theDfE 
annually. 

• Qualitative: Case information is gathered to support each review and is detailed and 
descriptive in relation to information shared by partner agencies and in reviews and 
there is much discussion about management and findings.  

• Engagement with frontline practitioners: there is feedback directly in the rapid 
response procedures through initial and final case discussions, completion of 

Page 150



 

Information collection for expected deaths, increasing involvement with agreement and 
development of recommendations and desirable outcome  

• Engagement with service users: parents and families are asked directly for feedback 
about care and support processes received by bereavement nurses, coroner’s officers, 
and the Rapid Response team feed into the case review. 

•  
What was the impact of work undertaken 
 
STATISTICAL / COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 
 

30 deaths were investigated of which 12 were unexpected deaths 

29 cases were reviewed and ratified including 9 modifiable deaths  

National data is released in July so was not available at the time this Annual Report was 
produced. A comparative review from last year identified a significantly higher death rate per 
population than the national average; although it should be noted numbers are extremely low so 
statistical comparison may be invalid. This information was previously shared with OMG in 
October 2013.  
 
ACHIEVEMENTS TO DATE 
 
Processes are run in line with Working Together 2013. Learning is identified clearly and reviewed 
on a 6 monthly basis. Two specific pieces of work are being undertaken in relation to domestic 
violence and suicide. These pieces of work are nearing completion. The work on domestic 
violence and prevalence in child death will be shared with the DV work stream from the NCSCB 
and the suicide data has informed collection of data about these cases and provided reassurance 
that these extremely sad deaths are reviewed extensively almost always through a SCR or SILP.  
 
BARRIERS ENCOUNTERED 
 
The main barrier to the work is time. The majority of the Panel have no formal time identified in 
their day to day role to attend and undertake work both in reviewing cases and follow up of key 
learning to ensure significant distribution and change in practice. This is the key objective over 
the next year.  
 
THE DIFFERENCE CDOP WORK HAS MADE 
 
Since inception in 2008 CDOP has been involved with a number of changes in practice across 
partner agencies. These include guideline development and change in process for partners in 
supporting families in need of help for their children and young people. Given the number of 
deaths is so small across the 6 years it is possible changes implemented have not yet had 
chance to make a significant difference. However we rarely see similar cases coming through 
where key health guidelines have been implemented. During 2011-12 we had a number of cases 
where there were concerns about the use of interpreters within the acute hospital trust and this 
has significantly reduced. There have been many changes in process which has seen a more 
streamlined approach to data collection, and sharing of information.   
 
CDOP Reviews provide the opportunity to make a difference to the lives for the communities as 
we share learning with Public Health, research programmes  and service providers. Ultimately 
this supports a reduction in deaths where there are modifiable factors and aims to reduce  ill 
health and enable earlier identification of need for intervention.  
 

Page 151



 

CDOP Data feeds into the national picture in relation to child deaths, including patterns and 
trends. Locally the numbers are too small to draw any significant conclusions  
 
STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS 
 
CDOP continues to fulfil its statutory function for the NCSCB, with good representation from 
partnership agencies, positive links with the Nottinghamshire CDOP, and improved practice in 
relation to learning collation and dissemination.   
 
What do we need to do in the future? 
 
The key recommendations made by CDOP in their annual report and approved by the NCSCB 
are: 
 

• that work is undertaken to assess the  impact of changes made directly as a result of 
CDOP learning.  

• that dedicated business office time is allocated to a full review of data of the Nottingham 
City CDOP since 2008, to support the recommendation above. 

• that the DfE consider the inclusion on non-viable infants in the Review process as these 
impact on the numbers of deaths. 

• That Public Health review data in the light of national findings and give consideration to our 
deaths from less common causes to enable appropriate service change    

 

Page 152



 

 

CHAPTER 5  

INDIVIDUAL AGENCY PERFORMANCE 
Whilst the Annual Report focuses on multi-agency priorities set out in the Business Plan 
safeguarding effectiveness in individual agencies is, nonetheless, an important facet of 
performance.  Indeed effective partnership working to secure effective safeguarding relies heavily 
on the quality of safeguarding practice and performance in individual agencies that form the 
Board partnerships. 

This section of the Annual Report draws on the annual reports of constituent agencies and 
headlines key safeguarding achievements and issues that have arisen in 2013/14. 

EAST MIDLANDS AMBULANCE SERVICE 

East Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Trust {EMAS) continues to prioritise safeguarding as a 
critical part of providing high quality care.  Their approach to safeguarding is based on promoting 
dignity, rights and respect, helping all people to feel safe and making sure safeguarding is 
'everyone's business'. Over the past 4 years the Safeguarding agenda has continued to grow 
across EMAS from Board to frontline staff. 

The purpose of this summary is to inform the EMAS Trust Board and Local Safeguarding Boards 
of safeguarding activities which took place from April 2013 to March 2014. This EMAS 
Safeguarding Annual Report demonstrates that staff recognise their safeguarding responsibilities 
and respond effectively to concerns. This is validated through audit analysis and referral activity. 

Key Achievements 

During 2013-2014 there have been a number of key achievements in relation to safeguarding: 

• On-going Board to frontline engagement with the Department of Health Prevent agenda, 
this is delivered within Corporate Induction 

• EMAS  can  demonstrate   compliance  with   both  national  requirements  and  local  
arrangements  for safeguarding adults and children-the workforce  has completed the 
relevant safeguarding education 

• Delivery of Suicide and Self-harm within Essential Education for safeguarding adults and 
children 2013/2014 

• Positive feedback from coordinating commissioners (Erewash Clinical Commissioning 
Group) assurance visits such as Markers of Good Practice for children and Self-
Assessment Assurance Framework for adults 

• Positive feedback from National Ambulance  Safeguarding  Peer review visit by North 
West Ambulance Service 

Page 153



 

• Active involvement in the local safeguarding boards, regional and local multiagency groups 
has helped the organisation's capacity to protect vulnerable people from abuse 

• Introduction and migration to SystemOne electronic referral system 

Going forward the Trust must continue to be vigilant about the evolving safeguarding agenda. 
Early identification and effective information sharing is key to ensuring EMAS remains compliant 
and reacts appropriately to safeguarding our patients. Alongside education delivery, the Trust has 
an active communication plan, governance framework and strong leadership to ensure the 
safeguarding agenda continues to be integral to patient safety and high quality care at EMAS. 

Risks 

The completion of Individual Performance Reviews {IPR) and Essential Education attendance for 
all staff- Divisions have set trajectories for achievement which will be monitored in year - in 
addition the safeguarding team will hold locally based drop in sessions to support local induction 
and updates 

Lack of capacity for increasing safeguarding activity. There is a planned review of the capacity 
and governance arrangements within the Clinical Assessment Support Tea m within the 
Emergency Operating Centre (EOC) to address potential delays in safeguarding referrals and 
care concern.

Page 154



Safeguarding Priorities for 2014/15: 

• Review and respond to imminent statutory safeguarding adult 
guidance/legislation as a result of the implications of Care Act (2014) 

• Review of the Clinical Assessment Support (safeguarding) desk to address 
capacity, workload, governance and management issues to reduce delays in 
frontline staff making safeguarding referral/care concerns and build resilience 
into the service 

• Continued Mental Health Awareness including Dementia care, Mental Capacity 
Act and Dignity in Care 

• Raise staff knowledge and awareness via safeguarding essential education 
2014/15 on safeguarding being part of a continuum of need-from early 
intervention, identification of need and statutory child and adult  protection 
processes this fits with the new Ofsted inspection methodology of safeguarding 
and looked after children services 

• Raise staff knowledge and awareness via safeguarding essential education 
2014/15 the vulnerabilities of Looked after Children and those Privately 
Fostered Children and recognise when they need to be protected and 
safeguarded 

• Continued involvement with the National Ambulance Safeguard ing Peer 
Review 

• Continuing multi-agency  engagement with particular focus on representation at 
Local Safeguarding Adult Boards/LocalSafeguarding Children's Boards 

• Continuing to work with Local Authorities on establishing effective reporting 
mechanisms -follow-up/closing the loop 

• Strengthening information sharing - embedding of SystmOne (IT system to log 
and report safeguarding concerns) 

• The Trust is reviewing all third party contracts to ensure that the quality 
schedule, of whichsafeguarding is a part, is being utilised and robustly 
monitored. 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

The Adult Social Care Directorate is responsible for assessing and commissioning 
services to some of the City’s most vulnerable adults. The Council must make sure 
that the services provided, are consistently safe and of high quality and that 
customers, carers and residents can rely upon this 

Developments in 2013 – 14  

Restructure 

Adult Social Care implemented a major restructure of its business processes in 
December 2013. The key changes in relation to Adult Safeguarding were; 

Page 155



 

• A Single Safeguarding Team to screen and investigate all Safeguarding concerns 
received, except for those in mental health and learning disability services 

• A single Community Review Team, to improve and maintain the throughput of 
reviews  

• A dedicated Placement Review Team to bring greater efficiency and 
effectiveness to safeguarding citizens in adult residential care, regular oversight 
and joint venture opportunities 
 

Quality Assurance 

The Adults Safeguarding Quality Assurance Team continued to co-ordinate and 
chair investigations in Regulated Provider investigations. The team have led and co-
ordinated several provider closures which has demonstrated the effectiveness of a 
specialist team overseeing the complicated task of relocating vulnerable adults to 
new care settings.  

The Adult Safeguarding Quality Assurance Team acts as a specialist advice 
resource both to NCC, and partners; Networks are strong and all Adult Safeguarding 
Leads across Nottingham city liaise regularly in identifying, addressing and debating 
complex Safeguarding issues. 

A monthly safeguarding Case file audit is routine business within Adult Social Care 
and the findings are analysed on a six monthly basis and inform future training and 
development. Individual practice issues are shared with the appropriate line 
manager. 

Proactive Partnership working  

Nottingham can demonstrate a strong partnership in keeping people safe. A monthly 
Quality Information Sharing Meeting is led by the Quality Assurance team where all 
key professionals from partner agencies involved in the contract monitoring, 
regulation and safeguarding investigations share information to risk assess current 
concerns and plan multi-agency interventions. This information is then cascaded to 
front line practitioners in Social Care and Health in order that they are aware of the 
current position with Care Providers. 

The Adult Safeguarding Lead initiated and gained funding from the CCG to hold 6 
‘Smarter Safer Stronger’ Networking events for practitioners involved in 
Safeguarding vulnerable adults which was launched in Jan2014 and oversubscribed 
with 100 health and social care professionals attending and positively evaluating the 
content. The aim is for attendees to learn about the teams and resources they can 
utilise to intervene early when concerns are identified in relation to a vulnerable 
adult, and share information proactively.  

Citizen Involvement and Advocacy 

Questionnaires are frequently utilised during Regulated Provider Investigations to 
ensure that residents and relatives views form part of the investigative process and 
evidence base for tackling poor service provision. A recent development has been 
the forging of a strong link with the Age UK advocacy, who link with the Quality 
Assurance Team when a provider is being investigated and hold surgeries and 
attend residents meetings to ensure the residents voice is heard independently. 

Page 156



 

Learning from Practice 

The Adult Safeguarding Lead regularly holds multi-agency debriefs and Lessons 
Learned following significant Provider Investigations and other critical incidents.Two 
such events were held in  2013 following the closures of two nursing providers in 
quite different circumstances. Action plans have been implemented from both events 
and have informed the development of some key projects which were initiated in 
2013. The Adult Safeguarding Quality Assurance team are currently reviewing the 
recommendations from the Orchid View Serious case Review in order to identify if 
there are any areas which require attention by Nottingham City and their partners. 

A Skilled and knowledgeable workforce 

Adult Social Care benefits from a Specialist Safeguarding Learning & Development 
Officer responsible for a Training plan which includes procedural training, bespoke 
briefings and training to partners.  

The success of the reflective Adult Safeguarding Manager Forum has now been 
expanded, and a Practitioner Forum takes place for Social workers to reflect and 
learn from practice. 

Developments in 2014 - 15 

Early Intervention strategy 

Adult social care is leading is leading a multi-faceted Early Intervention strategy with 
the aim of prevention and early intervention in care settings to ensure the vulnerable 
adults are safeguarded and receive quality care.  

The developments are; 

• A joint funded venture with the CCG to fund 2 Early intervention workers to 
intervene, assess and support care homes when early warning triggers indicate a 
home is beginning to cause concerns amongst professionals involved in 
monitoring and regulation. 

• A project led by Adult Social Care and funded by the CCG to develop a Virtual 
Dashboard with the aim of holding all monitoring and regulatory information from 
the City Council and partners in relation to registered care homes on a real time 
web based browser.  

• The piloting of Dignity in Care Boards within care homes, which will be 
independently chaired and act as forums for complaints, concerns and 
improvements in the care home to be debated, explored and reviewed.  

 

Academic Links 

Adult Social care and Nottingham Trent University are building on the links 
established in 2013 and are looking forward to a close relationship with our local 
Social work academics. It is anticipated that we will be working together in 2014-15 
to develop research programmes which will explore Adult Safeguarding 
interventions, measure outcomes and influence future practice. 

Making Safeguarding Personal 

Page 157



 

Adult Social Care has joined the ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ programme led by 
ADASS and the LGA. The purpose is to develop an outcomes focussed, person 
centred approach to safeguarding. The aim will be to; 

• Ensure that citizens referred for services define the outcomes they want as a result 
of the safeguarding intervention (or outcomes that are defined through Best Interest 
Assessments or with representatives or advocates if people lack capacity) 

• Measure and evidence the amount of citizens whose expressed outcomes are fully 
or partly met. 

Procedures 

Adult Social Care will implement an Internal Adult Safeguarding procedure in  

2014-15 which reflects the new processes following the restructure. We will ensure 
that this meets any of the requirements of the Care Act, and will be shared with 
partners to improve understanding and appropriate challenge of our processes. 

Community thresholds 

A significant amount of work has taken place in ensuring there is consistent 
application of the significant harm threshold in safeguarding investigations in care 
settings. 

It is planned in 2014-15 for a similar strategy to be implemented in improving the 
application of this threshold in community based safeguarding investigations. 

NOTTINGHAM CITY CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP (CCG) 

Overview 

2013/14 saw major changes in the local and national landscape of the NHS, with the 
creation of Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS England and the abolition of 
Primary Care Trusts and Strategic Health Authorities. This, along with national media 
coverage about child deaths and failings in adult care provision has led to increasing 
scrutiny of the arrangements in place to safeguard within public bodies.  
 
In preparation for NHS reform in April 2013, the NHS Commissioning Board issued 
safeguarding guidance‘Safeguarding Vulnerable people in the Reformed NHS: 
Accountability and Assurance Framework’ (March 2013). This guidance set out roles 
and responsibilities in the new NHS architecture and was intended to provide a 
shared understanding of how the system will operate and outlined a series of 
principles and ways of working. 
 
The ‘Report of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry’ 
highlighted the need to ‘end decades of complacency about poor care, detect and 
expose unacceptable care quickly’ and ensures the system takes responsibility to 
remedy poor practice. ‘Everyone Counts: Planning for Patients 2014/15 to 2018/19’ 
mandates that CCG’s local plans must demonstrate how safeguarding duties will be 
discharged and that continuous assurance will be sought on this. 
 

Page 158



 

In 2013/14 NHS Nottingham City Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) set out its 
priorities for safeguarding adults and children and has focused on the quality and 
safety of safeguarding arrangements across the health community. 
 
Exercise of its Safeguarding Roles and Functions 
 
Commissioning and contract management 
 
NHS Nottingham City CCG ensures that all health providers from whom it 
commissions services are compliant with statutory responsibilities and that 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and adults are integral to clinical 
governance and audit arrangements. Whilst no longer a requirement the CCG has 
continued to use the ‘Markers of Good Practice’ framework to monitor the 
safeguarding effectiveness of provider organisations from which it commissions 
services.  All providers were assessed which includedCircle, (previously Nations 
Healthcare) and the outcomes provided significant assurance to NHS Nottingham 
City CCG that Provider safeguarding arrangements were robust.  
 
Continued compliance with the Markers of Good Practice and the SAAF has been 
included in contracts with Nottingham CityCare Partnership, Nottinghamshire 
Healthcare NHS Trust and Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust. TheMarkers 
of Good Practice review in 2014/15 will take place after the Section 11 declaration of 
compliance of the Children Act 2004 to the Local Safeguarding Children Board. 
 
With regard to its Children in Care Services an analysis from the activity of 2013/14 
has noted the following: 
 
• The numbers of children entering care in Nottingham City continues to rise    
• There has been a considerable rise in the numbers of children, we are aware of, 

who are living in the city from other authorities 
• There appears to be a drop in the numbers placed in the city and out of County 

and a rise in the numbers of children placed in the county 
• There is a noted rise in the numbers of children seen within time frames for  their 

Initial Health Assessments (IHA) 
• Registration with a GP remains consistently high, but registration with a dentist 

has not seen the same improvements 
• The numbers of  Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaires (SDQ’s) received with 

the Routine Health Assessments (RHA) paperwork remains low 
 

Independent Contractors 
 
General Practitioner surgeries have nominated leads for safeguarding children and 
the Named Doctor for Safeguarding co-ordinates a quarterly meeting across the City 
to update and develop the Lead Safeguarding GP role. This has been developed 
over the year and is multiagency which enables a collaborative approach to 
safeguarding children and young people.  
 
Safeguarding procedures and processes are assessed during Practice Performance 
development visits and feedback is given. The GP lead for Safeguarding has been 

Page 159



 

instrumental in ensuring that safeguarding and learning and sharing of learning has 
been embedded into practice. 
 
Outcomes for Children and Young People 
 
The Munro review of child protection clearly indicated the need to demonstrate 
measurable outcomes for children and young people. As a result, NHS Nottingham 
City CCG in collaboration with partners developed a multi-agency audit group which 
audits practice and outcomes for children of the key areas identified through learning 
in multiagency reviews. During the year, the Common Assessment Framework 
(CAF/Early Help,ICPC (initial child protection conference), Domestic Violence and 
Children in Care in private and residential establishments have been audited and 
recommendations to improve practice developed 
 
Information Sharing and Reporting Pathways 
 
Nottingham City CCG has developed and implemented a range of arrangements to 
ensure that safeguarding children remains a high priority across the health 
community.  It has in place an information sharing and reporting pathway.  These 
reporting mechanisms have been embedded to ensure that the CCG Governing 
Body receives assurance that controls established to safeguard children are 
operating effectively.  There is also a robust audit trail in place evidencing the receipt 
of information by the CCG internal Safeguarding Children Steering Group from the 
Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Partnership and Provider Safeguarding 
Children Fora.  
 
The CCG Safeguarding Steering Group meets bi-monthly, and is now well-
established for children but in 2013/14 has incorporated the adult agenda making a 
cohesive team in conjunction with considering the development of the Think Family 
approach.   
 
A comprehensive work plan is in place which includes key areas, such as assurance 
processes and training.  
 
Compliance with Section 11 of the Children’s Act 20 04 
 
Nottingham, City Safeguarding Children Board 
 
NHS Nottingham City CCG and key health providers are required to submit their 
annual self-assessment of compliance with Section 11 responsibilities to Nottingham 
City Safeguarding Children Board. In 2013/14 the CCG reviewed the self-
assessment tool and any associated outcomes and subsequent action plans 
regularly at the Safeguarding Steering Group. There are no outstanding issues to 
report from this and in areas where full assurance was not provided there was 
evidence to demonstrate actions were in place and progress was being made, for 
example NHCT have provided assurance of changed arrangements in the 
supervision model used in divisions and safeguarding forums established.  
 
Child Death Overview Panel 
 

Page 160



 

Please see Chapter 4 for the report on CDOP activity 
 
Compliance with the SAAF 
 
NHS Nottingham City CCG reviewed compliance and submitted its self-assessment 
against the relevant SAAF indicators. The overall assessment was that compliance 
was achieved with the requirements in the commissioning domain. 
 
Contest and PREVENT 
CONTEST is the Government’s national counter terrorism strategy which aims to 
reduce the risk to the United Kingdom and its interests overseas from international 
terrorism, ensuring people can go about their lives freely and with confidence. 
 
Nottingham City CCG has a PREVENT strategy and is expected to be involved in 
delivering objectives of this.  The Designated Nurse and Safeguarding Adult Lead 
have been trained in the delivery of the key messages One of the Associate 
Designated Nurses is the Prevent lead and will advise as and when relevant national 
information is cascaded..   
 
Outcomes of Inspections 
 
CQC 
 
NHS Nottingham City CCG did not receive a Safeguarding and Looked after 
Children Inspection during 2013/14. However, in preparation for the new inspection 
methodology, the Designated Professionals in the City and County held meetings 
with providers to identify a process for collating information on cases as significant 
challengeshad been noted in identifying possible cases using the tracking template 
from other local areas inspected by CQC. The process was also reviewed at a 
meeting of the Safeguarding Steering Group along with the themes from reviews of 
other areas. 
 
Ofsted 
 
As outlined elsewhere in this Annual Repiort an inspection by Ofsted of Nottingham 
City’s Services for Children in Need of Help and Protection, Children Looked After 
and Care Leavers (including a Local Safeguarding Children’s Board Review)was 
conducted in March 2014 . 
 
During the inspection cases were trackedand health providers were involved 
inmeetings and contacts during this process.  Alongside the overall inspection there 
was a review of the effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 
(LSCB).  
 
As key partners NHS Nottingham City CCG and health providers wereinvolved in the 
multi-agency approach to collating information on the tracked casesinitially identified 
by the inspection team on arrival. It has to be acknowledged all health partners 
invested significant time and resource into the inspection process evidencing the 
journey of the child through health records.Health partners as members of the 

Page 161



 

Nottingham City Safeguarding Children’s Board and subgroups contributed to the 
review of the LSCB and the role and effectiveness of the partnership.  
 
 
Implementation of Learning from Serious Case Review s and Significant 
Incident Learning Processes 
 
Serious Case Reviews(SCR) for Children and Young People 
 
The following has been undertaken in 2013/14: 
 
• One commissioned but not completed 
• One commissioned and completed  
 
For the completed case, NHS Nottingham City CCG was responsible for 
commissioning both the IMR which included the involvement of the primary care 
services and the health overview report. The findings and recommendations of these 
have become part of the action plan and potentially will have outcomes for 
commissioners and providers. Some of the key issues raised were: 
 
• Impact of Domestic Violence 
• Impact of Parental mental health 
• Self-harm and suicidal thoughts in young people 
• Impact of adult physical health on a family.  
 
SCR for Adults 
 
The following has been undertaken in 2013/14: 
 
• One commissioned and completed 
• One commissioned but not completed 
 
For the completed and not completed case, NHS Nottingham City CCG was 
responsible for commissioning both IMR’s which included the involvement of the 
primary care services. For the not completed case, an IMR for the CCG as a 
commissioning organisation was also completed. The findings and recommendations 
of these will become part of the action plan and potentially will have outcomes for 
commissioners and providers. Some of the key issues raised were: 
 
• Carers assessments 
• Knowledge and awareness of the Mental Capacity Act and Best Interests 

decision making 
• Role of lead professionals 
• Documentation and information sharing 
 
Significant Incident Learning Process (SILP) for Children and Young People  
 
There have been two SILP’s started in 2013/14 on children and young people. These 
alternative reviews have been introduced to enable learning to be gained from cases 

Page 162



 

when either the criteria for a Serious Case Review are not met, or it is agreed that 
there would be valuable learning to be gained by reviewing a particular case where 
there has been some multi-agency safeguarding issues identified.  The Practitioner 
event has given key health professionals opportunity to be able to give the journey 
for the child as noted in their agency files but also to stimulate the learning from a 
frontline practitioner perspective. General feedback is this enhances the reason for 
practitioners about the reasons for the process and actions are noted through the 
need to change practice.  
 
SILP for Adults 
 
The Nottingham City Adult Safeguarding Board (NCASB) commissioned a SILP for a 
vulnerable adult who died at home.  The learning event was attended by 
practitioners from all agencies involved in the deceased care.  The CCG 
commissioned an IMR from the GP service and they will be in attendance at the 
SILP. Learning and best practice will be identified at the event and this will then be 
shared through the various Safeguarding/training forums.  
 
Achievements and Work Undertaken in 2013/14 
 
GP leads forum 
 
The forum continues to develop links with other key agencies who can contribute to 
the learning and development of the wider network of Safeguarding and this has 
been achieved by having a key speaker at the forum. The forum initially focussed on 
safeguarding of Children and Young People but considering the wider Think Family 
agenda and the development of the Safeguarding team the support can now be 
broadened by including the Safeguarding Adult Practitioner. The forum continues to 
develop strong links with our key partners in the local authority within children and 
young people’s departments and it is envisaged this will reciprocate with the adult 
links. 
 
GP Training 
 
Training events continue to be shared with Leads and the Named Doctor has been 
proactive in continue to develop training sessions with Safeguarding team for 
Nottingham City Care and also with other key agencies. Training sessions on 
Systmone with a focus on Safeguarding information and Signs of Safety training has 
been delivered and the programme of training for GP’s continues to be developed 
 
Safeguarding App 
 
The App is currently being developed in conjunction with the Named Doctor for 
Safeguarding. This will contain information for Nottingham City and Nottinghamshire 
County but will be a valuable resource in line with competing access to information 
readily in the world of technological innovation 
 
Effectiveness of Safeguarding Children Training Programmes 
 

Page 163



 

Mechanisms are in place to provide assurance to Nottingham City CCG that staff in 
provider organisations have received safeguarding children and adults training.  
These include the receipt of annual safeguarding reports and also via the self-
assessment audit tools which are required to be completed by all NHS organisations.  
 
Nottingham City CCG training requirements are in accordance with the national 
‘Safeguarding Children and Young People: Roles and Competencies for Health Care 
Staff Intercollegiate document’ September 2010 and the Safeguarding Children 
Training Directory developed by the Department of Health, March 2012.  All eligible 
Nottingham City CCG staff have been provided with training that is commensurate 
with their duties. In September 2012 the training figures for staff was recorded at 
62%, currently figures now indicate 91% for adults and 87% for childrenThe 
Safeguarding team are currently reviewing the training package to incorporate 
current themes and for Children and Young People in accordance with the revised 
Intercollegiate document March 2014 
 
Appointment of Designated Nurse and Associate Designated Nurse Posts 
 
In 2013 following the resignation of the existing post holder Nottingham City CCG 
commissioned a review of the arrangements for safeguarding children as increasing 
pressures and competing demands within the City population had challenged the 
capacity of the Designated Nurse. The reviewer was asked to explore possibilities for 
alternative ways of working which concluded that there was benefit to buying in 
expertise although it also recommended that the substantive Designated Nurse post 
within the CCG should be retained.  
 
There were particular benefits for safeguarding children from this combined 
approach as follows: 
 
• Succession planning into Designated Nurse roles whilst retaining and drawing 

upon local experience and knowledge 
• Enabling health partners to challenge and support partner agencies from a 

coordinated perspective where necessary. 
• Integrated safeguarding service across the Nottingham City Health community, 

with safeguarding views from within provider services 
• Opportunities to further develop quality governance, ensuring that monitoring 

tools were comprehensive and used consistently across the health economy.  
 
A service level agreement was developed and Nottingham University Hospitals NHS 
Trust and Nottinghamshire Healthcare Trust now provide the associate designated 
nursing posts to the CCG.  
 
A substantive Designated Nurse has also been recruited and the CCG has been 
able to secure additional resources from those that were available in the Primary 
Care Trust and the designated nursing team now consists of: 
 
• Designated Nurse – 1 WTE 
• Associate Designated Nurse – 0.4 WTE (2 individuals) 
• Appendix Six demonstrates how the team structures lies within the Quality 

Governance Team of the CCG. 

Page 164



 

 
Adult Safeguarding Leads 
 
The workloadand agenda for safeguarding adults increasedsignificantly in 2013/14, 
mainly due to the numbers of serious case and domestic homicide reviews. 
 
Instead of recruiting to a CCG specific post, it was felt that there would be benefits 
across the health economy from buying in expertise including:  
 
• A strengthened health relationship will ensure that safeguarding services 

provided for the people within Nottingham City are effective and client centred 
• Providing the CCG with invaluable knowledge and expertise of skilled 

practitioners from a range of backgrounds 
• Integrated working allows for economies of scale and effective use of staff time 

when attending meetings and events 
• Development opportunities for practitioners and allowing them to experience 

working in a CCG 
• Opportunities to strengthen the health partnerships within Nottingham City and 

working together to develop the safeguarding agenda throughout Nottingham City  
 
A service level agreement was developed and Nottingham University Hospitals NHS 
Trust now provides the safeguarding adult expertise for the CCG (in addition to the 
resources available for care home quality monitoring).  
 
The CCG has been able to secure additional resources from those that were 
available in the Primary Care Trust and the team consists of: 
 
• Safeguarding Adults and MCA Lead – 0.4 Whole Time Equivalent (WTE) 
• Safeguarding Adults and MCA Practitioner – 1 WTE 
 
As a result of this, our approach to safeguarding vulnerable adults is more robust 
and client centred and we are able to expand some areas of practice from Children 
into adults, for example GP leads and training for staff. 
 
Safeguarding Health Overview Group  
 
Plans to form a Safeguarding Health Overview Group were made during 2013/14 
with the first meeting held in April 2014. This has been identified as a mechanism to 
bring health actions collectively together from the CCG and health providers and to 
maintain and review the learning from significant cases that have necessitated 
actions plans. This should identify gaps in provision and commissioning of services. 
 
Priorities, Risks and Challenges for 2014/2015 
 
The areas of focus, risks and challenges for 2014/15 are: 
 

• Information and Technology Systems 
• Discharge of Statutory Duties and Functions for Safeguarding 
• Suicide and Self-Harm of Young People in Nottingham City  

Page 165



 

• Safeguarding Arrangements in the New System  
• Strategic Review of the Care Home Sector  
• Care Home Quality 
• Raising the local profile of Adult Safeguarding with the Area Team and GPs 
• Impact of the Care Act on the delivery of services and contracts 
• Embedding the Think Family Approach across Service Delivery and 

Commissioning 
• Domestic Violence 
• Equality and Diversity 

 
Audit, Review and Inspection Priorities for 2014/20 15 
 
The Audit, review and inspection priorities for 2014/2015 are to:  
 

• Maintain and strengthen assurance processes 
• Support NHS England in the development of GP’s and their training 
• Implement any recommendations from the CQC Safeguarding and Looked 

after Children Inspection  
• Work in partnership, to deliver the Strategic Business plan for the 

Safeguarding Adults and Children’s Partnership Boards  
 
Conclusion 
 
The last year has continue to see significant change for the National Health Service, 
with pressures of budget reductions, service and structure reviews and 
developments in national and local policy agendas. NHS Nottingham City CCG and 
health partners have continued to rise to challenges continuing to provide effective 
support and safeguarding services to the most vulnerable children and families in the 
health community and the on-going health and wellbeing of all children and families.  
 
NHS Nottingham City CCG continues to prioritise the work of Safeguarding and 
works with the challenges and risks this identifies. As with all safeguarding work this 
cannot be in isolation and in partnership with our wider health and social care 
community, including out Local Safeguarding Boards priority areas will successfully 
be delivered.  
 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE 

Key issues relating to 2013/14 are: 

• The Deputy Chief Fire Officer now has the Principal Officer Responsibility for 
Safeguarding for the Service. 
 

• During the period April 2013 to March 2014, 350 firefighters have received the 
basic Safeguarding Training with 6 Group Managers receiving referral 
training. This training is on-going and will continue to be delivered throughout 
the organisation. 

 

Page 166



 

• Although the number of visits that Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue (NFRS) 
conduct (for home fire safety checks) have reduced over the last 5 years, due 
to a targeted approach, the majority of the client group are now a higher risk 
so the number of referrals have remained constant. 

 
• NFRS are currently awaiting secure e-mail capability before becoming an 

operational member of the County MASH. 
 

• NFRS are now receiving data from Adult Social Care in the County in order to 
identify and respond to the at risk elderly that are responsible for a greater 
proportion of domestic fires. 

 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE POLICE 

The role of Nottinghamshire Police within safeguarding is to exercise its duties under 
sections 10 and 11 of the Children Act 2004.  It has a responsibility for the 
investigation of criminal activity against the vulnerable and those in need of 
safeguarding.  Nottinghamshire Police also must offer support, advice and 
assistance to other agencies in carrying out their safeguarding responsibilities. 
 

Police officers and employees are well placed to identify risk and need to be aware 
of other incidents that they attend that could detrimentally impact on the most 
vulnerable in our community.  Police officers and staff must also be cognisant of 
safeguarding when dealing with children and vulnerable adults as offenders.  Police 
Officers hold the emergency powers of police protection under section 46 of the 
Children Act 1989. 

Police hold a wealth of information that needs to be shared with other agencies in 
order to appropriately safeguard the vulnerable. 

Compliance with Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 (Childrens Only)  
 

All frontline police officers and staff have been required to complete at NCALT E-
learning package on Safeguarding Children.  Officers have also undergone the 
Introduction to Public Protection training through the College of Policing 

The Nottinghamshire MASH remains the point of contact for central management 
and supervisory oversight of safeguarding concerns for both Child and Adult 
safeguarding concerns across both the City and County Local Authorities. 

The internal notification process has been revised, whereby an officer with a 
safeguarding concern in relation to a child or adult can complete one notification 
which is routed to the police team in the MASH.  This is then risk assessed and 
disseminated to appropriate services. 

Page 167



 

Nottinghamshire Police has invested greatly in educating all police officers and 
frontline staff in relation to domestic abuse.  The DASH risk assessment form that 
officers are required to complete has a section specifically to detail children who may 
be in need of safeguarding connected with the victim or perpetrators of domestic 
violence. We reviewed our processes and form January 2nd 2014 we have created 
greater officer professional judgement allowing for the completion of DASH where it 
is deemed mandatory and a process of non-mandatory completion 

Safeguarding training is now delivered as part of the training programme for student 
officers, special constables, PCSOs and trainee detectives. 

Each domestic abuse incident where children are connected is referred through to 
Children’s Social Care via the City DART or the Nottinghamshire MASH.  The City 
DART provides as multi-agency framework for the information exchange and early 
management of domestic abuse cases. 

The Centralised Child Abuse Investigation Unit is expanding its terms of reference 
and in particular to take responsibility for the investigation of child deaths (not road 
traffic). 

The Child protection policy and procedure has been published after review.  

Compliance with the appropriate sections of the Strategic Health Authority document 
‘Safeguarding Adults Self-Assessment and Assurance Framework’ (SAAF)’ (Adults 
Only)  
 

The 5year strategic policing plan 2013-18 references safeguarding within the section 
'Protect, Support and respond to victims, witnesses and vulnerable people'.  As part 
of Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hubs and working in partnership enables the police to 
prioritise the early identification, protection and support the response to those 
children and adults who are most vulnerable to crime, abuse, exploitation and repeat 
victimisation.   The Force has developed and published its Vulnerability Policy which 
has also been shared with officers and staff through training days. 

There is now a centralised overview and management of safeguarding concerns 
related to vulnerable adults, by Nottinghamshire Police.  This will be further 
enhanced through the restructure of the public protection provision by the 
organisation, which will deliver a vulnerable adults team covering force wide. 

Alerter and referrer training in relation to the safeguarding of vulnerable adults is 
being rolled out across the organisation. 

Performance against national and local safeguarding indicators  
 

Page 168



 

The staff responsible for the investigation of child abuse investigation and protection 
are dedicated and committed to providing good outcomes.  The level of service to 
the victims and families in these cases has been highlighted as excellent practise. 

There is strong governance through the Force ACPO lead and Head of Public 
Protection.  The organisation is well engaged at every level with the LSCBs. 

Improvements in the handling of domestic abuse cases by Nottinghamshire police 
has been recognised nationally and there is daily performance management of 
safeguarding enquiries, referrals and domestic abuse incidents. 

Recording and monitoring actions from serious case reviews are well managed. 

Outcomes of audit and review activity 
 

Nottinghamshire Police are committed to multi-agency audits in relation to 
safeguarding cases. 

Internal audits have focussed on compliance with National Crime Recording 
Standards in Child Abuse Investigations and the central management and 
supervisory review of safeguarding cases in a timely manner 

.We have reviewed, after 6 months the restructure of Public Protection which 
showed that the restructure was a positive move and had created better 
management and structures around public protection 

Outcomes of Inspections 
 
We have been inspected around Domestic Abuse in October 2013; this was part of 
the national thematic inspection. We attracted a number of recommendations which 
were commensurate with national findings and are currently working on the action 
plan to address 

Views of staff and service users (including complaints relating to safeguarding) 
 
The Nottinghamshire Police Intranet is used to disseminate new and important 
information to the widest audience and provides the opportunity to comment and 
feedback.  Within the intranet there are dedicated pages focussed on Public 
Protection departments, containing a library of policy, procedure and guidance 
documents. 

At a local level information is disseminated and feedback through daily team briefing 
and meetings. 

There is an escalation policy in line with local procedures and most complaints are 
handled by the dedicated Detective Inspector.  There have been no substantiated 
complaints to report in this period. 

Page 169



 

The organisation has a professional standards department which investigates issues 
of professional misconduct and a system as in place for the discreet reporting by 
employees. 

Workforce arrangements for agency staff, contracts and any commissioning 
arrangements  
 
All employees recruited to Nottinghamshire Police undergo a vetting process at the 
appropriate level for their role. Staff working within Public Protection are required to 
be cleared at Management Vetting level. 

Non police personnel co-located with police or with access to police systems and 
information are required to be enhanced CRB checked or cleared to Non Police 
Personnel Vetting level 2. 

Agency staff are vetted and recruited to the same standard. 

Progress and achievements. 
 

The police contribution to Nottinghamshire MASH is a strength. The discussions 
remain open and ongoing as to the viability of an Integrated MASH incorporating 
Nottingham City Adult and Children’s social care. 

Implementation of learning from SCRs 
 

Specific for 2013 / 14 

One SCR recommendation related to ensuring that all missing persons are recorded 
correctly. We have now introduced MFH coordinators and officers have been trained 
in how to recognise vulnerability and when to make a referral via a C51 in relation to 
both children and adults. In August 2013, Nottinghamshire Police commenced a new 
one day training delivery to all frontline police officers and police staff (Response and 
Neighbourhood Policing Teams).  The subject matter will be ‘Vulnerability’ and aimed 
to support a holistic frontline approach to safeguarding and vulnerability, taking full 
consideration of mental health, substance misuse and domestic violence in both 
adults and children. This training has commenced and is ongoing. 
 
FN13 – Timely and focussed police investigations and effective strategy discussions. 
Also effective monitoring of bail conditions including sharing the details with relevant 
agencies. 
 
Risks and Challenges 
 
There are significant risks and challenges in terms of increased workload from 
reports of domestic abuse, historic abuse cases and balancing that with a workforce 
who are managing a huge portfolio of activity and risk. 

Future Developments 

Page 170



 

 
Audit, review and inspection priorities for the forthcoming year 
 
The priority will be to ensure a multi-agency approach in preparing for the new 
programme of inspection. 

Effectiveness of internal Safeguarding Training Programme 
 
This is commented upon previous in section 2.  Staff working directly within Public 
Protection will undergo a programme of training including the Introduction to 
Safeguarding courses.  All staff are trained or training to become PIP 2 Detectives 
(Professional Investigators Programme) and will be required to undertake the 
SCAIDP (Specialist Child Abuse Investigators Programme.   

Multi-Agency training programmes are made available and accessed where relevant 
to the role. 

 

NOTTINGHAM UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS TRUST 

CHILDREN’S SAFEGUARDING 

Health providers must ensure that a culture exists in which safeguarding is 
everybody’s business, and poor practice is identified and tackled. Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Boards (LSCB) have a responsibility to ensure public 
agencies work together effectively to safeguard children and young people. In 2013 
the updated statutory guidance “Working Together to Safeguard Children and Young 
People” was published. NUH is represented on Nottingham City LSCB by the Lead 
Director for Safeguarding, and on Nottinghamshire LSCB by members of the 
safeguarding team and by agreed liaison with the director-level representation from 
Sherwood Forest Hospitals. 

Progress against key CQC national and regulatory re quirements 

Safe recruitment 

All applicants for posts in NUH must undergo a formal selection interview. Prior to a 
final offer of employment the central recruitment team ensure they have evidence of 
the applicant’s 

Identity 
References 
Professional Registration 
Qualifications 
Right to Work 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check (including a check  
against the barred lists if the work involves regulated activity) 
Occupational Health clearance 

Page 171



 

 
Completion of pre-employment check lists is audited. A record of DBS checks is held 
corporately.  

Effective staff training  

Safeguarding training is mandatory for all NUH staff. Compliance with mandatory 
training in 2012-2013 was low for all topic areas. The safeguarding team have been 
engaged in the recovery work being co-ordinated by Learning and Organisational 
Development. Compliance levels are reported monthly to the Trust Board.   

At the current time, a complete refresh of the training status for all staff was initiated 
in April 2014. From this date, all staff will have annual birthday-month anniversary 
training to levels 2 and 3, which exceeds national standards, as well as new starter 
induction training.  Training is delivered in line with the Intercollegiate Guidelines 
2014.   

Ten Safeguarding Champions have been identified in the Children’s Hospital and 
Maternity.  

Effective supervision arrangements 

The safeguarding children supervision strategy has been updated and forms part of 
the revised Clinical Supervision Policy.  Safeguarding specialists deliver planned 
supervision for all relevant staff. Safeguarding supervision documentation is 
standardised. 

Working in partnership with other agencies 

The Trust fulfils its duties, attending all relevant Nottingham City and 
Nottinghamshire Safeguarding Children’s Boards and their sub-groups.  

Identification of Named Professionals for safeguarding 

There are three Named Doctors for safeguarding children, each with one PA (4 
hours) per week, a Named Nurse, and a Named Midwife for safeguarding unborn 
babies. The roles are supported by a team of 3.8 WTE safeguarding nurse/midwifery 
specialists. 
 
Performance monitoring responsibilities 
 
NUH provides CQC, Ofsted, and LSCBs (as required by Section 11 of The Children 
Act) with evidence that it is discharging its safeguarding duties.   

The self-assessment ‘Markers of Good Practice’ was submitted (May 2013) to 
Nottingham City and Nottinghamshire County Clinical Commissioning Groups who, 
along with the NHS Local Area Team, have a statutory duty to gain assurance from 
provider organisations re safeguarding systems robustness. In the self-assessment 
there were no red ratings, three amber and 72 green. The amber ratings relate to 

Page 172



 

number of staff trained, audit of attendance at multi-agency training, and audit of 
midwifery supervision records.  

In November 2013 CQC inspected NUH, including its Children’s Services. Its report 
described no significant safeguarding issues. 

Serious Case Review process 

During 2013 NUH contributed Reports to three SCRs (one for Nottingham City).  
NUH also participated in two SILPs. 

The SCRs have not yet been published but the reports from NUH did not describe 
serious shortcomings in NUH care or practice. The key points raised were;  

Impact of domestic abuse 
Impact of parental mental health 
Children not brought to appointments 
Self-harm and suicidal thoughts in young people 
Impact of adult physical health on a family 
 
The Safeguarding Children & Young People Committee monitors all SCR action 
plans to full implementation/completion. The committee reports to the Clinical Risk 
Committee.  A new joint adult/child serious case review group will now jointly 
oversee NUH implementation of recommendations from SCRs. 

Supporting local safeguarding  

The Trust’s local policy and procedure, guidance and flowcharts are consistent with 
local multi-agency arrangements 

Safeguarding activity (including midwifery and domestic abuse contacts) increased 
by 28% to 2413 contacts in 2013 compared with 2012.  The main increases have 
been in referrals for young people who have self-harmed and complex midwifery 
cases requiring pre-birth and post-discharge planning.  

1505 contacts (62%) were to the generic Safeguarding Team, 434 (18%) to the ED 
domestic abuse specialist, and 474 (20%) to the safeguarding midwives. In addition 
there were 246 children and young people seen for child protection medicals at 
NUH.  

The team have also been involved in circa 500 multi-agency safeguarding meetings. 
There has been a notable increase in Safe Discharge Planning Meetings, particularly 
where young people have self-harmed, and in Initial Child Protection Conferences 
for the Unborn.  

The Safeguarding Children and Young People committeemeets quarterly with 
regular representation from the designated leads (medical, nursing, corporate and 
HR).   

Page 173



 

Monthly meetings are held with Social Care Service Managers and Leads to promote 
shared learning, discuss cases that have been escalated and liaise between 
agencies. Management of the complex midwifery caseload is supported by the multi-
agency pregnancy liaison group (MAPLAG), which the Named Midwife attends. 

‘Prevent’. Department of Health ‘Prevent’ training commenced at NUH in 2013. Staff 
in the emergency department (ED) and the Children’s Hospital have been prioritised. 
NUH provides a monthly report to the regional health lead. 

In 2013 the Safeguarding Adults Matron referred two people to the CHANNEL group 
(a multi-agency PREVENT-initiated team to identify and divert people away from risk 
of radicalisation) following concerns raised by NUH staff: the feedback was that 
these were relevant referrals.  

Four members of NUH staff, including a member of the safeguarding children team, 
have been accredited as ‘Prevent’ trainers.  

Providing advice and expertise for fellow professionals 

The safeguarding nurses and midwives provide advice and guidance to any member 
of NUH staff who has concerns about the safety or welfare of an unborn baby, child 
or young person.  

 

Twenty two safeguarding children champions across the Trust have recently been 
identified across Family Health and are linking with the more established 
safeguarding adult champions across the Trust 

Child Death Review Function   

NUH is commissioned to provide the local Child Death Review process. This 
provides a rapid response and information-gathering after an unexpected child death 
in Nottingham City and Nottinghamshire County. The safeguarding Board received 
an Annual Report.   

Priorities for 2014 

There is a number of priorities established for the coming year. These are: 

• Increase uptake of safeguarding supervision, particularly by generic 
community midwives (attendance was sporadic in 2013).  

• Improve data collections systems used in Safeguarding by continuing to refine 
the NOTIS system (above) and using the DATIX risk reporting system to 
produce statistical safeguarding information not available via the NOTIS 
system. The Children’s Hospital is also working towards Electronic Records 
by April 2015.   

Page 174



 

• Improve the sharing and learning from Serious Case Reviews, and audit  
implementation of recommendations 

• Improve Multiagency audit work. 

Summary 

Safeguarding activity and the demand for specialist team expertise increased by 
28% year-on-year.  

This mirrors the experience of other agencies [see Nottingham City Safeguarding 
Children Annual Report (June 2013)]. In 2012/13 there was a 44% increase in 
commenced Child Protection Plans (600). 463 such plans were open at 31 March 
2013 compared to 297 twelve months before. 

A notable contributor to the increased demand on NUH safeguarding was increased 
mental health presentations (including self-harm) at NUH.  

Despite these pressures, the Safeguarding Team provided effective specialist 
expertise and by training, advice and direct involvement ensured effective Trust-wide 
safeguarding of children and young people.  

ADULT SAFEGUARDING 

This section of the report provides a description of work in Nottingham University 
Hospitals NHS Trust (NUH) in 2013 to safeguard vulnerable adults. All health 
providers are required to demonstrate that they have safeguarding leadership and 
commitment at all levels of their organisation and that they are fully engaged and in 
support of local accountability and assurance structures, in particular via the local 
safeguarding boards (statutory bodies for safeguarding).1 
 
Health providers must ensure that a culture exists in which safeguarding is 
everybody’s business, and poor practice is identified and tackled. Local 
Safeguarding Adults Boards (LSAB) have a responsibility to ensure public agencies 
work together effectively to safeguard vulnerable adults. NUH is represented on 
Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board, by the Lead Director for Safeguarding/ 
Named Doctor for Adult Safeguarding. 
  
Progress against key CQC national and regulatory re quirements 
 
Safe recruitment 
 
All applicants for posts in NUH must undergo a formal selection interview. Prior to a 
final offer of employment the central recruitment team ensure they have evidence of 
the applicant’s 

                                                           
1Safeguarding vulnerable people in the reformed NHS: Accountability and assurance framework, NHS 
Commissioning Board,  published 21 March 2013 

Page 175



 

 
• Identity 
• References 
• Professional Registration 
• Qualifications 
• Right to Work 
• Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check (including a check  
 against the barred lists if the work involves regulated activity) 
• Occupational Health clearance 
 
Completion of pre-employment check lists is audited. A record of DBS checks is held 
corporately.  
 
Effective training of all staff 
 
Training figures for mandatory Level 2 safeguarding adults training were low for 
2013. However, NUH is currently in a recovery phase and steps are being taken to 
try and rectify this performance issue. The safeguarding adults team have been very 
engaged in the work being co-ordinated by Learning and Organisational 
Development and has provided supplementary information for inclusion in the 
mandatory training handbook to accompany the mandatory training DVD. In areas 
deemed as high risk by the safeguarding vulnerable adults matron (SVAM) - for 
example admissions areas - key staff have been asked to complete the e-learning 
package written earlier this year by the SVAM.  In addition to this the safeguarding 
adults team have been providing face to face training within the ward areas upon 
request and have been very proactive in offering this to meet the needs of staff. This 
has already had a positive impact on training figures reported to the Trust Board. 
 
The safeguarding adults team were fully involved with the creation of the new NUH 
mandatory training DVD and have been asked to provide expert advice during the 
filming of this new DVD. This will be launched on May 1st 2014. 
 
To help ensure clinical areas have staff who are trained to a high standard the 
safeguarding adults team has been delivering additional Level 3 adult safeguarding 
training to staff who have shown a special interest in becoming safeguarding 
champions in their respective directorates. This has been well received by all 
specialities and the Trust currently has 90 staff with up-to-date training at this level. 
 
Effective supervision arrangements 
 
The SVAM provides supervision for the learning disability liaison team, domestic 
abuse specialist nurses and adult safeguarding specialist practitioner, as well as the 
safeguarding lead in the south county clinical commissioning (group) CCG.  
 

Page 176



 

Supervision is provided on request to members of staff following a safeguarding 
adult incident or complex case in the form of a formal debrief. 
 
Performance monitoring responsibilities  
 
NUH provides Local Safeguarding adults Boards and Commissioners with a copy of 
the Safeguarding Adults Assurance framework. NUH is now either green or blue 
(excelling) in all areas of this assessment.   
 
In November 2013 CQC inspected NUH, its report described no significant 
safeguarding issues and was positive. 
 
Promoting good professional practice 
 
Every November and December the safety of the vulnerable patient benchmark is 
scored. 
 
December 2013 Results 
 
Of the 183 areas that scored:  
94 (51.4%) scored GOLD 
80 (43.7%) scored GREEN 
9 (4.9%) scored RED 
 
Direct comparisons cannot be made to previous year’s results due to the changes in 
the benchmark scoring format; however previous year’s results are outlined below 
(Table 1). 
 
          Table 1: Comparison of scores 2009-2012 

 2009 2010 2011 2012 
Gold 0 16 20 68 
Green 26 37 24 33 
Amber 70 90 119 72 
Red  26 5 14 2 

Total  122 149 177 168 
% of areas scoring 
Green/Gold  

21% 36% 25% 56% 

 
 
Gold Scores: Whilst direct comparison of previous scores cannot be made, there is 
a continuous improvement in the number of clinical areas scoring Gold or Green 174 
(95.1%). All indicators scoring less than 90% are now included within the Trust 
Essence of Care Action Plan. This includes indicators 3, 5, 7, 9 and 10. 

Page 177



 

 
All the red scoring clinical areas have been followed up by the Safeguarding Team 
and it has been identified that there were a number of differing reasons for the red 
scores.  Matrons are working with Ward Sisters / Charge Nurses to implement and 
monitor actions for sustainable improvement in these areas.  
 
Serious Case Review process  
 
 NUH has been involved in three serious case reviews in the last 12 months (two for 
Nottingham City) that were commissioned by the local safeguarding adult’s board. 
Neither of these have been published as of yet. 
 
Supporting local safeguarding  
 
The Trust’s local policy and procedure, guidance and flowcharts are consistent with 
local multi-agency arrangements 
 
In the last 12 months NUH made 138 safeguarding adults notifications to the local 
authorities. Despite only 32 of these going into full safeguarding adults procedures, 
feedback from both city and county adult social care has been very positive 
regarding the quality of NUH notifications.    
 
The Deprivation of Liberty (DOL) Safeguards came into force on the 1 April 2009. 
These protect patients without capacity who need to be deprived of their liberty in 
their best interests, and provide a right of appeal through the courts.  
 
The Trust is a ‘managing authority’ with respect to the DOL Safeguards by virtue of 
being an organisation providing care. The primary care trusts were the ‘supervising 
authorities,’ as commissioners of health care, but this responsibility moved to the 
local authorities from 1April 2013. A managing authority must try to ensure that all 
possible steps have been taken to avoid a deprivation of liberty situation occurring. 
However, despite these steps being taken, if a managing authority has reason to 
believe that a patient is currently being, or is likely within the next 28 days to be 
cared for in a situation that might amount to deprivation of liberty, it must seek an 
authorisation from the relevant supervisory body.  
 
In 2013, fourteen urgent deprivation of liberty authorisations were submitted to the 
supervisory body. Of these, 14 urgent authorisations, four met the criteria for a 
ongoing standard authorisation. 
 
Safeguarding vulnerable adults committee (SVAC) - the safeguarding vulnerable 
adults committee continues to develop with regular representation from the dementia 
steering group, social services and the safeguarding/MCA champion forum, along 
with the designated leads (medical, nursing, corporate and HR).   
 

Page 178



 

The SVAC and its children and young people counterpart have agreed to meet bi-
annually. This is important to ensure the Trust follows a more ‘Think family’ 
approach. 
 
‘Prevent’The compulsory Department of Health Prevent training commenced at NUH 
in 2013. Staff in the emergency department (ED) and the Children’s Hospital have 
been prioritised. Monthly reporting is now in place for Prevent Training to the 
regional health lead..  
 
In 2013 the Safeguarding Adults Matron has referred two people to the CHANNEL 
group (a multi-agency PREVENT-initiated team to identify and divert people away 
from risk of radicalisation) following concerns raised by NUH staff: the feedback was 
that these were relevant referrals. Five members of NUH staff, including a member 
of the safeguarding children team, have been accredited as trainers following 
completion of the ‘train the trainers’ course (a process that allows training to be 
cascaded throughout the organisation) . 
 
Providing advice and expertise for fellow professionals 
 
The Trust has 50 safeguarding adult and mental capacity act champions with 
coverage in each directorate, including community services.  Their role is to: 
 
a) give advice and support around mental capacity and safeguarding adults to
 staff in their respective directorates; 
b) to assist with the embedding of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 within the
 specialties in which they are based; 
c) to drive forward the awareness of domestic and sexual abuse and the
 implementation of the use of the domestic violence, stalking and harassment
 risk assessment tool (DASHRIC). 
 
Each safeguarding champion can now be identified by their ‘safeguarding champion’ 
lanyard. The safeguarding champions have clear objectives and a structured 
‘message of the month’ timetable to ensure that there is consistency across the Trust 
in the messages delivered. 
 
Resourcing of adult safeguarding 
 
Last year challenges to the resourcing of safeguarding vulnerable adults function 
were identified. A paper was presented to CET and funding for a substantive Band 7 
post to support the SVAM was agreed. This post has been recruited to. 
 
The Trust has also recruited to a domestic abuse specialist nurse post. This post has 
been funded by the NUH Charity for a fixed term of two years. This post is an 
exciting development and is the first of its kind. The post is being evaluated formally 

Page 179



 

by a professor at the University of Nottingham.  An article on this post has been 
submitted to the Nursing Standard and it is hoped that this will be published in 2014. 
 
Earlier this year the safeguarding adults team at NUH was approached by the 
Nottingham City Clinical Commissioning Group to ask if the SVAM could be 
seconded to them to help set up its safeguarding adults service. As a result of this 
discussion, a decision was made for NUH to provide this to the CCG and a service 
level agreement was drawn up. To cover this service an additional 1.4 WTE posts 
have been recruited to, funded by the CCG. This is an exciting opportunity for the 
safeguarding adults team and will help build up skills and relationships with private 
providers of nursing care within Nottingham City.  
 
Priorities for 2014 
 
The following priorities for action have been set for 2014/15; 
 

• To increase uptake of mandatory training. 
• To improve data collections systems using functions of DATIX risk reporting 

system to record feedback from adults social care and produce data; 
• To improve the sharing and learning from Serious Case Reviews, and audit  

implementation of recommendations 
 
Summary 
 
In summary, the last 12 months have been very positive for adult safeguarding. The 
safeguarding vulnerable adults team agenda is continually evolving and will now 
include the application of the Mental Health Act, domestic and sexual abuse and 
‘Prevent’ in addition to the recognised adult safeguarding agenda, implementation of 
the requirements of the Mental Capacity Act (including the Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards) and care for patients with learning disabilities. The increase in 
resources has helped enormously in driving this agenda forward.  
 
The communications campaign has increased awareness of safeguarding adults 
across the Trust and the systems and processes in place for managing safeguarding 
adult concerns are effective. We have a really good structure within NUH which 
functions well from the executive lead to the safeguarding champions within the 
wards and departments. 

Page 180



 

 

 

CHAPTER 6  

FUTURE CHALLENGES: OUR BUSINESS PLAN 
FOR 2014/15 
The Boards have adopted a new approach to business planning for 2014/15.  This 
aims to link the Business Plan to the quality assurance and performance 
management arrangement and to our risk management processes.  The new 
Business Plan is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
In addition the NCSCB has incorporated into its business planning the outcomes 
from the Ofsted review undertaken in March 2014 specifically reflecting the areas for 
improvement that were identified in the report.  There is a distinct NCSCB Ofsted 
action plan that will be monitored and evaluated alongside the action plan produced 
by the local authority.  The NCSCB Ofsted Action Plan is attached as appendix 2 for 
information. 
 
In brief the key priorities set in our Business Plan are: 

Priority 1:  To be assured that ‘Safeguarding is Everyone's Responsibility’ 

Priority 2a :  To be assured that children and young people are safe 

Priority 2b :  To be assured that adults in need of safeguarding are safe 

Priority 2c:  To be assured that services are effectively coordinated 

Priority 3 :  To be assured that our Learning and Improvement Framework secures a 

workforce fit for purpose and is raising service quality and safeguarding 

outcomes for children, young people and adults  

 

Underpinning these priorities are a number of cross-cutting priorities that are 

intended to be delivered within all the priorities above. These are that: 

 

• Safeguarding services are co-ordinated 

• The voices of children and adults are heard 

• The voices of staff are heard 

• Sub-regional and regional co-ordination will be maximised – specifically to 

assist partners who work across local authority boundaries 

• Effective communication will underpin all Board activity 

Page 181



 

 

As stated above a full version of the Business Plan is attached as appendix 1. 

Safeguarding is everyone’s business.  We hope that colleagues across the 
NCSCB/NCASPB partnerships of agencies will support our overall objective to 
improve safeguarding outcomes for children, young people and adults in 
Nottingham.  I also hope that this Plan presents a clear direction of travel and a 
focused set of priorities and supporting actions that will enable everyone to 
understand their particular role in delivering the ambitious programme of 
improvement that aims to keep children, young people and adults in Nottingham 
safe. 

 

Paul Burnett 

Independent Chair, Nottingham City Safeguarding Chi ldren Board and 
Nottingham City Adult Safeguarding Partnership Boar d

Page 182



 

 

 

APPENDICES 

 
Appendix 1:  NCSCB and NCASPB  Business Plan 2014/1 5 

 

Appendix 2: NCSCB Ofsted Review Action Plan 

 

Appendix 3: CSE Action Plan 2013/14 Report

Page 183



 

113 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

 

 
Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

Nottingham City 

Children’s and Adults Business Plan 2014/15 

 CONTENTS        

Business Plan Priorities 

 

Section A  

Priority 1:  To be assured that ‘Safeguarding is Everyone's Responsibility’ 

 

Priority 2a:  To be assured that children and young people are safe across the child’s journey 

including the transition to adult services. 

 

Priority 2b:  To be assured that adults in need of safeguarding are safe. 

 

Priority 2c:  To be assured that safeguarding services are effectivelycoordinated across children 

and adult services – applying the ‘Think Family’ concept. 

 

Priority 3:  To be assured that our Learning and Improvement Framework secures a workforce 

fit for purpose and is raising service quality and safeguarding outcomes for children, 

young people and adults.  

 

Section B  

Framework for Quality Assurance and Performance Man agement  

 

 

Page 184



 

114 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

NOTTINGHAM CITY NCSCB AND NCASPB - Business Plan Pr iorities 2014/15  

Priority 1:  To be assured that ‘Safeguarding is Everyone's Responsibility’ 

Priority 2a : To be assured that children and young people are safe 

Priority 2b : To be assured that adults in need of safeguarding are safe 

Priority 2c:  To be assured that services are effectively coordinated 

Priority 3 : To be assured that our Learning and Improvement Framework secures a workforce fit for 

purpose and is raising service quality and safeguarding outcomes for children, young people and 

adults  

CROSS CUTTING 

Safeguarding services are co-ordinated 

The voices of children and adults are heard 

The voices of staff are heard 

Sub-regional and regional co-ordination will be maximised – specifically to assist partners who work 

across local authority boundaries 

Effective communication will underpin all Board activity 

 
 Priority 1: To be assured that ‘Safeguarding is Ev eryone's Responsibility’  

 The focus of this priority is on partnership and individual agency effectiveness in safeguarding 

 delivery and developing and embedding outcomes focus across the partnerships. 

  

 Outcomes sought in 2014/15. 

 

1.1 Ensure Boards’ and partner agency compliance with Working Together 2013 (WT13) and 

the Care Bill. 

1.2 Ensure full agency compliance in Section 11 and SAF Audit processes. 

1.3 Ensure that the Board, OMG and Subgroups: 

a.  have appropriate and regular attendance rates, 

b.  have capacity to deliver Business Plan expectations, 

1.4 The Board drives partnerships and partner agencies to own, prioritise, resource, improve 

and positively impact on safeguarding. 

1.5 The Board receives management information to evidence, scrutinise and challenge 

performance so that it knows the safeguarding strengths and weaknesses of agencies, both 

individually and collectively, and the safeguarding outcomes for service users. 

1.6 Secures the effective implementation of new practice guidance issued in 2014. 

1.7 Formulate and implement the Information Sharing Protocol. 

 

1.8 Safeguarding roles and responsibilities and outcomes are explicit in the commissioning, 

contracting, delivery, monitoring and review of services. 

Page 185



 

115 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

1.9 The ‘voice’ of children, young people, adults and practitioners is heard and acted on across all 

priorities. 

 

We will evidence our performance on the above as fo llows: 

 

 Priority 2a: To be assured that children and young people are safe across the child’s 
journey including the transition to adult services.  

2a.5  That children subject to child protection plans and those in need have high quality multi agency 

plans in place. 

2a.6  Children at high risk/vulnerable are being identified and risks managed to secure positive 

outcomes.  The groups that we have prioritised for 2014/15 are: CSE; Missing; Domestic 

Violence/Abuse; Self-Harm. 

2a.7 Effective transitions from children to adult services where appropriate. 

 

2a.8 Children/young people who are privately fostered are identified and supported. 

2a.9  The workforce has capacity to safeguard individuals effectively. 

2a.10  Adults who are assessed as posing risk to children and young people in need of safeguarding 

are effectively managed through MAPPA and MARAC and that risk to others is mitigated. 

 

We will evidence our performance on the above as fo llows: 

 
ANALYSIS OF QUANTITATIVE 

DATA 

Analysis of performance data. 

ENGAGEMENT WITH SERVICE 

USERS 

Participation by young people at their 

meetings.Consultation 

questionnaires,Complaints and complements, 

Parents & carers participation 

inmeetings.Consultation with service users. 

QUALITATIVE EVIDENCE 

Findings from multi-agency and single agency 

audits, SCRs, SILPS, DIP sampling, SAF/Sect 11. 

 

ENGAGEMENT WITH FRONT LINE 

STAFF 

Staff surveys, Exit Interviews, Whistle 

blowing, Practitioner Events/ 

Training, 

Safeguarding Improvement 

Quality Assurance and 

Performance Management 

Page 186



 

116 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

 

Priority 2b – To be assured that adults in need of safeguarding are safe  

 

2b.2    Thresholds for safeguarding adults are clear, understood and consistently applied across the  

 partnership. 

2b.3 The followings groups that have been previously identified at risk are adequately safeguarded: 

d.  those receiving self-directed support and personal health budgets & those adults living with or 

receiving services from registered providers; 

e.  those affected by MCA/DoLS 

f. those experiencing domestic abuse; 

2b.4 The workforce has capacity to safeguard individuals effectively. 

 

We will evidence our performance on the above as fo llows: 

ANALYSIS OF QUANTITATIVE DATA 

1. Referrals by source. 

2. Analysis of relevant performance data 

3. LADO data 

4. Benchmarking against previous years statistics. 

5.Reports on agency attendance at key meetings  

 

 

ENGAGEMENT WITH SERVICE USER 

1. Feedback from Strength and difficulties 

questionnaires. (FCT) 

2. Participation by parents, children and 

young people in their meetings. 

3. Service User Feedback forums. 

4. Complaints and Compliments. 

 

QUALITATIVE EVIDENCE 

1. Section 11 audit analysis 

2. Findings from SCR / SILPs.   

3. Have the audits led to improved practice – dip 

test.  

4. How effectively are audits used to challenge 

practice across agencies? 

5. IRO reports on multi-agency practice  

 

ENGAGEMENT WITH FRONT LINE 

STAFF 

1. Surveys. 

2.Agencies’ annual reports. 

3. Practitioner events. 

4. Whistle blowing. 

Safeguarding Improvement 

and Performance Management 

 

Page 187



 

117 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ANALYSIS OF QUANTITATIVE DATA  

No of alerts, source of referral, outcome of 

investigation, location of abuse, timescales, number 

of investigations with police involvement, number of 

prosecutions  of perpetrator,  DOLS data. 

 

 

ENGAGEMENT WITH FRONT LINE 

STAFF 

1. Staff surveys. 

2. Staff learning from SCRs /SILPs 

 

QUALITATIVE EVIDENCE 

1. Findings from SAF, single & multi-agency 

audits. 

2. Issues identified in SCRs / SILPs.  

3. Minutes of meetings. 

4. Annual reports by agencies. 

ENGAGMENT WITH SERVICE USERS 

1. Involvement in SILP/SCR, 

2.  Outcome data from safeguarding 

investigations (once available), 

3. Family feedback from PiPs and provider 

closures,  

4. Complaints. 

Safeguarding Improvement and 

Performance Management 

 

Page 188



 

Priority 2c – To be assured that safeguarding servi ces are effectively 

coordinated across children and adult services – ap plying the ‘Think Family’ 

concept 

2c.1     Adult services to consistently consider the safeguarding of children in households 

where they are 

 working with an adult and make referrals for support and intervention where 

necessary. 

2c.2  Children’s services to consistently consider the safeguarding of adults in households 

where they are working with children and make referrals for support and intervention 

where necessary. 

2c.3 Services that work with “whole” families are effectively coordinated (e.g. Priority 

Families) and secure added value in ensuring and co-ordinating effective 

safeguarding. 

 

We will evidence our performance on the above as fo llows: 

 

Page 189



 

119 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

 

 

 

ENGAGEMENT WITH FRONT LINE 

STAFF 

1. Partnership Road shows. 

2. Partnership Newsletters. 

3. Take up of safeguarding training by adult 

services. 

4. Awareness raising of ‘Think Family’  

ANALYSIS OF QUANTITIVE DATA 

1. Referrals from adult services to children’s 

services. 

2. Referrals from children’s services to adult 

services. 

3. Data from Priority Families.  

 

QUALITATIVE EVIDENCE 

1. Findings from audits 

3.How have audits improved practice. 

 

ENGAGEMENT WITH SERVICE USERS 

(Hearing the Voice of the Child/Young 

Person / Vulnerable Adult 

Feedback from service users. 

Complaints and complements. 

Feedback from young carers. 

4. 

Safeguarding Improvement and 

Performance Management 

 

Page 190



 

120 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

Priority 3: To be assured that our Learning and Imp rovement Framework 
secures a  workforce fit for purpose and is raising  service quality and 
safeguarding  outcomes    for children, young peopl e and adults.  

 
How we learn, improve and test competency  

3.1 Ensure learning from national, regional and local SCRs, CDOP reviews and other 

review/audit processes is incorporated into the practice of partner agencies and the 

partnership as a whole. 

3.2 Ensure the effectiveness of CDOP and lessons from child deaths are understood and 

consistently acted upon. 

3.3 Review safeguarding procedures and practice guidance to ensure they are ‘fit for 

purpose’ and reflect current learning and best practice. 

3.4 Implement the communication and engagement strategy to secure awareness of 

safeguarding issues and the responsibilities of all agencies and the wider community 

in safeguarding.  

3.5       Establish a joint adult and children’s learning and improvement process/strategy. 

3.6 Monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of training and development in terms of the 

impact on the quality of safeguarding practice and outcomes for service users. 

Ensure feedback loops are established following each training session. 

3.7       Ensure Recruitment processes meet national standards.  

3.8       Allegations made against people who work with children and adults are dealt with 

effectively. 

 

We will evidence our performance on the above as fo llows:  

Page 191



 

121 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

 

QUANTITATIVE DATA 

1. Data on child deaths and themes 

2. % of staff that receive safeguarding training 

at right level.   

ENGAGEMENT WITH FRONT LINE 

STAFF 

1. Follow up events and learning from SILPs. and 

SCRs 

2. Feedback from training.  

3. Briefings and   bite sized information 

QUALITATIVE EVIDENCE 

1. CDOP Action Log.  

2. Multi / Single agency audits and dip sampling. 

3. Learning from SCRs and SLIPS. 

ENGAGEMENT WITH SERVICE 

USER 

1. Are services incorporating views of 

adults and children? 

2. Questionnaires to service users and 

Safeguarding Improvement 

Quality Assurance and 

Performance Management 

Page 192



Appendix 2 

 

Nottingham City Safeguarding Children’s Board  
 
 
Actio
n No. 

Issue 
identified 

Owner Action By Who By When Monitoring Cost Update 

 
Short Term Actions (0 - 6 months) 
 

Clearly 
identify 
arrangements 
for ‘Children in 
Need’ within 
the Family 
Support 
Pathway 

Paul 
Burnett 

Family Support 
Pathway to be 
revised to 
incorporate 
‘children in 
need’ into the 
continuum of 
support and 
threshold 
framework. 

Simon 
Down/Anthony 
Dixon/Chris 
Wallbanks 

31 July 2014 

The NCSCB has 
received drafts of 
the revisions to 
the Family 
Support Pathway 
at every stage 
prior to its 
presentation to the 
Children and 
Young People’s 
Partnership. 
 
The impact of the 
revised pathway 
document in 
securing improved 
performance in 
relation to 
‘children in need’ 
has been 
incorporated into 

Within 
Board’s 
existing 
resources. 

The revised 
document 
incorporating 
‘Children in 
Need’ was 
agreed by the 
NCSCB at its 
meeting on 24th 
June and has 
subsequently 
been agreed by 
the Children and 
Young People’s 
Partnership at its 
meeting on 2nd 
July. 
 
Action 
Complete 

P
age 193



 

123 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

Actio
n No. 

Issue 
identified 

Owner Action By Who By When Monitoring Cost Update 

the NCSCB 
Quality  
Assurance and 
Performance 
Management 
(QAPM) 
framework and will 
be monitored on a 
quarterly basis. 

Ensure that 
the 2014/15 
Annual Report 
reflects 
statutory 
requirements 

Paul 
Burnett 

A new 
approach has 
been adopted 
in producing 
the Annual 
Report for 
2013/14 which 
reflects both 
the statutory 
requirements 
of Working 
Together 2014 
and applies a 
more forensic 
approach to 
evaluating the 
impact of the 
Board against 
the four-
quadrant 
QAPM 
framework i.e. 
analysis of 

Paul Burnett 30 September 
2014 

Drafts of the 
annual report will 
be considered by 
the Operational 
Management 
Group (OMG) 
prior to its 
presentation to 
Board on 19th 
September 2014. 
 
The Annual 
Report will then be 
considered by a 
range of other 
bodies and this 
will include 
scrutiny and 
challenge in 
relation to its 
meeting Working 
Together 
requirements 

Within 
Board’s 
existing 
resources 

The plan for the 
Annual Report 
was agreed at 
OMG at its 
meeting on 16th 
May 2014 
 
The first draft of 
the Annual 
Report will be 
considered at 
OMG on 24th 
July 2014 

P
age 194



 

124 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

Actio
n No. 

Issue 
identified 

Owner Action By Who By When Monitoring Cost Update 

quantitative 
data, 
qualitative 
information 
such as audit, 
the views of 
children and 
young people 
and the views 
of staff. 

Ensure that 
the Board 
listens to the 
voice of the 
child 

Paul 
Burnett The 

Engagement 
and 
Participation 
Plan will be 
reviewed to 
extend current 
engagement 
activity beyond 
the Youth 
Council and 
Children in 
Care Council.  
This will 
include: 
engagement 
with school 
councils; 

Quality Assurance 
Sub-
Group/Operational 
Management 
Group 

Revised 
engagement 
plan to be 
presented to 
Board in 
September 
2014. 
 
New 
engagement 
arrangements 
to ‘go live’ 
immediately 
following this 
Board 
meeting. 
 
Children’s 

Outcomes from 
children’s voice 
arrangements will 
be reported on a 
quarterly bases 
within Quadrant 3 
of the QAPM 
framework which 
is entitled 
‘Engagement with 
Service Users’. 

Within 
Board 
resources 

Work on the 
revision of the 
Engagement and 
Participation 
Strategy has 
begun. 

P
age 195



 

125 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

Actio
n No. 

Issue 
identified 

Owner Action By Who By When Monitoring Cost Update 

as disabled 
children; 
challenging 
services 
across the 
partnership to 
incorporate 
service user 
feedback at 
‘point of 
delivery’ and 
feeding back 
analysis of this 
feedback into 
Board QAPM 
arrangements 
and into future 
business 
planning 
processes. 

as part of 
Business 
Planning 
arrangements 
for 2015/16. 

Action 1.9 in 
the Board 
Business Plan 
for 2014/15 
requires that:  
The ‘voice’ of 
children, 
young people, 
adults and 
practitioners is 
heard and 
acted on 

Safeguarding 
Leads in each 
partner 
organisation 

All Board 
partners to 
report their 
‘children’s 
voice’ 
arrangements 
by 31 July 
2014. 
 
 

Outcomes from 
children’s voice 
arrangements will 
be reported on a 
quarterly bases 
within Quadrant 3 
of the QAPM 
framework which 
is entitled 
‘Engagement with 
Service Users’. 

Within 
Board 
resources 

Partners have 
been requested 
to submit 
information 
about their 
current 
‘children’s voice 
‘arrangements 
for consideration 
at OMG in July 
2014. 

P
age 196



 

126 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

Actio
n No. 

Issue 
identified 

Owner Action By Who By When Monitoring Cost Update 

across all 
priorities’.  This 
sets the 
expectation 
that all 
partners, as 
part of their 
‘Safeguarding 
is Everyone’s 
Responsibility’ 
work will 
incorporate 
children’s 
voice into their 
mainstream 
business. 
 

Ensure that 
Elected 
Members hear 
directly from 
the 
Independent 
Chair 

Paul 
Burnett 

Independent 
Chair to 
present Annual 
Report to a 
meeting of the 
full Council. 
 
Independent 
Chair to attend 
Leadership 
Group 
 

Paul Burnett 31 December 
2014 

Council and 
Leadership Group 
minutes. 

Within 
Board 
resources 

Dates for 
attendance 
being set 

Ensure the 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 

Paul 
Burnett 

Independent 
Chair to 
present the 

Paul Burnett 31 December 
2014 

Overview and 
Scrutiny minutes 

Within 
Board 
resources 

Dates for 
attendance 
being set 

P
age 197



 

127 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

Actio
n No. 

Issue 
identified 

Owner Action By Who By When Monitoring Cost Update 

are part of the 
Board’s 
governance 
arrangements 

Annual Report 
and the annual 
Business Plan 
to Overview 
and Scrutiny to 
enable 
reciprocal 
challenge 
arrangements. 

 
 
Medium Term Actions (6 - 12 months)  
 

 
 
 
 

Monitor the 
intervention of 
Adults 
Services with 
service users 
who are 
parents 

Paul 
Burnett 

Monitor 
referrals from 
Adults Social 
Care to 
Children’s 
Social Care 
and from 
Children’s 
Social Care to 
Adults Social 
Care 

Head of 
Safeguarding and 
Quality Assurance 

30 September 
2014 

Progress to be 
monitored by 
OMG. 
 
Once 
arrangement is in 
place data will be 
monitored on a 
quarterly basis as 
part of QAPM 
arrangements 

Within 
Board 
resources 

 

Robustly 
monitor 
agency 
training 
evaluation 

Paul 
Burnett 

Training Sub-
Group to 
devise 
extension to 
current training 
evaluation 
framework to 
secure 

Chair of Training 
Sub-Group 

31 December 
2014 

OMG to monitor 
progress of 
Training Sub-
Group on revising 
training evaluation 
arrangements to 
secure 
recommendations 

Within 
Board 
resources 

Training Sub-
Group has 
begun its 
revision of the 
training 
evaluation 
framework. 

P
age 198



 

128 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

Actio
n No. 

Issue 
identified 

Owner Action By Who By When Monitoring Cost Update 

improved 
gauging of 
impact of 
training on the 
quality of 
service 
delivery and 
safeguarding 
impact on 
children, 
young people 
and adults.  
This is 
incorporated 
into the 
Business Plan 
2014/15 
Priority 3: To 
be assured 
that our 
Learning and 
Improvement 
Framework 
secures a 
workforce fit 
for purpose 
and is raising 
service quality 
and 
safeguarding 
outcomes    for 
children, 

to Board by no 
later than 
December 2014. 
 
Training impact 
evaluation is 
already monitored 
on a quarterly 
basis within the 
QAPM framework 
and this will 
continue under the 
revised 
arrangements. 

P
age 199



 

129 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

Actio
n No. 

Issue 
identified 

Owner Action By Who By When Monitoring Cost Update 

young people 
and adults. 
 
Consideration 
to be given to 
introducing 
Safeguarding 
Competency 
Framework to 
better assess 
impact of 
training on 
staff 
safeguarding 
performance 
 

 
Long Term Actions (12 - 18 months)  

 
 
 
 

There are no long term actions for the NCSCB 

 
 

P
age 200



 

Appendix 3 

Child Sexual Exploitation 
Multi-Agency Action Plan 2012-14 

 
Working Together to Safeguard Children from Sexual 

Exploitation  
in NottinghamCity& Nottinghamshire 

 

   

P
age 201



 

131 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

 

Overarching Strategy and Governance 
Responsibility 
 
There will be an effective local strategy to ensure there is a co-ordinated multi-agency response to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) based on a 
robust, thorough risk assessment of the extent and nature of CSE locally.  The work on CSE will be monitored by the LSCBs. 
 

RAG Action Lead Due Date Progress 
1 2 3 

a) Complete a Strategy Document 
 CSECAG June 2012 Completed G G G 

b) Complete and agree Action Plan 
 CSECAG June 2012 Completed G G G 

c) Complete Terms of Reference for 
the cross-authority group CSECAG July 2012 Completed G G G P

age 202



 

132 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

 

1.  Prevention & Response  
Promote awareness to improve early identification of child sexual exploitation  
 
There is a critical need for far more awareness amongst all professionals in universal and specialist services of their role in identifying and 
addressing child sexual exploitation.  Children and young people and their parents and carers need to have the right information to help them 
access support quickly and safely 

RAG Action Lead Due Date Progress 
1 2 3 

1.1  
Establish effective communication 
channels between LSCB and partner 
agencies to share information and 
training  

Martin Hillier 30/06/13 

Completed – the communication channels between LSCB and partner 
agencies will be facilitated through CSECAG.  Relevant 
information/protocol/policy will be brought to the group and will be 
disseminated through CSECAG to leads in each agency.  It will then be 
the responsibility of those leads to make sure the information is 
circulated correctly through each organisation.  This process will be 
recorded by minute taking within CSECAG. 

G G G 

1.2  
Establish a training working group to: 
e) Develop a training programme 

which is suitable for use across the 
agencies 

 

Jo Williams 
(WGAP) 30/06/13 

JW advised that the professionals training had now been rolled out, with 
57 delegates at the full day training and 78 at the half day training. 
Approximately 30% of the Survey Monkey questionnaires had been 
completed, and the feedback was generally positive. It has been decided 
to focus on the full day sessions going forward, and further training has 
been planned up until February 2015. JW advised that the courses were 
continuing to evolve and that new materials were being incorporated.  Dc 
Barrett from the Police had been assisting with the delivery of the training 
and following promotion she will be changing her role and will be 
replaced by Dc Cotter from SEIU. It was agreed that it would be helpful 
for an end of year report to be produced – highlighting any gaps in 
attendance from agencies, so that these could be addressed in the 
future. 
 

A G G 

f) Identify which agencies and groups Jo Williams 30/06/13 As above A G G 

P
age 203



 

133 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

of workers need to have training 
&who will deliver it 

 

(WGAP) 

g) Specifically identify how to engage 
with school staff & governors 

 

Jo Williams 
(WGAP) 30/06/13 

As above 
A G G 

h) Identify mechanisms for rolling out 
training 

 

Jo Williams 
(WGAP) 30/06/13 

Further sessions will run in the next financial year 2014 -2015. 
A G G 

1.3  
Identify how to engage with young 
people  
 

Judith Green 
& 

Vanessa 
McFarlane 
(WGAC) 

31/12/14 

Thirty two performances of LUVU2 have been given, primarily in 
secondary schools, throughout November and December 2013. A total of 
3371 young people and 170 staff had attended.  
 

A Summary evaluation and a full Evaluation report has been completed 
and disseminated to key stakeholders, including presentation at both 
Safeguarding Boards. 
 
County have approved funding for 50 performances in the Autumn of 
2014 with a view to staff training taking place in the preceding months. 
Awaiting the outcome for the City. 
 
The membership of the Young people’s sub group is currently being 
revised with a view to more diverse representation from a range of 
relevant organisations and active membership and the Terms of 
Reference are being revised for 2014 – 2015. 
 
The group have a small underspend (that would have been used on the 
second tour) and are exploring three events, two for County and one for 
City focussed on the development of CSE work with Boys and Young 
men and including an input from the Blast project. This however will focus 
on the development of localised, multi agency action plans. 
 
Martin Hillier is presenting the work of the SEIU to sexual health staff in 
 July with a view to increasing the early identification of CSE cases when 
presenting to sexual health services. 
 

A A A 

P
age 204



 

134 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

It has been agreed that it would be helpful to draft a letter for schools to 
circulate to parents (of children in senior schools and higher primary year 
groups) giving information about CSE and links to the e-learning 
packages. TJ and RH both undertook to do this. 

1.4  
Identify how to minimise the risks 
facing looked after children living in 
residential homes 

Sam Flint 
(WGLAC) 31/03/14 

The group has now met twice since its creation from the sub group but 
unfortunately, on both occasions the Ofsted representative had sent 
apologies at very short notice. Ofsted’s involvement is key to the work of 
the group. SF was due to meet with David Waugh from Ofsted and Joy 
Chambers (City – placements) within the next couple of weeks. A further 
meeting of the full group would then be convened. 

A A A 

1.5 
Identify the proliferation of CSE 
within girls in gangs 

Martin Hillier 30/04/14 

MH has recently had a meeting with Vanguard Plus (a multi-agency 
group whose remit includes preventing people being drawn into gang 
culture and support individuals in being able to exit gangs). He shared 
the Office of Children’s Commissioner’s report into girls and gangs and 
sought their assistance in identifying individuals who may be at risk. He 
has also been in contact with Insp Kaur from Community Protection who 
is also working closely with Vanguard + at present.  There is a multi 
agency meeting which is part of VAWG and a representative from 
CSECAG should attend those meetings.  

R A A 

P
age 205



 

135 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

 

2.  Safeguarding and Protection 
Establish a clear process by which professionals respond appropriately to concerns about CSE 
 
It is important to understand the scale and nature of the problem and there should be systems in place to monitor the prevalence and response to 
it.  It is vital that once suspicion or actual concerns of CSE have been identified that there are clear and robust systems in place to respond to the 
highlighted concerns or allegations.   

 
RAG 

Action Lead 
 

Due Date 
 

Progress 1 2 3 
2.1  
Map the levels of CSE and related data within the P olice, City & County to include:  
a) Referral data related to Police & 
Local Authorities 
 

Caroline Riley 31/01/14 

The monitoring tool is now be being completed by all chairs of CSE 
strategy meetings.  A database has now been created and primacy for 
recording the data is with SEIU from the Police.  The contact within SEIU 
is Lisa Hurst and currently back record conversion is taking place to 
record all scoping documents that have been completed.  Once this is 
completed a review will take place to consider the analysis required to be 
produced to agencies. 
 

A A A 

b) Outputs 
 

Caroline Riley 31/03/14 

The information is currently being collated by Lisa Hurst from 
Nottinghamshire Police – it will be shared with the two LSCBs on a 
monthly basis and with members of CSECAG every three months to tie in 
with meeting dates.  This will be reviewed in terms of extended 
circulation. 
 

R R R 

c) Cross reference to missing children 
& other related data. 
 Caroline Riley 31/03/14 

The information is already shared with the Police missings team and 
cross referenced to both the Compact missings system and the CATS 
referral system.  It will also be provided to the newly formed Missings 
review meeting. 

R R R 

2.2  
This data will be monitored for 
prevalence and response via 

CSECAG 
 The data will be provided to CSECAG/CITY OMG/COUNTY EXECUTIVE 

on each occasion. R R R 

P
age 206



 

136 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

CSECAG and the LSCBs. 
 
2.3  
Work towards the establishment of a cross-authority  co-located multi-agency team with:  
c) LSCB support 
 

Terri Johnson 30/06/14 

TJ completed the recommendation report last year which has already 
been presented to both Boards. The Operational Management Group of 
NCSCB had advised that funding was being sought from statutory 
partners to fund a CSE coordinators post within the LA. The County are 
seeking to create a CSE co-ordinator post from within existing resources 
in the coming months on an initial pilot for one year. At present we are 
working to option 2 which is a stepped process towards co-location. 

A A A 

d) Standard operating protocols  
 Terri Johnson 30/06/14 As Above A A A 

c)  Establish who will be partners 
Terri Johnson 30/06/14 

As Above 
A A A 

2.4 
Establish/recommend a pathway to 
intervention or support for the 
County similar to Protect & Respect 
in the City.  

Jenny 
Spencer 31/03/14 

A CSE support worker from Barnardos is due to be appointed in the 
coming months in the county. They will be based within the Family 
Support Service at Mansfield and link in with the Targeted Support 
Service. They will undertake one to one work with young people and their 
families. As there will only be one worker, they will cover the northern 
part of the County only (excluding Broxtowe, Gedling and Rushcliffe). 
 

R R A 

P
age 207



 

137 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

 

3. Bringing Offenders to Justice  
Improve Police and multi-agency approaches to support bringing offenders to justice. 
 
The overall strategy, approach and response by professionals should support bringing offenders to justice.  However, there are actions which the 
Police will employ to improve Police prosecutions. 
 

RAG Action Lead Due Date Progress 
1 2 3 

3.1  
Await outcome of ACPO review of 
the DfE Action Plan 

Martin Hillier Complete 
Completed - Finalised report has been received and circulated to all 
members of CSECAG – it has been reviewed against the CSECAG 
action plan and will be aligned together. 

G G G 

3.2  
Develop improved working practises 
between agencies to strengthen 
investigations and prosecutions.  Caroline Riley 

 31/01/14 

The first forum has been held on 10 December 13. The theme was 
looking at the impact of CSE on boys. The forum is aimed at improving 
practice and around 15 practitioners attended from both City and County. 
Some managers were also present, and CR reported that this resulted in 
some quite challenging dynamics – especially when discussing the 
emotional impact that dealing with CSE cases had on individuals.  It was 
agreed that future sessions should be for practitioners only. The next 
session is on 14th March 14 – 12.30pm at the Arrow Centre. 
 

A A G 

P
age 208



 

138 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

 

4. Public Confidence 
Engage with local communities to raise awareness of CSE and how it affects individuals and communities. 
 
Communities will be enabled to understand what the scale of the problems is and how it impacts on them individually or as a whole community.  
Strategies may need to be developed to engage with communities to be part of preventing or responding to the problem. 
 

RAG Action 
 

Lead Due Date Progress 
1 2 3 

4.1  
NSPCC Seminar to be held again in 
November 2013 Liz Tinsley 25/11/13 

The NSPCC Conference took place on 25 November 2013 at The Arrow 
Centre Hucknall. Anne Partington chaired the event which again was 
extremely well attended by several agencies.  Speakers included CEOP, 
NSPCC, Police, Blast and Jill Dando Institute of Security and Crime 
Science (JDI) at University College London (UCL). 

G G G 

4.2  
County & City LA sign up to the 
Barnardo’s ‘Cut Them Free’ 
Campaign’ and joint media 
statement with the Police.   

Kim Pocock Complete Completed G G G 

 4.3 
Develop engagement with 
communities for the to be involved 
in the awareness and prevention of 
CSE 

Martin Hillier 31/03/14 

It has been highlighted that little progress had been made with this 
action, and that there was a pressing need to ensure that communities 
were engaged.  
 
Neighbourhood Awareness Teams (NATs) comprise representatives 
from various agencies, elected members and local people, and fed into 
the locality boards on the City. Their main focus was around crime 
reduction. Contact will be made with the chairs of the 3 City NATs to 
ascertain if CSE could be featured as a theme in their action plans. 
 
In the County there were district Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs). 
Jo Bryant represents all district councils on the CSPs, and contact will be 
made to establish a liaison with this action 

 

R R R 

P
age 209



 

139 

17th June 2014 final draft version 2  

 

P
age 210



 
 
Children's Partnership Board Forward Plan  

 
To be scheduled 
 
CYPP PRIORITY: RAISING ATTAINMENT 
CYPP PRIORITY: STRONGER SAFEGUARDING  
CYPP PRIORITY: IMPROVING ATTENDANCE  
PARTNER UPDATES: 
EDUCATION (FTE)  
JOBCENTRE PLUS 
POLICE 
VOLUNTARY SECTOR 
CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE’S PLAN 
SAFEGUARDING INSPECTION ACTION PLAN PROGRESS 
CHILDRENS COMMISSIONING PLAN 
NOTTINGHAM OFFER TO CHILDREN 
HOUSING YOUNG PEOPLE IN CARE AND CARE LEAVERS 
MST 
CHILD POVERTY 
 

Please contact Dot Veitch if you have any suggestions for future items for the forward plan 
dot.veitch@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

P
age 211

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	4 PERFORMANCE REVIEW - QUARTER 2 2014/15
	1Performance Review
	XCYPP 2014-15 Q2 Performance Report

	5 REDUCING SUBSTANCE MISUSE
	7 PARTNER'S UPDATE: SECONDARY EDUCATION
	1CPfinal SK
	2Achieving good attendance v6
	3BBC articlex
	4CB SK finalm

	8 SAFEGUARDING UPDATE
	1NCSCB Independent Chair Report to Children's Partnership December 2014x
	NCSCB and NCSAPB ANNUAL REPORT 2013 14 DRAFT 1 Updated on Nov 23 2014x

	10 FORWARD PLAN

